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DYRUP AND MT HØJGAARD
The activities of the Monberg & Thorsen Group consist of Dyrup, which is wholly-owned, and 
MT Højgaard, in which the ownership interest is 46%. Both companies are engaged in building-
related activities, but with different representation in the market. MT Højgaard is owned together 
with Højgaard Holding and is a jointly controlled entity. It is therefore consolidated in Monberg 
& Thorsen’s consolidated fi nancial statements by proportionate consolidation.

The annual reports of Dyrup and MT Højgaard form an integral part of Monberg & Thorsen’s 
annual report and are therefore enclosed  in Monberg & Thorsen’s annual report. Dyrup’s and 
MT Højgaard’s accounting policies follow the Group’s accounting policies.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 2002-2006

DKKm 2002  2003  2004  2005  2006

Income statement

Revenue     
  Dyrup 1,722 1,724 1,668 1,681 1,660
  MT Højgaard (46%) 4,447 3,672 3,387 3,893 5,098

Total revenue 6,169 5,396 5,055 5,574 6,758

Operating profi t (loss) (EBIT) (39) 175 217 64 191
Net fi nancing costs (21) (19) 0 (21) (15)

Profi t (loss) before tax (60) 156 217 43 176
Profi t (loss) after tax (65) 119 188 62 191
Attributable to equity holders of the parent (66) 116 187 59 187

Balance sheet     

Interest-bearing assets 499 366 377 347 824
Interest-bearing liabilities 858 614 511 589 565
Invested capital 1,575 1,550 1,584 1,695 1,344
Consolidated equity  1,135 1,212 1,362 1,365 1,515
Attributable to equity holders of the parent 1,132 1,204 1,355 1,356 1,504
Balance sheet total 3,666 3,179 3,110 3,520 4,066

Cash fl ows     

From operating activities 147 224 55 216 201
For investing activities** (147) 67 169 (222) (123)
From fi nancing activities (87) (139) (61) (96) (66)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (87) 152 163 (102) 11

** Portion relating to property, plant and equipment (gross) (202) (111) (187) (136) (155)

Financial ratios (%)     

Operating margin (EBIT margin) (0.8) 3.0 2.7 0.4 (0.4)
Return on invested capital (ROIC) (2) 11 14 4 13
Return on equity (ROE) (5) 10 15 5 13
Equity ratio 31 38 44 39 37

Share ratios (DKK per share)     

Earnings per share (EPS) (11) 30 52 16 52
Cash fl ow from operations (CFFO) 40 63 15 60 56
Dividends 9 12 16 12 36
Book value 316 336 378 378 420
Market price 340 320 390 464 478
Market price/book value 1.1 1.0 1.0 1.2 1.1
Price earnings (P/E) - 11 8 29 9
Payout ratio - 37 31 73 69
Market capitalisation in DKKm 1,287 1,147 1,398 1,663 1,714

Number of employees     

Consolidated enterprises 4,050 3,705 3,389 3,469 3,673

The fi nancial ratios have been calculated in accordance with the Danish Society of Financial Analysts’ ’Recommendations & Financial Ratios 2005’. The ratios used are defi ned 
below. The fi nancial highlights for 2004-2006 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

*The fi nancial highlights for 2002-2003 are pro forma fi gures, with the existing fi nancial highlights based on the Danish Financial Statements Act and Danish Accounting 
Standards having been restated, in all material respects, to comply with IFRS practice.  Adjustment has been made in the income statement for the effect of the discontinuation 
of goodwill amortisation, foreign currency translation relating to foreign subsidiaries and derivative fi nancial instruments, while the balance sheet has only been adjusted for 
the effect of the reclassifi cations relating to contract work in progress. 

Operating margin (EBIT margin) (Operating profi t less share of profi ts of associates, etc.) x 100

 Revenue

Return on invested capital Operating profi t (EBIT) x 100                                                         

incl. goodwill (ROIC) Average invested capital including goodwill

Return on equity (ROE) Profi t after tax x 100

 Average equity

DEFINITION OF FINANCIAL RATIOS

Equity ratio Equity at year end x 100

 Total liabilities at year end

Earnings per share (EPS) Profi t for the year attributable to parent

 Average number of shares

Price earnings (P/E) Market price at year end

 Earnings per share

Payout ratio Total dividend x 100

 Profi t after tax

Pro forma* 
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Consolidated fi nancial highlights (DKKm)

Share ratios (DKK per share)

Dividends Market price at year end

Profit (loss) after tax Book value at year end

Profit (loss) before tax Equity at year end

Revenue Operating profit (EBIT)
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Dyrup’s subsidiaries are listed on page 33 of Dyrup’s annual report. MT Højgaard’s subsidiaries 
and associates are listed on page 64 of MT Højgaard’ annual report.

BUSINESS CONCEPT

Creating value through long-term business de-
velopment within building-related activities.

BUSINESS STRATEGY

Monberg & Thorsen is exercising active and sig-
nifi cant infl uence on strategy, acquisition activi-
ties, management and fi nance within its busi-
ness areas. It is doing so through representation 
on the Supervisory Boards of the consolidated 
enterprises and by setting fi nancial requirements 
and targets. The parent company’s functions are 
taken care of by a small organisation.

The core areas are characterised by a strong 
market position in their respective sectors. 
There are no plans to make any acquisitions in 
related sectors at present. 

Dyrup
The strategic objective is for Dyrup to strength-
en its market positions within wood care in 
general and within paints especially in Den-
mark and Portugal. Dyrup must be among the 
top three in each market measured in terms of 
market share.

The organic growth must be supplemented by 
strategic acquisitions in the local markets that 

can strengthen Dyrup’s strategic position. Alter-
natively, relevant business partners are being 
considered. 

MT Højgaard
The MT Højgaard Group’s strategy features 
a Group revenue target in the order of DKK 
12 billion by 2010 and a target of achieving a 
pre-tax margin of 2-2.5% within a few years. 
In pursuing the fi rst target, the MT Højgaard 
Group‘s risk management guidelines must be 
observed.

The organic growth must be supplemented by 
strategic acquisitions that will broaden MT Høj-
gaard’s market coverage in Denmark.

Market conditions have been instrumental in 
MT Højgaard’s revenue growing faster than ex-
pected, but earnings on a few large residential 
and refurbishment projects in Greater Copen-
hagen were highly unsatisfactory. The high lev-
el of activity has strained resources, both with 
respect to suppliers and employees, making it 
necessary to be highly selective when choos-
ing new projects, with a reduction in the level 
of activity in the longer term as a possible and 
accepted consequence. Profi tability is a priority 
in relation to growth, and each segment focuses 
critically on initiatives that can bring earnings 
up to the targeted pre-tax margin within a few 
years.

THE GROUP, BUSINESS CONCEPT AND BUSINESS STRATEGY

Dyrup A/S

Share capital DKK 100 million

(100%-owned)

MT Højgaard a/s

Share capital DKK 220 million

(46%-owned)

Other companies

Monberg & Thorsen Oil A/S

Saabye & Lerche A/S

(100%-owned)

Share capital DKK 71.7 million



7

MONBERG & THORSEN

ANNUAL REPORT 2006

SUPERVISORY BOARD AND EXECUTIVE BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

Mogens Granborg (1947)

Chairman

Executive Vice President, Danisco A/S

(CB) DSB

Joined the Supervisory Board in 1993

Anders Colding Friis (1963)

President, Skandinavisk

Tobakskompagni A/S

(MB) IC Companys A/S

Joined the Supervisory Board in 2004

Poul Lind (1952)

CEO, PowerSense A/S

(MB) MT Højgaard a/s

(CB) RTX Telecom A/S

Joined the Supervisory Board in 2006

EXECUTIVE BOARD

Jørgen Nicolajsen (1958)

President and CEO

(DCB) MT Højgaard a/s

Hans Bennetzen (1947)

Deputy Chairman

Divisional President, 

Group 4 Securicor

Joined the Supervisory Board in 1998

CB:  Chairman of the Supervisory Board

DCB:  Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

MB:  Member of the Supervisory Board

* Elected by the employees

Jan Munkholm (1959)*

Centre Manager, Dyrup A/S

Joined the Supervisory Board in 2001

Magnus Bertelsen (1945)*

Production Assistant, Dyrup A/S

Joined the Supervisory Board in 2005

Carsten Tvede-Møller (1935)

Lawyer, Plesner Svane Grønborg

Joined the Supervisory Board in 1971

Gerrit Dirk Toet (1954)*

Production Worker, Dyrup A/S

Joined the Supervisory Board in 1998

Henrik Thorsen (1934)

MSc (Eng)

Joined the Supervisory Board in 1997
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MANAGEMENT’S REVIEW

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS FOR THE YEAR  
 
Monberg & Thorsen delivered consolidated rev-
enue of DKK 6.8 billion, and profi t after tax of 
DKK 191 million, matching the level projected 
most recently in the interim report for the third 
quarter of 2006. Profi t for the year benefi ted 
from non-recurring income of DKK 171 million 
from the sale of the Group’s oil interests.

Dyrup showed a loss after tax of DKK 45 mil-
lion, primarily refl ecting the fact that the result 
for the year was adversely affected, again in 
2006, by special items in the region of DKK 47 
million for implementation of the strategy and 
consequently the focusing of Dyrup. The costs 
related to staff reductions, winding up of loss-
making activities, write-downs of fi xed assets 
and selective write-downs of inventories.

MT Højgaard reported operating profi t of DKK 
59 million compared with DKK 138 million in 
2005. The decline in profi t primarily refl ected 
a negative development on a few large resi-
dential and refurbishment projects in Greater 
Copenhagen.

The Group’s oil interests contributed profi t after 
tax of DKK 43 million as a result of the persist-
ently high oil prices. To this should be added 
the DKK 171 million gain on sale of the shares 
in Denerco Oil.

Operating cash infl ow was DKK 201 million, on 
a par with 2005.

Major highlights during the year
At the start of the year, consolidated revenue 
in the region of DKK 6 billion was projected. 
This outlook was raised to the DKK 6.5 billion 
level in connection with the interim report for 
the fi rst half as a result of the increasing level of 
activity in MT Højgaard. At the start of the year, 
full-year profi t after tax was expected to be in 
the region of DKK 90 million. 

On 11 May, Monberg & Thorsen entered into 
an agreement on sale of the shares in Denerco 
Oil that was only subject to the necessary regu-
latory approvals being obtained. The outlook 
concerning full-year profi t after tax was raised 
to the DKK 270 million level as a consequence 
of an expected gain on the sale. The sale of the 
shares was completed on 11 August 2006.

On 1 June, Erik Holm took up the post of new 
CEO of Dyrup. Erik Holm came from the post 
of CEO of Louis Poulsen Holding A/S.

On 13 November 2006, it was unfortunately 
necessary to revise the outlook concerning 
profi t after tax downwards from the DKK 270 
million level to the DKK 200 million level for 
both MT Højgaard and Dyrup.

MT Højgaard had to revise its outlook down-
wards as a result of the overheated construction 
market from profi t before tax in the region of 
DKK 175 million to profi t in the region of DKK 
50 million. The main reasons for the negative 
development were the historically high level 
of activity in the industry, which is straining 
resources, with respect to materials and labour, 
and which is adversely affecting planning po-
tential and the access to resources. To this 
should be added more onerous and more costly 
contracting with subcontractors than foreseen, 
leading to cost increases and delays.

In Dyrup, it was found that the implementa-
tion of the new strategy is taking longer than 
originally anticipated. The implementation costs 
will consequently be higher than originally an-
ticipated, particularly the costs that relate to the 
focusing of Dyrup, i.e. scaling down of the ac-
tivities in some markets, including the winding 
up of loss-making activities. In connection with 
the interim report for the third quarter it was 
stated that Dyrup expects a negative result after 
tax in the region of DKK 30 million.

At DKK 191 million, consolidated profi t after tax 
was in line with the most recent expectations. 
MT Højgaard delivered the expected level after 
the downwards adjustment, whereas Dyrup’s 
result, a loss of DKK 45 million after tax, was 
somewhat lower than expected in connection 
with the downwards adjustment. The deviation 
was due solely to signifi cant write-downs of the 
assets. Dyrup’s result was thus eroded by spe-
cial items in the region of DKK 47 million.

The development within the Group’s core 
activities

Like 2005, 2006 was a challenging year for 
Dyrup with stagnating sales and a decline in 
the result. The focusing of Dyrup commenced 
in 2005 continued in 2006 with a view to im-
proving effi ciency and earnings.
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The new Executive Board that was put in place 
in mid-2006 found that the foundation for the 
strategy was weaker than assumed. The costs 
for implementation of the strategy are therefore 
higher than expected, and it has been necessary 
to make signifi cant write-downs of both fi xed 
assets and inventories.

Dyrup delivered revenue of just under DKK 1.7 
billion, which is slightly down both on 2005 and 
on the outlook at the start of the year.

The development in revenue was affected by 
the diffi cult market conditions in the DIY area, 
where private label increased signifi cantly more 
than the general market growth in 2006. Dyrup’s 
accessible market was consequently reduced, 
especially within DIY, which accounts for more 
than 40% of revenue.

In Denmark, revenue was in line with the pre-
vious year, while, in France, it was DKK 30 
million down, compared with an expected 
improvement. France, Dyrup’s largest market, 
experienced sharpened competition in 2006, 
both on the supplier side and the customer 
side, leading to loss of market shares and lower 
earnings.

In Germany, recent years’ negative trend turned 
around to a 4% increase in revenue. Dyrup also 
succeeded in reversing the trend in Portugal 
compared with 2005, with a small increase in 
revenue and a profi t. The initiatives put in mo-
tion in 2005 and 2006 thus reversed the negative 
trend in both Germany and Portugal.

Persistent pressure on prices and increased raw 
material prices result in a decreasing gross mar-
gin. Conversely, effi ciency improvement meas-
ures in the production area (Lean) meant that 
these costs were on a par with the previous 
year. The total distribution costs were slightly 
lower than in 2005, primarily refl ecting the stra-
tegic measures, with formation of regions and 
the winding up of loss-making activities in sev-
eral markets. Administrative expenses were cut 
by approx. 7%, partly as a consequence of the 
staff reductions in 2005.

Special items related primarily to costs for ad-
ditional focusing of Dyrup, including staff re-
ductions and termination of the activities within 
DIY and the professional area in Norway. In 

addition, additional write-downs of property, 
plant and equipment were necessary. Inven-
tories were also written down selectively as a 
consequence of the strategic measures.

The full-year result after tax was consequently 
a loss of DKK 45 million.

At the start of 2006, Dyrup launched STRATEGY 
2008 with the aim of focusing and creating prof-
itable growth in the lead up to 2009. Acquisi-
tions are an important element of the strategy, 
as organic growth in itself is not suffi cient to 
secure the earnings targets that have been set. 
The basic elements of the strategy still stand, 
but it has been found that the fi nancial targets 
cannot be met within the strategy period.

No acquisitions were made in 2006, but rel-
evant acquisition candidates are being analysed 
to clarify whether it will be possible to imple-
ment any acquisitions in the course of 2007 
that can strengthen Dyrup’s strategic position. 
Alternatively, relevant business partners are be-
ing considered.

Until this has been clarifi ed, Dyrup will work in-
tensively, in accordance with STRATEGY 2008, 
on securing its basic business, where focusing 
of Dyrup’s activities and strengthening of its 
foundation will still be required.

MT Højgaard reported revenue of DKK 11 bil-
lion in 2006, up 31% on 2005, predominant-
ly refl ecting organic growth to which all the 
Group’s business segments contributed, and 
driven primarily by the very high level of ac-
tivity in the Danish building and civil works 
market in 2006.

Operating profi t was DKK 59 million compared 
with DKK 138 million in 2005. The decline in 
profi t was due to the development in the Con-
tracting business, particularly as a result of the 
losses on a few large residential and refurbish-
ment projects referred to above. The subsidiar-
ies reported profi t ahead of expectations. The 
operating margin dropped to 0.5%, from 1.6% 
in 2005, as a result of the revenue growth and 
the decline in profi t.

MT Højgaard’s organisation, including the man-
agement structure within the problem areas, 
was modifi ed in 2006 with a view to strength-

Revenue

Dyrup (DKKm)

MT Højgaard (DKKm)

Revenue (46%)
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ening the management focus, and the require-
ments concerning risk profi le and earnings on 
new projects were tightened still further. HR 
efforts focusing on organisational development 
will be intensifi ed in the coming year.

On the Buxton project, there are no changes to 
report in relation to what was stated in the 2005 
annual report. The claims for extra payments 
advanced by MT Højgaard are the subject of 
arbitration. In accordance with the company’s 
policy, no income has been recognised in the 
fi nancial statements in this respect.

The result before tax for 2006 was a profi t of 
DKK 51 million compared with DKK 125 mil-
lion in 2005. The Monberg & Thorsen Group’s 
share of profi t amounted to 46%, equivalent to 
DKK 23 million.

The order book stood at DKK 10.8 billion at the 
end of 2006, compared with DKK 8.4 billion at 
the end of 2005. The order book corresponds 
to on average about 12 months’ production. 
The order book includes a number of orders 
extending over several years.

The high level of activity in the construction in-
dustry, which is straining resources and putting 
prices under pressure, means that it is neces-
sary to be highly selective when choosing new 
projects, with a reduction in the level of activity 
in the longer term as a possible and accepted 
consequence.

MT Højgaard’s strategy features a Group rev-
enue target in the order of DKK 12 billion by 
2010 and a target of achieving a pre-tax mar-
gin of 2.0-2.5% within a few years. In pursuing 
the fi rst target, MT Højgaard‘s risk management 
guidelines must be observed.

Other consolidated enterprises

In August 2006, the Group sold its oil inter-
ests at an accounting gain of DKK 171 million, 
which is recognised in the consolidated operat-
ing profi t. To this should be added the profi t 
share up to the date of sale, DKK 43 million af-
ter amortisation of the premium paid for oil and 
gas rights in connection with the acquisition of 
shares in Denerco Oil in prior years.

Profi t benefi ted from the persistently high and 
increasing oil price up to the date of sale.

Knowledge resources and environment

The parent company is a holding company with 
only three employees. Descriptions of these 
points for Dyrup and MT Højgaard are given 
in the two companies’ annual reports, to which 
reference is made.

THE FUTURE

Consolidated revenue in the region of DKK 6.8 
billion is expected for 2007, with profi t after tax 
in the region of DKK 50 million. This should 
be viewed against a loss after tax of DKK 24 
million in 2006, excluding the effect on profi t 
of the oil activities divested in 2006.

The projections concerning future fi nancial per-
formance are subject to uncertainties and risks 
that may cause the performance to differ from 
the projections.

The projections are based on stable interest rate 
and exchange rate levels and on the following 
assumptions for each company:

Dyrup
Dyrup expects modest market growth, with 
Spain and Portugal and the industrial area in 
general contributing the highest growth.

Dyrup expects, as a minimum, to hold its posi-
tion in its principal markets and to expand its 
position in the industrial area, which is also 
expected to grow in 2007. Dyrup will thus be 
making a targeted effort to strengthen its posi-
tion in wood care and to generate growth in 
the markets in which Dyrup currently enjoys a 
strong position. This will be achieved, among 
other things, through the launch of innovative 
products underpinned by increased marketing 
initiatives which will have a benefi cial effect in 
the years ahead.

Dyrup will invest substantial resources again in 
2007 in effi ciency improvement and improve-
ment of the company’s infrastructure in order 
to enhance its competitiveness.

Overall, revenue in the region of DKK 1.7 bil-
lion is anticipated. Due to a deliberate increase 
in costs for market communications, product 
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innovation and general skills development, the 
operating result is expected to show a small 
loss. The result after tax is consequently ex-
pected to be a loss in the region of DKK 20 
million compared with a loss after tax of DKK 
45 million in 2006.

MT Højgaard
The Danish building and civil works market is 
expected to stabilise in 2007 at the existing very 
high level, but with the possibility of a slight 
decline in the level of activity towards the end 
of the year as a result of a slowdown in market 
conditions.

The activities within construction are expected 
to stagnate, as the progress in the commercial 
area, particularly within administrative build-
ings, is not expected to be able to make up for 
the decline in residential construction, within 
which a small downturn is expected in both 
private and subsidised construction.

The refurbishment market will benefi t from a 
high level of activity within conversion and up-
grading projects again in 2007.

With a continued high level of investment with-
in the transport sector, the civil works market 
in Denmark is expected to remain stable. The 
utility services market is on the increase again 
in the current year due to the continued high 
willingness to invest in telecommunications. 

As far as concerns the international activities, 
an increasing level of activity is expected in 
2007, with the focus on selective identifi cation 
of project opportunities in relation to own com-
petencies and resources.

The order book stood at DKK 10.8 billion at 
the start of 2007, with DKK 8 billion expected 
to be executed in 2007. With the strengthened 
order book compared with last year and an 
expectation of a high level of activity, with con-
tinued pressure on resources and prices, MT 
Højgaard will be highly selective when choos-
ing new projects. Revenue is expected to reach 
approx. DKK 11 billion in 2007. The propor-
tion accounted for by international revenue is 
expected to increase to just over 20% of total 
revenue in 2007, compared with 17% in 2006.

Selectivity and focusing are expected to lead 
to a signifi cant improvement in earnings in the 
Contracting business. The progress will be re-
alised successively during 2007 as the written-
down projects with a low contribution margin 
are completed. The subsidiaries are expected to 
realise satisfactory results again in 2007, albeit 
at a lower level than in 2006. The MT Højgaard 
Group expects pre-tax profi t in the region of 
DKK 225 million. 

Management information

At the Annual General Meeting on 20 April 
2006, Poul Lind, CEO, was elected to Monberg 
& Thorsen’s Supervisory Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In October 2005, the Copenhagen Stock Ex-
change published the new corporate govern-
ance recommendations, the basic rule of which 
is “comply or explain”. The new recommenda-
tions became effective for the 2006 fi nancial 
year.

The Supervisory Board is still of the opinion 
that the key recommendations in the corporate 
governance report from August 2005 are being 
practised in the management of the Monberg & 
Thorsen Group.

In some areas, the principles are only being 
complied with in part, as the corporate govern-
ance recommendations are not all relevant in 
view of the company’s size and activities. These 
areas are:

•  Proxies for General Meetings apply to the 
General Meeting in question only and con-
stitute a general proxy to the Supervisory 
Board comprising all items on the agenda, 
as there are rarely special and/or many 
proposed resolutions for consideration.

•  An annual profi le of the individual Supervisory 
Board members and their special competen-
cies that are relevant to the performance of 
their duties is not published. The background 
of each candidate is described in connection 
with their election to the Supervisory Board.

•  An actual evaluation procedure for each Su-
pervisory Board member is not in place, as 
the Supervisory Board discusses its overall 
work and collaboration on a continuous basis.

The overall management principles in the 
Monberg & Thorsen Group are set out in the 
separate section in the following, Management 
principles. Additional information about corpo-
rate governance is set out under the following 
sections:

•  Supervisory Board and Executive Board, in 
which the age, election year and managerial 
posts of each Supervisory Board member are 
disclosed.

•  Shareholder information, in which  essential in-
formation about ownership and other matters 
of relevance to shareholders is disclosed.

Monberg & Thorsen has taken a position on 
all recommendations based on the "comply-or-
explain" principle, which is described in further 
detail on www.monthor.dk, to which reference 
is made.

Management principles
In elections to the Supervisory Board in both 
the parent company and the subsidiaries efforts 
are made to ensure a professionally composed 
Supervisory Board that, collectively, possesses 
the necessary knowledge and experience of 
Board work as well as knowledge of social, 
commercial and cultural factors in the markets 
in which the Group has its primary business 
activities. Efforts are also made to achieve a 
balanced composition for the Board with re-
spect to age. 

In connection with the election of a new mem-
ber to the Supervisory Board, the Chairman of 
the Supervisory Board interviews the selectively 
chosen candidate in order to ensure that his or 
her profi le suits the vacant seat.

There are no formal requirements with respect 
to the number of other Supervisory Board seats 
the individual Board members may hold, but on 
election it is pointed out to new Board mem-
bers that it is important for them to ensure that 
they have suffi cient time for their duties and 
that they perform them diligently and consci-
entiously. In Monberg & Thorsen’s experience, 
Board members are rarely absent from Board 
meetings.

According to the Supervisory Board’s rules of 
procedure, Supervisory Board members must 
retire not later than at the fi rst General Meet-
ing following their 72nd birthday, except where 
special circumstances apply.

According to the company’s Articles of Asso-
ciation, two Board members retire by rotation 
each year. In practice, this means that Board 
members are up for election at least every three 
years. Retirement from the Board is not depend-
ent on the term of offi ce.

A total of seven Board meetings were held dur-
ing the year under review. At the present time, 
seven Board meetings are planned for the com-
ing year. In accordance with the Board’s rules 
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of procedure a minimum of six Board meetings 
are held between Annual General Meetings.

The tasks, duties and responsibilities of the 
chairman and deputy chairman of the Supervi-
sory Board are described in the rules of proce-
dure, which are reviewed annually.

To assist in the Supervisory Board’s supervision 
of the company’s activities the Executive Board 
prepares a detailed report on the company’s 
activities for each meeting of the Supervisory 
Board, which is sent to the members of the 
Supervisory Board together with the notice of 
meeting. The report includes information about 
essential developments in the company’s cash 
fl ow, order book, guarantee commitments, sig-
nifi cant transactions, fi nancing and signifi cant 
risks.

At each meeting of the Supervisory Board, the 
Executive Board reports, on the basis of the 
issued report, on the consolidated enterprises’ 
operations since the last meeting of the Super-
visory Board.

The Supervisory Board also ensures that the 
Executive Board presents at least once a year 
at a Supervisory Board meeting a report on the 
market situation and other special factors in the 
sectors in which the subsidiaries operate.

DYRUP AND MT HØJGAARD

Following the sale of the oil interests in 2006, 
the Group’s activities consist of Dyrup, which is 
wholly-owned, and MT Højgaard, in which the 
ownership interest is 46%. Both companies are 
engaged in building-related activities, but with 
different representation in the market. 

The annual reports of Dyrup and MT Højgaard 
form an integral part of Monberg & Thorsen’s 
annual report and are therefore enclosed  in 
Monberg & Thorsen’s annual report. These 
companies’ accounting policies follow the 
Group’s accounting policies.

As in previous years, a segment overview is 
included on page 27. For detailed information 
about these two companies, reference is made 
to the enclosed annual reports.
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OTHER CONSOLIDATED ENTERPRISES

MONBERG & THORSEN OIL A/S (100%)

In August 2006, Monberg & Thorsen Oil A/S 
sold its shares in Denerco Oil A/S. Profi t for 
2006 includes a profi t share from Denerco Oil 
A/S up to the date of sale.

Since Denerco Oil’s establishment in 1985, 
Monberg & Thorsen has been actively partici-
pating in the company’s development and grad-
ually increasing its ownership interest against 
the background of the opportunities for value 
creation. In April 2005, Monberg & Thorsen Oil 
thus increased its ownership interest in Denerco 
Oil from 12.5% to 21.6%. 

The reason for Monberg & Thorsen’s sale of the 
shares was due partly to the fact that Denerco 
Oil escalated its exploration activities in 2006 
and, in 2005, commenced exploration outside 
the Danish sector of the North Sea to improve 
its chances of discovering more reserves. This 
entails substantial investment and a changed 
risk profi le, and the company will be ensured 
the greatest chances of success if it is owned by 
an industrial player. The timing was therefore 
considered to be just right for both the buyer 
and the sellers. To this should be added the 
high oil price, coupled with demand for the 
competencies that Denerco Oil possesses.

The selling price for the shares was DKK 475 
million, and the sale of the shares contributed 
DKK 171 million to profi t for the year. To this 
should be added the fact that the profi t share 
for Denerco Oil up to the date of sale was 
slightly higher than anticipated due to the high 
oil prices. Profi t for the year after tax was DKK 
216 million, and equity at 31.12.06 stood at DKK 
313 million.

Overall, the investment in Denerco Oil has gen-
erated an annual return after tax for Monberg & 
Thorsen of just over 20% since 1985.

The company is not expected to be engaged 
in any actual activity in 2007. A small profi t is 
therefore anticipated for 2007.

SAABYE & LERCHE A/S (100%)

The company’s core activity is investment in 
engineering and contracting companies.

Profi t for the year after tax was DKK 0.1 million, 
and equity at 31.12.06 was DKK 4 million. 

The company is still not expected to be en-
gaged in any actual activity in 2007. A small 
profi t is therefore anticipated for 2007.
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Ownership

The company has around 1,500 registered 
shareholders. 

Shareholders according to Section 28(a) of the 
Danish Public Companies Act:
The Estate of Torben Monberg, Fredensborg
Ejnar og Meta Thorsens Fond, Copenhagen
Danish Labour Market Supplementary Pension 
Fund (ATP), Hillerød
LD Pensions (LD), Copenhagen

Ejnar og Meta Thorsens Fond holds all the 
company’s A shares, which account for about 
21% of the total share capital. Ejnar og Meta 
Thorsens Fond is a commercial foundation, the 
sole object of which is to work for the further-
ance of socially benefi cial objectives in Den-
mark or abroad. There are no constraints in 
the foundation instrument in relation to owner-
ship of shares in Monberg & Thorsen A/S or its 
subsidiaries. The foundation has advised the 
Supervisory Board that it wants to be a stable 
shareholder in the company and does not wish 
to relinquish its voting rights.

The Supervisory Board considers the owner-
ship structure to be appropriate in view of the 
Group’s present size and market value, with the 
stable ownership structure securing the long-
term value generation. The ownership structure 
does not prevent continued development of the 
Group. 

Management shareholdings

At 31.12.06, the Supervisory Board’s and Ex-
ecutive Board’s shareholdings in the company 
totalled 98,372 shares, equivalent to 2.7% of 
the share capital and a market value of DKK 
47 million.

The members of the Supervisory Board and 
Executive Board do not hold either options or 
warrants.

According to the Group’s internal code of con-
duct relating to trading in securities issued by 
the company, the members of the company’s 
Supervisory Board and Executive Board may 
buy and sell such securities only for a period 
of up to four weeks following the publication 
of the preliminary announcement of fi nancial 
statements and interim fi nancial reports. 

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held on 23 
April 2007 at 5.00pm at Industriens Hus, H.C. An-
dersens Boulevard 18, Copenhagen V, Denmark. 
The Annual General Meeting will be convened 
with at least eight days’ notice in accordance 
with the company’s Articles of Association.

Dividends

Dividends on shares registered with the Danish 
Securities Centre will be paid automatically four 
banking days after the Annual General Meeting.

At the Annual General Meeting, the Supervisory 
Board will propose that a dividend of DKK 36 
per DKK 20 share be paid.

Share capital

The company’s share capital amounts to DKK 
71,700,000 divided into

A shares:
768,000 shares 
of DKK 20 each DKK 15,360,000
B shares:
2,817,000 shares 
of DKK 20 each DKK 56,340,000

Each A share with a nominal value of DKK 20 
entitles the holder to ten votes, and each B share 
with a nominal value of DKK 20 entitles the 
holder to one vote.

Treasury shares

At 31.12.06, the company’s holding of treasury 
shares totalled 2,645 nos. The company did not 
buy back any treasury shares in 2006. 

According to the company’s rules for buying and 
selling treasury shares, the company may not 
buy or sell treasury shares in the three weeks 
preceding the publication of the preliminary an-
nouncement of fi nancial statements and interim 
fi nancial reports.

No subsidiary holds shares in Monberg & Thorsen.

The Monberg & Thorsen share

At the end of 2006, the share price was 478, up 
3% on the previous year. A total of approx. 0.6 
million shares were traded in 2006, compared 
with approx. 1.0 million in 2005. The share is 
in the MidCap+ Segment on the Copenhagen 
Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Ejnar og Meta Thorsens Fond (24.4%)

Founder families (26.1%)

ATP (13.8%)

LD (10.7%)

Others (25.0%)

Share capital by group 
of shareholders

Votes by group of shareholders

Ejnar og Meta Thorsens Fond (74.2%)

Founder families (8.9%)

ATP (4.7%)

LD (3.7%)

Others (8.5%)
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Market price per share

Book value per share

Index of MT share price history

OMXC20 Copenhagen Stock Exchange

OMXC Copenhagen Stock Exchange

Share price 2002-2006
31.12.01 = Index 100

Monberg & Thorsen Group
Market price and book value (DKK)

Announcements to the Copenhagen Stock Exchange

The following Stock Exchange announcements were issued in 2006:

 1. 28.02.06 Denerco Oil’s preliminary announcement for 2005
 2.   16.03.06 MT Højgaard’s preliminary announcement for 2005
 3.   16.03.06 Monberg & Thorsen’s preliminary announcement for 2005
 4. 03.04.06 MT Højgaard’s annual report 2005
 5. 03.04.06 Dyrup’s annual report 2005
 6. 03.04.06 Monberg & Thorsen’s annual report 2005
 7. 04.04.06 Notice of Annual General Meeting of Monberg & Thorsen
 8. 20.04.06 Monberg & Thorsen’s Annual General Meeting 2006
 9. 11.05.06 Monberg & Thorsen sells its shares in Denerco Oil
 10.   31.05.06 MT Højgaard’s interim report, Q1 2006
 11.   31.05.06 Monberg & Thorsen’s interim report, Q1 2006
 12. 11.08.06 Closing of the sale of the shares in Denerco Oil
 13.   23.08.06 MT Højgaard’s interim report, H1 2006
 14.  23.08.06 Monberg & Thorsen’s interim report, H1 2006
 15. 04.09.06 Management change in Dyrup
 16. 13.11.06 Monberg & Thorsen revises 2006 profi t outlook downwards
 17. 21.11.06 MT Højgaard’s interim report, Q3 2006
 18. 21.11.06 Monberg & Thorsen’s interim report, Q3 2006
 19. 21.11.06 Financial calendar for 2007

Information policy

Monberg & Thorsen’s information policy is for 
all stakeholders to receive all price-relevant 
information on the various companies in the 
Group at suitable intervals and in a timely and 
effi cient manner within the framework of the 
Copenhagen Stock Exchange code of ethics. 
One of the ways in which this is achieved is by 
publication of interim reports, including web-
casts, and the holding of meetings for investors 
and fi nancial analysts.

In order to ensure compliance with the Copen-
hagen Stock Exchange rules, it has been de-
cided that, for a period of three weeks before 
a planned interim fi nancial report, Monberg & 
Thorsen:

•  will not comment on analyst reports
•  will not discuss the Group’s fi nancial position 

with investors and analysts
•  will not participate in meetings with investors 

and fi nancial analysts

Financial calendar for 2007

Annual General Meeting 23.04.07
Payment of dividend 27.04.07

Expected dates of announcement of interim fi -
nancial reports: 
Q1 2007 25.05.07
Q2 2007 29.08.07
Q3 2007 21.11.07
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Group normally uses forward contracts and cur-
rency loans/deposits as a hedge. 

Investments in foreign subsidiaries and associ-
ates are not normally hedged. Most of the for-
eign subsidiaries are based in European coun-
tries that have joined the European Monetary 
Union.

Interest rate risk

In 2006, the Group’s net cash was placed in 
bonds and on short-term fi xed-term deposit 
with major banks. The interest rate risk is there-
fore closely linked to the development in the 
Danish interest rate level.

The bond portfolio consists solely of Danish 
mortgage credit bonds and government bonds 
listed on the Copenhagen Stock Exchange. 
Bonds are recognised at market value at year 
end. Realised and unrealised gains and losses 
are recognised in the income statement. Details 
of the bond portfolio are disclosed in note 24.    

Long-term loans, including mortgage debt on 
the Group’s properties, are closely monitored 
with a view to continuous improvement. De-
tails of interest-bearing liabilities are disclosed 
in note 26.  

The Monberg & Thorsen Group’s activities en-
tail various commercial and fi nancial risks that 
may affect the Group’s development, fi nancial 
position and operations.

It is considered a critical part of the strategy to 
continuously minimise the current risks, which 
are not generally deemed to differ from the nor-
mal risks within the market segments in which 
the subsidiaries operate. 

Commercial risks

In addition to generally depending on the mar-
ket trend within the building sector, each sub-
sidiary is exposed to other specifi c commercial 
risks. Detailed information about Dyrup’s and 
MT Højgaard’s commercial and fi nancial risks 
is given in their annual reports. This section 
focuses solely on the Group’s fi nancial risks.

Financial risks

The Monberg & Thorsen Group’s main fi nan-
cial risks can be divided into currency risk and 
interest rate risk. These risks are hedged locally 
by the individual subsidiaries.

The Group’s total credit risks are not regarded 
as unusual. Credit risks are generally managed 
by regular assessment of major customers and 
business partners. Risks related to dealings with 
other counterparties than banks are minimised, 
to some extent, by means of guarantees based 
on individual assessment of each counterpar-
ty. Likewise, the Group’s cash fl ow risks are 
regarded as insignifi cant, as cash funds and 
securities are placed on short-term fi xed-term 
deposit and in Danish bonds. To this should 
be added suffi cient undrawn committed cred-
it facilities and continuous dialogue with the 
Group’s fi nancing sources.

Currency risk

The companies make limited use of options 
and forward contracts as the only fi nancial in-
struments to hedge currency risks. Such instru-
ments are used solely for hedging operating 
activities. The use of such instruments is limited, 
as the Group operates predominantly in the 
euro zone.

The Group aims to avoid major losses on ex-
change rate fl uctuations. Both realised and 
budgeted positions are hedged, although de-
pending on the reliability of the budgets. The 

RISK FACTORS
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The 2006 annual report has been prepared in 
continuity of previous years in accordance with 
the accounting policies set out on pages 23-26. 
The annual report has been prepared in ac-
cordance with the requirements in International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and apply-
ing the same accounting policies as last year.

The activities of Monberg & Thorsen consist 
of Dyrup, which is wholly-owned, and a 46% 
ownership interest in the jointly controlled enti-
ty MT Højgaard. As in previous years, this inter-
est has been accounted for in the consolidated 
fi nancial statements by applying proportionate 
consolidation. To these should be added the 
ownership interest in Denerco Oil, which was 
sold in August 2006. Denerco Oil was an as-
sociate, and the share of its profi t after tax is 
therefore recognised as separate item of income 
in the consolidated fi nancial statements. 

In this section the development in the consoli-
dated fi nancial statements is analysed at Group 
level. Detailed information about Dyrup and 
MT Højgaard is given in their respective an-
nual reports, which are enclosed in and form 
an integral part of Monberg & Thorsen’s annual 
report. These companies’ accounting policies 
follow the Group’s accounting policies.

Consolidated income statement

Consolidated revenue amounted to DKK 6.8 
billion, up 21% on 2005. The change in revenue 
can be broken down as follows:

 Change Revenue Share
 % DKKm %

Dyrup -1 1,660 25

MT Højgaard (46%) 31 5,098 75

Total 21 6,758 100

Dyrup delivered revenue slightly down on last 
year, primarily refl ecting decline in France.

MT Højgaard’s revenue was up 31% due to a 
considerably higher level of activity within all 
the Group’s business segments. The increase 
was predominantly organic.

International consolidated revenue totalled ap-
prox. DKK 2.1 billion, equivalent to just un-
der one third of revenue. International activi-
ties contributed approx. 16% of MT Højgaard’s 
revenue, and approx. 75% of Dyrup’s revenue, 
corresponding to the 2005 level.

Operating profi t (EBIT) can be broken down 
as follows:

Operating profi t (loss) (DKKm) 2005 2006

Dyrup 16 5

MT Højgaard (46%) 62 27

Oil interests after tax 43 43

Parent company, etc. (8) (8)

Operating profi t before special items, etc. 113 67

Special items in Dyrup (49) (47)

Gain on sale of Denerco Oil - 171

Operating profi t (EBIT) 64 191

Operating profi t before special items, etc., was 
in the region of DKK 67 million, considerably 
down on 2005, refl ecting signifi cantly lower 
earnings in both Dyrup and MT Højgaard.

Dyrup’s result was adversely affected, again in 
2006, by special items in the region of DKK 47 
million. These items related primarily to unu-
sual and signifi cant items in connection with 
the restructuring and focusing of Dyrup that 
commenced in 2005.

In MT Højgaard, the decline in profi t was due 
to the development in the Contracting busi-
ness, where signifi cant losses were incurred 
on, in particular, a few large residential and 
refurbishment projects in Greater Copenhagen. 
The main reasons for this were the historically 
high level of activity in the industry, which is 
straining resources, resulting in higher prices 
and delays.

The Group’s oil interests yielded substantially 
higher profi t than expected at the start of the 
year due to the persistently high oil prices. Op-
erating profi t after tax was DKK 43 million in 
the period up to the sale of the shares in August 
2006. The sale generated non-recurring income 
of DKK 171 million, and the oil interests thus 
contributed DKK 214 million, overall, to operat-
ing profi t.

FINANCIAL REVIEW AND DIVIDEND
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Consolidated profi t before tax amounted to 
DKK 176 million, and can be broken down as 
follows:

Profi t (loss) before tax (DKKm) 2005 2006

Dyrup (6) (19)

MT Højgaard (46%) 57 23

Oil interests (after tax) 39 46

Parent company, etc. 2 2

Profi t before special items, etc. 92 52

Special items in Dyrup (49) (47)

Gain on sale of Denerco Oil - 171

Profi t before tax 43 176

Dyrup’s result was considerably lower than ex-
pected due to lower revenue, particularly in 
France, and signifi cantly higher costs in con-
nection with the implementation of the strat-
egy, especially the winding up of loss-making 
activities, etc.

Profi t for MT Højgaard was also lower than ex-
pected despite the signifi cant increase in the 
level of activity. This was due primarily to the 
loss on a few large residential and refurbish-
ment projects in Greater Copenhagen, as al-
ready mentioned.

Profi t after tax from the oil interests up to the 
date of sale were higher than anticipated at the 
start of 2006 due to the high and increasing oil 
prices up to the sale in August.

Monberg & Thorsen delivered consolidated 
profi t after tax of DKK 191 million, after credit-
ing DKK 15 million in income tax. The effec-
tive tax rate was (8)%, due primarily to the fact 
that no income tax crystallises on the sale of 
the shares in Denerco Oil, and that the tax on 
the profi t shares from Denerco Oil has been 
deducted from the profi t share.

For 2007, the Group’s effective tax rate is ex-
pected to be on a par with the Danish tax 
rate. 

Consolidated balance sheet

The balance sheet total increased to the DKK 
4.1 billion level, equivalent to a 16% increase 
compared with the end of 2005. The increase 
was due solely to the high level of activity in 
MT Højgaard. 

Consolidated equity stood at approx. DKK 1.5 
billion, equivalent to an equity ratio of 37% ver-
sus 39% at the end of 2005.

Consolidated cash flow statements

Operating cash infl ow amounted to DKK 201 
million compared with DKK 216 million in 2005. 
The decline was due primarily to MT Højgaard. 
Dyrup’s operating cash fl ows were on a par 
with 2005 as a result of an improvement in the 
cash operating result.

Investing activities absorbed DKK 123 million 
net, relating primarily to the increase in prop-
erty, plant and equipment in MT Højgaard. The 
DKK 475 million gain on sale of the shares in 
Denerco Oil was placed in bonds in 2006. 

Financing activities generated a cash outfl ow 
again in 2006, consisting primarily of DKK 43 
million paid in dividends for 2005 and a DKK 
21 million decrease in non-current loans. Mon-
berg & Thorsen did not buy back any treasury 
shares in 2006.

The Group’s total cash and cash equivalents at 
31.12.06 amounted to DKK 79 million, to which 
should be added the securities portfolio and 
undrawn credit facilities. The cash resources 
are deemed to be at a satisfactory level in view 
of the existing strategies for the consolidated 
enterprises and for the Group as a whole.

Financial instruments

The Monberg & Thorsen Group’s activities 
entail the use of fi nancial instruments in both 
Danish kroner and foreign currencies, compris-
ing receivables and payables, securities, and 
deposits, credit and loans with banks.

The primary fi nancial instruments included in 
the balance sheet are basically measured at fair 
value. The Group makes limited use of second-
ary fi nancial instruments, and these are, as a 
rule, limited to options and forward contracts.
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Financial ratios

The operating margin amounted to (0.4)% as a 
result of the loss in Dyrup, due in part to the 
special items, and the signifi cantly lower profi t 
in MT Højgaard than anticipated at the start of 
the year.

The other fi nancial ratios showed an improve-
ment, as the gain on sale of the shares in 
Denerco Oil more than offset the development 
in Dyrup and MT Højgaard.

Parent company financial statements

The parent company measures investments in 
subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities at 
cost. The Group’s and the parent company’s 
profi t and equity are consequently not identi-
cal. 

The parent company’s primary activity is its 
ownership of Dyrup, MT Højgaard and other 
consolidated enterprises. Profi t primarily re-
fl ects dividends from these investments. As the 
dividends vary considerably from year to year, 
the parent company’s fi nancial statements are 
considered to be immaterial in relation to the 
consolidated fi nancial statements, and a fi ve-
year summary of fi nancial highlights for the par-
ent company is therefore not included.

The parent company delivered profi t in line 
with expectations. 

The parent company’s balance sheet total stood 
at DKK 1.5 billion, with the cost of investments 
in the owned companies accounting for 58%. 
The cost of these investments has not been writ-
ten down.

The parent company’s equity amounted to ap-
prox. DKK 1.1 billion, giving an equity ratio 
of 76%.

Dividends

A dividend to the shareholders of DKK 36 per 
DKK 20 share is proposed for 2006, correspond-
ing to DKK 129 million in total, which will be 
reserved under proposed dividends under eq-
uity. Like last year, no provision has been made 
in respect of dividends payable on the holding 
of treasury shares.

The dividend is equivalent to the ordinary part 
of dividend for 2006 of DKK 12 per share, cor-
responding to DKK 43 million in total, plus ex-
traordinary dividend of DKK 24 per share, or 
DKK 86 million in total, largely corresponding 
to half the gain on sale of Denerco Oil. 

After payment of the proposed dividend, the 
parent company will have cash resources of 
just under DKK 500 million, to which should 
be added undrawn credit facilities. In view 
of the current situation, with clarifi cation in 
2007 of whether it will be possible for Dyrup 
to identify relevant acquisition candidates that 
can underpin Dyrup’s strategic development, 
it is necessary to maintain relatively high cash 
resources.

The dividend payment corresponds to approx. 
69% in total of profi t for the year after tax. The 
dividend payment provides a direct return of 
7.2% based on the current market price of ap-
prox. 500.

Monberg & Thorsen will continue to endeavour 
to pay dividend of 30-50% of profi t after tax. 
Dividend distributions will be made with due 
consideration for the Group’s fi nancial position, 
investment opportunities and cash fl ow. 

Again this year, the Supervisory Board will re-
quest the usual authority from the shareholders 
to purchase up to 10% of the share capital, and 
will also request an extension of the authority 
to increase the share capital by nominal DKK 
20 million B shares. 

Equity (DKKm)

ROE (%)

Monberg & Thorsen Group
Equity and ROE

Invested capital (DKKm)

ROIC (%)

Monberg & Thorsen Group
Invested capital and ROIC

Earnings per share (DKK)

Dividend per share (DKK)

Monberg & Thorsen Group
Earnings and dividend per share

DKKm %

DKKm %
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MANAGEMENT STATEMENT AND AUDITORS’ REPORT

STATEMENT BY THE EXECUTIVE 
AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS

The Executive and Supervisory Boards of Mon-
berg & Thorsen A/S have today discussed and 
approved the annual report for the fi nancial 
year 2006.

The annual report has been prepared in ac-
cordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the EU and additional 
Danish disclosure requirements for annual re-
ports of listed companies. We consider the ac-

counting policies used to be appropriate. Ac-
cordingly, the annual report gives a true and fair 
view of the Group’s and the parent company’s 
fi nancial position at 31 December 2006 and of 
the results of the Group’s and the parent com-
pany’s operations and cash fl ows for the fi nan-
cial year 1 January - 31 December 2006.

We recommend that the annual report be ap-
proved at the Annual General Meeting.

Executive Board 

Jørgen Nicolajsen
President and CEO

Copenhagen, 21 March 2007

Supervisory Board  

Mogens Granborg Hans Bennetzen Magnus Bertelsen
Chairman Deputy Chairman

Anders Colding Friis Poul Lind Jan Munkholm

Henrik Thorsen Gerrit Dirk Toet Carsten Tvede-Møller
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To the shareholders of 
Monberg & Thorsen A/S

We have audited the annual report of Monberg 
& Thorsen A/S for the fi nancial year 1 January 
- 31 December 2006, which comprises manage-
ment’s review, the statement by the Executive 
and Supervisory Boards, accounting policies, 
income statement, balance sheet, statement 
of changes in equity, cash fl ow statement and 
notes. The annual report has been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Re-
porting Standards as adopted by the EU and 
additional Danish disclosure requirements for 
annual reports of listed companies.

Management’s responsibility 
for the annual report

Management is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the annual report in ac-
cordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the EU and additional 
Danish disclosure requirements for annual re-
ports of listed companies. This responsibility 
includes: designing, implementing and main-
taining internal control relevant to the prepara-
tion and fair presentation of an annual report 
that is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility and basis of opinion

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the annual report based on our audit. We con-
ducted our audit in accordance with Danish 
Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-

Copenhagen, 21 March 2007

KPMG C.Jespersen Ernst & Young
Statsautoriseret Revisionsinteressentskab Statsautoriseret Revisionsaktieselskab

Finn L. Meyer Søren Strøm
State Authorised Public Accountant State Authorised Public Accountant

able assurance whether the annual report is free 
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to ob-
tain audit evidence about the amounts and dis-
closures in the annual report. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, in-
cluding the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the annual report, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assess-
ments, the auditors consider internal control 
relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the annual report in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Company’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of ac-
counting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by Management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the annual report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have ob-
tained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

Our audit did not result in any qualifi cation.

Opinion

In our opinion, the annual report gives a true 
and fair view of the Group’s and the parent 
company’s fi nancial position at 31 December 
2006 and of the results of the Group’s and the 
parent company’s operations and cash fl ows 
for the fi nancial year 1 January - 31 December 
2006 in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and 
additional Danish disclosure requirements for 
annual reports of listed companies. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Basis of preparation

The Group’s and the parent company’s annual 
report has been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU and additional 
Danish disclosure requirements for annual re-
ports of listed companies, see the Copenha-
gen Stock Exchange disclosure requirements 
for annual reports of listed companies and the 
statutory order on the adoption of IFRS issued 
pursuant to the Danish Financial Statements 
Act.

In addition, the annual report has been pre-
pared in compliance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
IASB.

The annual report is presented in Danish kro-
ner.

The accounting policies are unchanged from 
those set out in the 2005 annual report, al-
though a few editorial changes have been 
made.

The amendments to IAS 19 ”Employee Bene-
fi ts”, IAS 21 ”The Effects of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates” and IAS 39 ”Financial Instru-
ments, Recognition and Measurement”, all of 
which became operative on 1 January 2006, 
have no effect on the fi nancial reporting.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated fi nancial statements comprise 
the parent company Monberg & Thorsen A/S 
and subsidiaries in which the Group holds, 
directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the 
voting rights or which it controls in some other 
way.

Other enterprises in which the Group holds 
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights and 
over which it has signifi cant infl uence, but not 
control, are accounted for as associates. 
These enterprises are not consolidated. Enter-
prises controlled jointly by Monberg & Thors-
en A/S and one or more other enterprises are 
recognised in the consolidated fi nancial state-
ments using proportionate consolidation – in-
cluding MT Højgaard a/s.

The consolidated fi nancial statements are pre-
pared on the basis of the parent company’s and 
the individual consolidated enterprises’ audited 
fi nancial statements determined in accordance 
with the Group’s accounting policies.

On consolidation, identical items are aggre-
gated and intragroup income and expenses, 
shareholdings, balances and dividends are 
eliminated. Unrealised gains and losses arising 
from intragroup transactions are also elimi-
nated.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Newly acquired or newly formed enterprises 
are recognised in the consolidated fi nancial 
statements from the date of acquisition or for-
mation. Enterprises disposed of are recognised 
in the consolidated fi nancial statements up to 
the date of disposal. Comparative fi gures are 
not restated for newly acquired enterprises or 
enterprises disposed of. 

Gains and losses on disposal of subsidiaries 
and jointly controlled entities/associates are 
reported by deducting from the proceeds on 
disposal the carrying amount of net assets in-
cluding goodwill at the date of disposal and 
related selling expenses.

Presentation of discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of an 
entity the operations and cash fl ows of which 
can be clearly distinguished, operationally and 
for fi nancial reporting purposes, from the rest 
of the entity and that has either been disposed 
of or is classifi ed as held for sale and expected 
to be disposed of within one year according 
to a formal plan.

Post-tax profi t and value adjustments of dis-
continued operations and operations classifi ed 
as held for sale are presented as a separate line 
item in the income statement with compara-
tive fi gures. Assets and related liabilities are 
reported as separate line items in the balance 
sheet.

Business combinations
Acquisitions of enterprises over which the par-
ent company obtains control are accounted for 
applying the purchase method. The acquiree’s 
identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent li-
abilities are measured at fair value at the ac-
quisition date. Identifi able intangible assets are 
recognised if they are separable or arise from 
a contractual right and the fair value can be 
measured reliably. The tax effect of the restate-
ments performed is taken into account.

Any excess of the cost of the acquisition over 
the fair value of the assets acquired and liabili-
ties and contingent liabilities assumed (good-
will) is recognised as goodwill under intangible 
assets. Any excess of the fair value over the 
cost of the acquisition (negative goodwill) is 
credited to the income statement at the acqui-
sition date.

If there is any uncertainty at the acquisition 
date concerning the measurement of identifi -
able assets acquired or liabilities or contingent 
liabilities assumed, initial recognition is based 
on provisional fair values. If it is subsequently 
found that identifi able assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities had a different fair value 
at the acquisition date than initially assumed, 
goodwill is adjusted within twelve months of 
the acquisition date. 

Minority interests
Minority interests are recognised initially on 
the basis of the fair values of the acquiree’s 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the 
acquisition date.

Subsidiaries’ items are fully consolidated in the 
consolidated fi nancial statements. The minority 
interests’ proportionate share of profi t for the 
year appears from the income statement. In 
the balance sheet, minority interests are recog-
nised as a separate component of equity, sepa-
rate from equity attributable to equity holders 
of the parent.

Joint ventures
A joint venture is a jointly controlled operation 
or a jointly controlled entity over which none 
of the joint venturers has control. 

Investments in jointly controlled operations 
and entities are recognised in the consolidated 
fi nancial statements on a proportionate basis in 
accordance with the contractual arrangement, 
whereby the proportionate share of assets, li-
abilities, income and expenses from the jointly 
controlled operations is recognised in the cor-
responding items in the fi nancial statements.

Foreign currency translation
The individual business unit’s functional cur-
rency is determined as the primary currency in 
the market in which the business unit operates. 
The predominant functional currency for the 
Group is Danish kroner.

Transactions denominated in all currencies 
other than the individual business unit’s func-
tional currency are accounted for as transac-
tions in foreign currencies that are translated 
into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates at the transaction date. Receivables and 
payables in foreign currencies are translated 
using the exchange rates at the balance sheet 
date. Foreign exchange differences arising 
between the exchange rate at the transaction 
date or the balance sheet date and the date 
of settlement are recognised in the income 
statement as fi nancial income and expenses.

On recognition of foreign subsidiaries and 
associates the income statement items deter-
mined in the individual enterprises’ functional 
currencies are translated into Danish kroner 
at average exchange rates that do not devi-
ate signifi cantly from the exchange rates at the 
transaction date, while the balance sheet items 
are translated at the exchange rates at the bal-
ance sheet date.  Foreign exchange differences 
arising on translation of the opening equity of 
foreign subsidiaries at the exchange rates at the 
balance sheet date and on translation of the in-
come statement items from average exchange 
rates to the exchange rates at the balance sheet 
date are taken directly to a separate translation 
reserve under equity.
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Foreign exchange gains and losses on the por-
tion of loans designated as hedges of foreign 
enterprises with a different functional currency 
than the parent company are also taken di-
rectly to equity.

On acquisition or disposal of foreign entities, 
their assets and liabilities are translated at the 
exchange rates ruling at the acquisition date or 
the date of disposal.

Derivative fi nancial instruments
The Group uses derivative fi nancial instru-
ments such as forward exchange contracts and 
similar instruments to hedge fi nancial risks aris-
ing from operating activities. 

For derivative fi nancial instruments that do not 
qualify for hedge accounting, changes in fair 
value are recognised in the income statement 
as fi nancial income or fi nancial expenses as 
they occur.

Derivative fi nancial instruments are recognised 
initially in the balance sheet at cost. Subse-
quent to initial recognition, derivative fi nancial 
instruments are stated at fair value. Gains and 
losses on remeasurement to fair value are rec-
ognised as other receivables and other paya-
bles, respectively.

Changes in the part of the fair value of deriva-
tive fi nancial instruments that is classifi ed as 
and satisfi es the criteria for hedges of future 
cash fl ows are recognised in equity. Income 
and expenses relating to such hedging transac-
tions are transferred from equity on realisation 
of the hedged item and recognised in the same 
item as the hedged item. 

Leases
Leases relating to fi xed assets in terms of which 
the Group assumes substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership (fi nance leases) are 
recognised in the balance sheet as assets. The 
assets are recognised initially at cost, equiva-
lent to the lower of their fair value and the 
present value of the future lease payments.

The present value is measured using the inter-
est rate implicit in the lease or an approxima-
tion thereof as the discount rate. 

The capitalised residual lease commitment on 
fi nance leases is recognised as a liability.

All other leases are accounted for as operating 
leases. Lease payments under operating leases 
are recognised in the income statement over 
the lease term. Information on the residual 
lease commitment is disclosed in the notes 
under lease commitments.

Government grants
Government grants include grants for projects, 
investments, etc. 

Grants that compensate the Group for expens-
es incurred or for the purchase of assets are 
set up in the balance sheet as deferred income 
or deducted in arriving at the carrying amount 
of the assets and recognised in the income 
statement in the same periods in which the 
expenses are incurred or over the periods and 
in the proportions in which depreciation on 
the assets is charged.

Income statement

Revenue
In Dyrup, revenue represents goods sold and 
services rendered. In MT Højgaard revenue com-
prises completed contract work and contract 
work in progress as well as services rendered.

Contract work in progress is recognised as rev-
enue in step with completion so that revenue 
corresponds to the selling price of the work 
performed during the year (the percentage-of-
completion method).

Revenue relating to goods sold and services 
rendered is recognised in the income state-
ment when the signifi cant risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred to the buyer 
and the income can be measured reliably and 
its payment is probable.  

Revenue is measured net of value added and 
similar sales-based taxes and trade discounts 
and rebates.

Production costs
Production costs comprise both direct and in-
direct costs incurred in generating the revenue 
for the year, and expected losses on contract 
work in progress.

Production costs include the cost of raw ma-
terials and consumables, wages and salaries, 
depreciation and impairment losses, etc. 

Dividends from investments in the 
parent company’s fi nancial statements
Dividends from investments in subsidiaries 
and jointly controlled entities are credited to 
the parent company’s income statement in the 
fi nancial year in which they are declared; how-
ever, dividends are offset against the cost of the 
investment to the extent that distributed divi-
dends exceed the accumulated earnings after 
the acquisition date. Dividends are recognised 
under operating profi t, as Monberg & Thorsen 
is a holding company.

The Group’s share of profi t 
after tax of associates
The proportionate share of profi t of associates 
is recognised in the consolidated income state-
ment net of tax and after elimination of the 
proportionate share of profi ts/losses resulting 
from intragroup transactions and after deduc-
tion of goodwill impairment losses. The profi t 

share is recognised under operating profi t, as 
Monberg & Thorsen is a holding company.

Distribution costs
Distribution costs comprise freight, tendering, 
advertising and marketing costs as well as sala-
ries, etc., relating to the sales and marketing 
departments, and amortisation and impairment 
losses on trade marks and distribution rights. 

Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses comprise expenses 
for administrative staff and management, in-
cluding salaries, offi ce expenses, depreciation, 
etc.

Other operating income and expenses
Other operating income and expenses com-
prise rental income and expenses and other 
items of a non-recurring nature, which are rec-
ognised under operating profi t, as Monberg & 
Thorsen is a holding company.

Financial income and expenses
Financial income and expenses comprise inter-
est income and expense, dividends from other 
equity investments, realised and unrealised 
gains and losses on securities, payables and 
transactions denominated in foreign curren-
cies, as well as fi nance lease costs and income 
tax surcharges and refunds.

Financial income and expenses also include 
realised and unrealised gains and losses on 
derivative fi nancial instruments that do not 
qualify for hedge accounting.

Income tax
Income tax expense, which consists of current 
tax and changes in deferred tax, is recognised 
in the income statement except to the extent 
that it relates to income and expenses recog-
nised directly in equity, in which case it is rec-
ognised directly in equity. 

Current tax comprises both Danish and foreign 
income taxes as well as adjustments relating to 
prior year taxes.

The parent company Monberg & Thorsen A/S 
is taxed jointly with its Danish subsidiaries 
(national joint taxation). Current Danish taxes 
for the year are allocated between the Dan-
ish jointly taxed companies. The jointly taxed 
companies are taxed under the on-account tax 
scheme.

Monberg & Thorsen A/S is the management 
company and consequently settles all income 
tax payments to the Danish tax authorities.

Balance sheet

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are measured at cost less accu-
mulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
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Goodwill is measured initially at cost as de-
scribed in the section on business combinations. 
The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed, 
at least annually, and written down via the in-
come statement to the recoverable amount if 
this is lower than the carrying amount.

Development costs relating to clearly defi ned 
and identifi able products are recognised as 
development projects to the extent that it is 
probable that products or processes will gen-
erate future economic benefi ts exceeding cost. 
Other development costs are recognised in the 
income statement as an expense as incurred.

Goodwill is not amortised. Trade marks, dis-
tribution rights and completed development 
projects are amortised over their expected use-
ful lives, which are 5-20 years.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are measured 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and im-
pairment losses.

Cost comprises purchase price and costs di-
rectly attributable to the acquisition until the 
date the asset is available for use. The cost 
of self-constructed assets comprises direct and 
indirect cost of materials, components, sub-
suppliers and labour. Interest expense and 
other borrowing costs on loans to fi nance the 
production of assets and which relate to the 
production period are recognised directly in 
the income statement.

Property, plant and equipment are depreci-
ated on a straight-line basis over the expected 
useful life to the expected residual value. The 
useful lives of major assets are determined on 
an individual basis, while the useful lives of 
other assets are determined for groups of uni-
form assets. 

The expected useful lives are 10-50 years for 
buildings, 3-20 years for plant and machinery, 
and 3-10 years for fi xtures and fi ttings, tools 
and equipment and leasehold improvements.

Land is not depreciated. Nor is depreciation 
charged if the residual value of an asset ex-
ceeds its carrying amount. The residual value 
is determined at the date of acquisition and 
reviewed annually.

Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment are recognised in the income 
statement as production costs or administrative 
expenses and are measured as the difference 
between the selling price less costs to sell and 
the carrying amount at the date of disposal.

Investments in associates in the consolidated 
fi nancial statements
The Group measures investments in associates 
using the equity method. Accordingly, invest-
ments in associates are measured at the pro-
portionate share of the associates’ net assets, 
applying the Group’s accounting policies, plus 
or minus unrealised intragroup profi ts/losses, 
and plus goodwill. 

Associates with negative carrying amount are 
recognised at nil. If the Group has a legal or 
constructive obligation to cover an associate’s 
negative balance, the negative balance is off-
set against the Group’s receivables from the 
associate. Any balance is recognised under 
provisions.

Investments in the parent company’s fi nancial 
statements
The parent company measures investments 
in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities 
at cost. Investments are written down to the 
recoverable amount, if this is lower than the 
carrying amount.

Cost is reduced to the extent that distributed 
dividends exceed accumulated earnings.

Subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities with 
a negative carrying amount are recognised at 
nil. If the parent company has a legal or con-
structive obligation to cover a subsidiary’s or 
jointly controlled entity‘s negative balance, the 
negative balance is offset against the parent 
company’s receivables from the subsidiary or 
jointly controlled entity. Any balance is recog-
nised under provisions.

Other investments
Other non-current receivables are measured at 
amortised cost less impairment losses.

Other investments are measured at fair value 
at the balance sheet date.

Impairment of fi xed assets
The carrying amounts of intangible assets, 
property, plant and equipment and invest-
ments are reviewed, at least annually, to deter-
mine whether there is any indication of impair-
ment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated; however, the 
recoverable amount of goodwill is always re-
viewed annually.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an as-
set’s fair value less expected costs to sell and its 
value in use, which is the discounted value of 
the expected future cash fl ows from the cash-
generating unit. 

An impairment loss is recognised in the income 
statement whenever the carrying amount of 
an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount.

Impairment losses on goodwill are not re-
versed. Impairment losses on other assets are 
reversed to the extent that the assumptions and 
estimates that led to recognition of the impair-
ment loss have changed.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at cost in accordance 
with the FIFO method. Where the net realis-
able value is lower than the cost, inventories 
are written down to this lower value.

The cost of raw materials and consumables 
comprises purchase price plus expenses in-
curred in bringing them to their existing loca-
tion and condition.

The cost of fi nished goods comprises the cost 
of raw materials, consumables, direct labour 
and indirect production overheads.

Properties and undeveloped sites that are not 
classifi ed as held for continued future owner-
ship or use are carried as properties held for 
resale and measured at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value.

Receivables
Receivables are measured at amortised cost 
less impairment losses.

Contract work in progress
Contract work in progress is measured at the 
selling price of the work performed. The sell-
ing price is measured in proportion to the stage 
of completion at the balance sheet date and 
total expected income from each contract in 
progress. The stage of completion is deter-
mined on the basis of the costs incurred and 
the total expected costs.

When it is probable that the total costs on a 
contract in progress will exceed total contract 
revenue, the total expected loss on the contract 
is recognised as an expense immediately. 

Where the selling price cannot be measured 
reliably, it is recognised at the lower of costs 
incurred and net realisable value.

The individual contract in progress is recog-
nised in the balance sheet under receivables or 
current liabilities, depending on the net value 
of the selling price less progress billings and 
recognised losses.

Costs in connection with sales work and ten-
dering to secure contracts are recognised as a 
cost in the income statement under distribu-
tion costs in the fi nancial year in which they 
are incurred.

Prepayments and deferred income
Prepayments are recognised under receiva-
bles, and deferred income is recognised under 
current liabilities. Prepayments and deferred 
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income include costs incurred or income re-
ceived during the year in respect of subsequent 
fi nancial years, apart from items relating to 
contract work in progress.

Securities
Listed securities recognised as current assets 
are measured at fair value at the balance sheet 
date. Changes in fair value are recognised in 
the income statement as fi nancial income or 
expenses in the period in which they occur. 

Equity
Dividends
Proposed dividends are recognised as a liabil-
ity at the date of adoption at the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting. The expected dividend payment 
for the year is disclosed as a separate item 
under equity.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve in the consolidated 
fi nancial statements comprises foreign ex-
change differences after 1 January 2004 that 
have arisen from the translation of the fi nan-
cial statements of foreign enterprises from 
their functional currencies to Danish kroner.

On full or partial realisation of the net in-
vestment, the foreign exchange adjustments 
are recognised in the income statement.

Income tax and deferred tax
Current tax payable and receivable is recog-
nised in the balance sheet as tax calculated on 
the taxable income for the year, adjusted for 
tax paid on account, etc.

Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets 
are measured using the balance sheet liabil-
ity method, providing for all temporary dif-
ferences between the tax base of an asset or 
liability and its carrying amount in the balance 
sheet. The following temporary differences are 
not provided for: goodwill not deductible for 
tax purposes and offi ce premises. The meas-
urement is based on the planned use of the 
asset or settlement of the liability, and on the 
relevant tax rules.

Deferred tax is provided for retaxation of pre-
viously deducted losses of jointly taxed and 
previously jointly taxed foreign subsidiaries in 
the event of the subsidiaries’ being disposed 
of or withdrawing from the international joint 
taxation for the MT Højgaard Group.

Deferred tax assets, including tax loss carryfor-
wards, are recognised at the value at which it 
is expected that they can be utilised by set-off 
against deferred tax liabilities or by elimination 
against tax on the future earnings of the sub-
sidiary or the parent company and the other 
jointly taxed subsidiaries in the same country. 
Deferred tax assets are entered as a separate 
line item under investments.

Deferred tax is measured on the basis of 
the tax rules and the tax rates effective in 
the respective countries at the time the de-
ferred tax is expected to crystallise as cur-
rent tax. The effect of changes in deferred 
tax due to changed tax rates is recognised 
in the income statement, unless the items in 
question were previously taken to equity.

Pension obligations
The Group’s pension plans are insured (de-
fi ned contribution). Contributions to defi ned 
contribution plans are recognised in the in-
come statement in the period to which they 
relate, and any costs payable are recognised in 
the balance sheet as other payables.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when the Group has 
a legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
a past event, and it is probable that an outfl ow 
of resources embodying economic benefi ts will 
be required to settle the obligation and when 
the amount can be measured reliably.

Financial liabilities
Bank loans, etc. are recognised at inception at 
the proceeds received net of transaction costs 
incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, fi -
nancial liabilities are measured at amortised 
cost, equivalent to the capitalised value using 
the effective interest rate. Accordingly, the dif-
ference between the proceeds and the nominal 
value is recognised in the income statement 
over the term of the loan.

Other liabilities, comprising trade payables, 
payables to subsidiaries and associates, and 
other payables, are measured at amortised 
cost.

Cash fl ow statement

The cash fl ow statement shows the Group’s 
cash fl ows for the year, broken down by op-
erating, investing and fi nancing activities, and 
the effects of these cash fl ows on the Group’s 
cash and cash equivalents.

The cash fl ow effect of acquisitions and dispos-
als of enterprises is shown separately under 
cash fl ows from investing activities. Cash fl ows 
from acquisitions are recognised in the cash 
fl ow statement from the date of acquisition and 
cash fl ows from disposals are recognised up to 
the date of disposal.

Cash fl ows from operating activities
Cash fl ows from operating activities are de-
termined using the indirect method, whereby 
operating profi t is adjusted for the effects of 
non-cash operating items, changes in working 
capital, and net fi nancing costs and income 
taxes paid.

Cash fl ows for investing activities
Cash fl ows for investing activities comprise 
payments in connection with acquisition and 
disposal of enterprises and activities and pur-
chase and sale of intangible assets, property, 
plant and equipment and investments as well 
as purchase and sale of securities.

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities
Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities comprise 
payments to and from shareholders, includ-
ing payment of dividends and increases and 
decreases in non-current borrowings. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and 
cash equivalents less current portion of bank 
loans, etc. 

Segment information

The activities of the Monberg & Thorsen Group 
consist of Dyrup, which is wholly-owned, and 
MT Højgaard, in which the ownership interest 
is 46%. Both companies are engaged in build-
ing-related activities, but with different repre-
sentation in the market. 

The annual reports of Dyrup and MT Højgaard 
form an integral part of Monberg & Thorsen’s 
annual report and are therefore enclosed in 
Monberg & Thorsen’s annual report. These 
companies’ accounting policy follows the 
Group’s accounting policy.

As in previous years, a segment overview is 
included on page 27. For detailed informa-
tion about these two companies, reference is 
made to the enclosed annual reports which 
are considered an integral part of Monberg & 
Thorsen's annual report.

Financial ratios

Financial ratios have been prepared in con-
formity with the Danish Society of Financial 
Analysts’ ’Recommendations & Financial Ratios 
2005’.

Financial ratios are defi ned on page 4 of the 
annual report.
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 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

Income statement
Revenue 1,660 1,681 5,098 3,893 - - 6,758 5,574

Gross profi t 680 703 203 224 - - 883 927

Operating profi t before special items 5 16 27 62 35 35 67 113
Special items, etc. (47) (49) - - 171 - 124 (49)

Operating profi t (loss) (EBIT) (42) (33) 27 62 206 35 191 64
Financial income 4 7 11 9 12 5 27 21
Financial expenses (28) (29) (14) (14) - 1 (42) (42)

Profi t (loss) before tax (66) (55) 24 57 218 41 176 43
Income tax expense 21 29 (7) (11) 1 1 15 19

Profi t (loss) after tax (45) (26) 17 46 219 42 191 62
      
Balance sheet      
Intangible assets 103 117 34 32 - - 137 149
Property, plant and equipment 438 488 418 381 - - 856 869
Investments 39 33 113 76 - 256 152 365

Total fi xed assets 580 638 565 489 - 256 1,145 1,383
      
Properties for development and resale - - 103 139 - - 103 139
Inventories 249 250 25 24 - - 274 274
Receivables 347 351 1,369 1,032 5 (6) 1,721 1,377
Cash and cash equivalents and securities 51 35 161 122 611 190 823 347

Total current assets 647 636 1,658 1,317 616 184 2,921 2,137

Total assets 1,227 1,274 2,223 1,806 616 440 4,066 3,520
      
Share capital 100 100 101 101 (129) (129) 72 72
Reserves, etc. 342 387 381 366 720 540 1,443 1,293

Total equity 442 487 482 467 591 411 1,515 1,365
Non-current liabilities 239 278 120 134 18 19 372 431
Current liabilities 551 509 1,621 1,205 7 10 2,179 1,724

Total equity and liabilities 1,232 1,274 2,223 1,806 616 440 4,066 3,520
      
Cash fl ows, etc.      
From operating activities 65 64 146 157 (10) (5) 201 216
For investing activities (27) (58) (110) (78) 14 (86) (123) (222)
From fi nancing activities (20) (88) (3) (22) (43) 14 (66) (96)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 19 (82) 33 57 (40) (77) 11 (102)

Portion relating to property, plant and equipment  (23) (38) (132) (98) - - (155) (136)
      
Financial ratios (%)      
Operating margin 0 1 1 2 - - 0 0
Return on invested capital (ROIC) 1 2 6 13 - - 13 4
Return on equity (ROE) (10) (5) 4 10 - - 13 5
Equity ratio 36 38 22 26 - - 37 39

* Comprises 46% of MT Højgaard’s fi gures.
** Others, etc., comprises the parent company, Other consolidated enterprises and eliminations.

Others, etc.**

SEGMENT INFORMATION (DKKm)

Total
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 PARENT COMPANY GROUP
 2005 2006  2006 2005
   Operating activities  
 89.8 (7.2) Operating profi t (loss) 190.9 63.9
   
   Adjustment for non-cash operating items  
 0.2 0.2 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 162.8 138.0
 - - Share of profi t (loss) of associates (43.4) (41.8)
 - - Other adjustments (161.6) 11.2
 90.0 (7.0) Cash fl ows from operating activities before working capital changes 148.7 171.3
   
   Working capital changes  
 - - Inventories 35.5 54.2
 (73.7) 152.8 Receivables excluding work in progress (289.3) (142.2)
 - - Work in progress 171.1 (68.6)
 (44.7) 310.0 Trade payables and other current payables 169.4 243.9
 (28.4) 455.8 Cash fl ows from operations (operating activities) 235.4 258.6
   
 10.3 14.7 Interest received, etc. 26.1 19.8
 (1.2) (4.2) Interest paid, etc. (42.2) (42.3)
 (19.3) 466.3 Cash fl ows from operations (ordinary activities) 219.3 236.1
   
 (1.1) (2.1) Income taxes paid, net (18.6) (20.5)
 (20.4) 464.2 Cash fl ows from operating activities 200.7 215.6
   
   Investing activities  
 - - Purchase of intangible assets (6.4) (25.3)
 (0.6) - Purchase of property, plant and equipment (154.7) (135.9)
 0.3 - Sale of property, plant and equipment 33.7 26.5
 - - Acquisition/disposal of enterprises and activities 476.7 (125.1)
 56.5 - Dividends from subsidiaries and associates 2.3 -
 13.4 (461.1) Purchase/sale of securities (475.0) 37.5
 69.6 (461.1) Cash fl ows for investing activities  (123.4) (222.3)
   
 49.2 3.1 Cash fl ows before fi nancing activities  77.3 (6.7)
   
   Financing activities  
 (57.3) (43.0) Dividends paid to shareholders (43.0) (57.3)
 - - Minority interests (2.1) (0.7)
 - - Increase in non-current bank loans, etc. - -
 - - Decrease in non-current bank loans, etc. (20.8) (37.5)
 (57.3) (43.0) Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities (65.9) (95.5)
   
 (8.1) (39.9) Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 11.4 (102.2)
   
 184.0 175.9 Cash and cash equivalents at 01.01. 67.6 169.7
   
 - - Unrealised value adjustments 0.2 0.1
 175.9 136.0 Cash and cash equivalents at 31.12. 79.2 67.6
   
   consisting of:  
 175.9 136.0   Cash and cash equivalents 308.6 306.2
 - -   Current bank loans (229.4) (238.6)
 175.9 136.0  79.2 67.6

The fi gures in the cash fl ow statement cannot be derived from the published records alone.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT (DKKm)
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INCOME STATEMENT (DKKm)

 PARENT COMPANY GROUP
  2005 2006 Note   2006  2005

   1 Revenue 6,757.9 5,573.5
   2 Production costs 5,874.8 4,647.0
      
    Gross profi t 883.1 926.5
      
 98.3 1.0  Dividends from subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities - -
 - - 3 Share of profi t (loss) after tax of associates 43.4 41.8
 - - 2 Distribution costs 605.0 603.0
 8.5 8.2 2 Administrative expenses 258.3 257.5
 - - 4 Other operating income and expenses 127.7 (43.9)
    
 89.8 (7.2)  Operating profi t (loss) 190.9 63.9
    
 10.3 14.7 5 Financial income 26.9 20.7
 0.5 4.2 6 Financial expenses 41.8 41.6
    
 99.6 3.3  Profi t (loss) before tax 176.0 43.0
    
 0.4 0.2 7 Income tax (14.5) (18.6)
    
 99.2 3.1  Profi t (loss) for the year 190.5 61.6
    
   8 Employee information  
    
    Distribution of  profi t  
 - -  Attributable to minority interests 3.9 2.9
 99.2 3.1  Attributable to equity holders of the parent 186.6 58.7

 99.2 3.1   190.5 61.6
    
   9 Earnings and diluted earnings per share (EPS) DKK 52 16
    
    The Supervisory Board will recommend a dividend for 
    the year of DKK 36 per share for adoption at the Annual 
    General Meeting on 23 April 2007.  
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BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER (DKKm) 
ASSETS

 PARENT COMPANY GROUP
  2005 2006 Note   2006  2005
   
    Fixed assets  
      
    Intangible assets  
   10 Goodwill 89.4 87.5
   11 Trade marks and distribution rights 38.5 54.8
   12 Development projects in progress 9.2 6.7
      
    Total intangible assets 137.1 149.0
      
    Property, plant and equipment  
 - - 13 Land and buildings 401.7 385.9
 - - 14 Plant and machinery 340.7 359.9
 0.5 0.3 15 Fixtures and fi ttings, tools and equipment 99.8 115.9
 - - 16 Prepayments and assets in the course of construction 13.5 7.6
    
 0.5 0.3  Total property, plant and equipment 855.7 869.3
    
    Investments  
 416.7 416.7 17 Investments in subsidiaries - -
 427.0 427.0 18 Investments in jointly controlled entities/associates 0.3 257.8
 - - 19 Receivables from associates 2.6 2.5
 0 0 20 Other securities and equity investments 0.4 0.4
 - - 27 Deferred tax assets 148.9 103.8
    
 843.7 843.7  Total investments 152.2 364.5
    
 844.2 844.0  Total fi xed assets 1,145.0 1,382.8
    
    Current assets  
    
    Inventories  
   21 Inventories 274.3 273.8
   22 Properties for resale 102.6 139.1
    
    Total inventories 376.9 412.9
    
    Receivables  
 - -  Trade receivables 1,298.1 1,028.9
 - - 29 Contract work in progress 277.7 216.8
 163.0 -  Receivables from subsidiaries - -
 - -  Receivables from associates 2.9 2.7
 0.2 10.5  Other receivables 93.2 70.1
 - -  Income tax 4.6 13.3
 0.1 -  Prepayments 44.2 45.7
    
 163.3 10.5 23 Total receivables 1,720.7 1,377.5
    
 12.8 473.9 24 Securities 514.5 40.4
    
 175.9 136.0  Cash and cash equivalents 308.6 306.2
    
 352.0 620.4  Total current assets 2,920.7 2,137.0
    
 1,196.2 1,464.4  Total assets 4,065.7 3,519.8
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER (DKKm)
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

 PARENT COMPANY GROUP
  2005 2006 Note   2006  2005
       
    Equity  

 71.7 71.7 25 Share capital 71.7 71.7
 - -  Translation reserve 11.5 10.9
 1,041.4 915.5  Retained earnings 1,291.5 1,230.3
 43.0 129.0  Proposed dividends 129.0 43.0
    
 1,156.1 1,116.2  Equity attributable to equity holders of  the parent 1,503.7 1,355.9
    
    Equity attributable to minority interests 10.8 9.2
    
    Total equity 1,514.5 1,365.1
    
    Non-current liabilities  
    
 - - 26 Bank loans, etc. 282.2 317.6
 18.6 18.6 27 Deferred tax liabilities 61.3 86.6
 - - 28 Provisions 28.7 26.4
    
 18.6 18.6  Total non-current liabilities 372.2 430.6
    
    Current liabilities  
    
 - - 26 Current portion of non-current fi nancial liabilities 53.8 32.5
 - - 26 Bank loans 229.4 238.6
 - - 29 Contract work in progress 559.7 316.6
 - -  Prepayments received from customers 63.5 47.0
 0.7 0.6  Trade payables 760.9 617.1
 4.1 317.9  Payables to subsidiaries - -
 - -  Payables to associates 0.2 1.9
 7.5 5.6  Income tax 21.5 4.7
 9.2 5.5  Other payables 460.1 433.1
 - -  Deferred income 28.7 31.6
 - - 28 Provisions 1.2 1.0
    
 21.5 329.6  Total current liabilities 2,179.0 1,724.1
    
 40.1 348.2  Total liabilities 2,551.2 2,154.7
    
 1,196.2 1,464.4  Total equity and liabilities 4,065.7 3,519.8
    

    Notes without reference  
   30 Security  
   31 Lease commitments  
   32 Contingent liabilities  
   33 Related parties  
   34 Joint ventures  
   35 Financial instruments  
   36 Accounting estimates and judgements  
   37 New accounting standards  
   38 Events after the balance sheet date  
   39 Segment information  
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    Share Retained Proposed 
    capital  earnings dividends Total

Parent company      

Equity at 01.01.05    71.7 985.2 57.3 1,114.2

Profi t for the year     99.2  99.2
Total income and expense for the year     99.2  99.2
Dividends paid      (57.3) (57.3)
Transfer to proposed dividends     (43.0) 43.0 0
Total changes in equity     56.2 (14.3) 41.9

Equity at 01.01.06    71.7 1,041.4 43.0 1,156.1

Profi t for the year     3.1  3.1
Total income and expense for the year     3.1  3.1
Dividends paid      (43.0) (43.0)
Transfer to proposed dividends     (129.0) 129.0 0
Total changes in equity     (125.9) 86.0 (39.9)

Equity at 31.12.06    71.7 915.5 129.0 1,116.2

     Total equity
      attribut- Attribut-
  Trans-   able to  able to
 Share lation Retained Proposed Monberg minority
 capital  reserve  earnings dividends & Thorsen interests Total

Group       

Equity at 01.01.05 71.7 6.3 1,220.1 57.3 1,355.4 6.9 1,362.3

Profi t for the year   58.7  58.7 2.9 61.6
Foreign exchange adjustments  4.6   4.6 0.1 4.7
Other adjustments   (5.5)  (5.5)  (5.5)
Total income and expense for the year  4.6 53.2  57.8 3.0 60.8
Dividends paid    (57.3) (57.3) (0.7) (58.0)
Transfer to proposed dividends   (43.0) 43.0 0  0
Total changes in equity  4.6 10.2 (14.3) 0.5 2.3 2.8

Equity at 01.01.06 71.7 10.9 1,230.3 43.0 1,355.9 9.2 1,365.1

Profi t for the year   186.6  186.6 3.9 190.5
Foreign exchange adjustments  0.6   0.6 (0.2) 0.4
Other adjustments   3.6  3.6  3.6
Total income and expense for the year  0.6 190.2  190.8 3.7 194.5
Dividends paid    (43.0) (43.0) (2.1) (45.1)
Transfer to proposed dividends   (129.0) 129.0 0  
Total changes in equity  0.6 61.2 86.0 147.8 1.6 149.4

Equity at 31.12.06 71.7 11.5 1,291.5 129.0 1,503.7 10.8 1,514.5

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (DKKm)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (DKKm)

 PARENT COMPANY GROUP
 2005 2006 2006 2005 

Note 1     
Consolidated revenue by geographical area:    

Denmark   4,664.9 3,697.1
Rest of world   2,093.0 1,876.4

   6,757.9 5,573.5

Note 2  
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses  

Intangible assets - - 18.6 14.8
Property, plant and equipment 0.2 0.2 144.2 123.2

Total depreciation, amortisation 
and impairment losses 0.2 0.2 162.8 138.0

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses are included in: 
Production costs - - 84.1 81.7
Distribution costs - - 39.9 38.1
Administrative expenses 0.2 0.2 20.5 18.2
Other operating expenses 
– impairment losses - - 18.3 -

 0.2 0.2 162.8 138.0

Fees paid to auditors appointed at the Annual General Meeting

Total fees to the auditors appointed by 
the shareholders in Annual General Meeting 
for the fi nancial year under review  
KPMG C.Jespersen 0.4 0.2 3.4 3.4
Ernst & Young 0.1 0.1 4.0 3.9

 0.5 0.3 7.4 7.3
of which non-audit fees    
KPMG C.Jespersen 0.1 - 1.3 1.3
Ernst & Young - - 0.7 0.6

 0.1 - 2.0 1.9

Note 3  
Associates  

Share of profi t (loss) after tax of associates:   
Denerco Oil A/S   43.4 43.1
Others   - (1.3)

   43.4 41.8

Further details of these amounts are disclosed 
in note 18 on investments in associates.

Note 4   
Other operating income   

Gain on sale of Denerco Oil   170.8 -
Dyrup’s sale of trade mark rights   16.4 -
Other income   4.2 5.3
   191.4 5.3
Other operating expenses   
Restructuring costs in Dyrup   63.7 49.2
   
Total other operating income and expenses   127.7 (43.9)

Other operating income relates primarily to rental income from Dyrup’s activi-
ties. The restructuring costs in Dyrup relate to redundancy costs and winding-
up costs as well as impairment losses in respect of fi xed assets and invento-
ries in connection with implementation of Dyrup’s strategy.

Note 5   
Financial income   

Securities 1.2 6.0 6.3 2.2
Cash and cash equivalents 3.8 5.5 19.3 13.0
Subsidiaries 5.3 3.2 - -
Miscellaneous - - 1.3 5.5

 10.3 14.7 26.9 20.7

Note 6   
Financial expenses   

Non-current liabilities - - 16.9 18.6
Current liabilities 0.5 4.2 15.6 12.1
Miscellaneous - - 9.3 10.9

 0.5 4.2 41.8 41.6

Portion relating to subsidiaries 0.5 4.2 - -

Note 7   
Income tax   

Current tax in the consolidated enterprises 0.4 0.2 43.7 15.6
Change in deferred tax - - (63.3) (39.7)
Prior year adjustments - - 5.1 5.5

 0.4 0.2 (14.5) (18.6)

Reconciliation of  tax rate   
Danish tax rate 28% 28% 28% 28%
Deviations in foreign enterprises’ tax rates   (3)% (14)%
Deviations from associates   (7)% (28)%
Non-taxable items, etc. (28)% (27)% (28)% 0 %
Other, including prior year adjustments 0% 0% 2% (29)%

Effective tax rate 0% 1% (8)% (43)%

Note 8   
Employee information   

Wages, salaries and remuneration 4.2 6.0 1,383.7 1,248.2
Pension contributions 0.1 0.1 89.9 71.1
Other social security costs - - 98.0 86.0

 4.3 6.1 1,571.6 1,405.3

Including salaries and remuneration to the parent company’s:  
Supervisory Board 1.7 1.8 2.6 2.5
Executive Board 1.7 1.5 3.3 1.9

Average number of employees 4 3 3,673 3,469

 PARENT COMPANY GROUP
 2005 2006 2006 2005 
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Monberg & Thorsen has not introduced performance-related pay for the 
Supervisory Board or the Executive Board. Besides the amounts referred to 
above the Executive Board performed special tasks in 2005 and 2006 for 
which they were paid remuneration in 2006 corresponding to one year’s sal-
ary in 2005. The pensionable age for members of the Executive Board is 65, 
and no special termination benefi t plan has been agreed. The Group enter-
prises have introduced bonus pay for the top management tiers.

The remuneration for ordinary members of the Supervisory Board was DKK 
150,000, as in 2005, with a supplement for the Chairman and Deputy Chair-
man. Besides their normal remuneration, the Chairman or members may be 
paid a fee for special tasks undertaken by them, although no Supervisory 
Board member may receive a total fee of more than twice his or her ordinary 
remuneration. No permanent Supervisory Board committees have been ap-
pointed at the present time.

Note 9   
Earnings per share (EPS)   

Profi t for the year attributable to 
equity holders of the parent   186.6 58.7

Average number of shares   3,585,000 3,585,000
Average number of treasury shares   2,645 2,645
   3,582,355 3,582,355

Earnings and diluted earnings per share (EPS) DKK  52 16

Note 10   
Goodwill   

Cost at 01.01.   87.5 74.7
Value adjustments   1.2 0.1
Additions   2.0 12.7
Cost at 31.12.   90.7 87.5

Impairment losses at 01.01.   - -
Impairment losses   1.3 -
Impairment losses at 31.12.   1.3 -

Balance sheet value at 31.12.   89.4 87.5

On transition to IFRS the exemption provisions on business combinations in 
IFRS 1 have been applied. The carrying amount of goodwill at 01.01.04 has 
thus not been changed.

The carrying amount of goodwill was tested for impairment at 31.12.06. De-
tails of the impairment tests are disclosed in note 10 on page 26 of Dyrup’s 
fi nancial statements and note 12 on page 44 of MT Højgaard’s fi nancial state-
ments, to which reference is made.

In Dyrup, the impairment tests gave rise to write-downs of goodwill to reco-
verable amount by DKK 1.3 million.

Note 11   
Trade marks and distribution rights, etc.   

Cost at 01.01.   155.8 138.3
Value adjustments   (0.1) 0.3
Additions   1.5 17.2
Disposals   (48.3) -
Cost at 31.12.   108.9 155.8

Amortisation at 01.01.   101.0 86.0
Value adjustments   (0.1) 0.2
Amortisation, disposals   (47.8) -
Amortisation   17.3 14.8
Amortisation at 31.12.   70.4 101.0

Balance sheet value at 31.12.   38.5 54.8

The amounts relate to Dyrup’s activities only.

Note 12   
Development projects in progress   

Cost at 01.01.   6.7 -
Additions   3.7 6.7
Disposals   (1.2) -

Balance sheet value at 31.12.   9.2 6.7

The amounts relate to Dyrup’s activities only.

Note 13   
Land and buildings   

Cost at 01.01.   516.1 499.4
Value adjustments   - 0.8
Additions   30.2 20.8
Disposals   (20.3) (4.9)
Cost at 31.12.   526.0 516.1

Depreciation and impairment losses at 01.01.   130.2 121.9
Value adjustments   - 0.8
Depreciation, disposals   (14.5) (0.8)
Depreciation and impairment losses, etc.   8.6 8.3
Depreciation and impairment losses at 31.12.   124.3 130.2

Balance sheet value at 31.12.   401.7 385.9

Mortgaged properties:   
Carrying amount   208.3 211.1
Year-end balance, loans   110.9 115.5

Danish properties subject to public land assessment:   
Carrying amount   292.6 276.5
Public land assessment value at 01.01.   288.5 283.2

 PARENT COMPANY GROUP
 2005 2006 2006 2005 

 PARENT COMPANY GROUP
 2005 2006 2006 2005 
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Note 14   
Plant and machinery   

Cost at 01.01.   851.4 755.6
Reclassifi cation   (9.4) -
Value adjustments   0.4 3.1
Additions   77.5 132.0
Disposals   (36.7) (39.3)
Cost at 31.12.   883.2 851.4

Depreciation at 01.01.   491.5 445.8
Reclassifi cation   (1.7) -
Value adjustments   - 1.4
Depreciation, disposals   (31.6) (32.5)
Depreciation and impairment losses   84.3 76.8
Depreciation and impairment losses at 31.12.   542.5 491.5

Balance sheet value at 31.12.   340.7 359.9

Impairment losses for the year amounted to DKK 7.7 
million, and relate to Dyrup’s activities.

Carrying amount of assets held under fi nance leases  48.4 40.6

Note 15   
Fixtures and fi ttings, tools and equipment   

Cost at 01.01. 1.2 1.4 300.8 289.7
Reclassifi cation - - 9.4 -
Value adjustments - - 0 0.8
Additions 0.6 - 34.5 31.0
Disposals (0.4) (0.5) (37.6) (20.7)
Cost at 31.12. 1.4 0.9 307.1 300.8

Depreciation at 01.01. 0.8 0.9 184.9 169.7
Reclassifi cation - - 1.7 -
Value adjustments - - 0 0.7
Depreciation, disposals (0.1) (0.5) (31.5) (24.0)
Depreciation and impairment losses 0.2 0.2 52.2 38.5
Depreciation and impairment 
losses at 31.12. 0.9 0.6 207.3 184.9

Balance sheet value at 31.12. 0.5 0.3 99.8 115.9

Impairment losses for the year amounted to 
DKK 10.6 million, and relate to Dyrup’s activities.

Carrying amount of assets held under fi nance leases  7.1 7.3

Note 16   
Prepayments for and assets in the course of  construction   

Cost at 01.01.   7.6 53.3
Additions   14.4 7.6
Disposals   (8.5) (53.3)

Balance sheet value at 31.12.   13.5 7.6

Note 17   
Investments in subsidiaries   

Cost at 01.01.  473.2 416.7  
Dividends received (56.5) -  

Balance sheet value at 31.12. 416.7 416.7  

Investments in subsidiaries at 31.12.06 consisted of:

Subsidiary Registered  Ownership  Share capital
 offi ce interest DKKm

Dyrup A/S Søborg 100% 100.0
Saabye & Lerche A/S Copenhagen 100% 3.7
Monberg & Thorsen 
Oil A/S Copenhagen 100% 5.0

An overview of the amounts recognised in respect of Dyrup and the other 
consolidated enterprises in the consolidated fi nancial statements is given in 
the segment overview on page 27. Reference is also made to the enclosed 
annual report for Dyrup, which is regarded as an integral part of Monberg & 
Thorsen’s annual report.

Note 18   
Investments in jointly controlled entities and associates   

Cost at 01.01. 427.0 427.0 181.9 81.6
Additions -  (4.1) 100.3
Disposals -  (177.0) -
Cost at 31.12. 427.0 427.0 0.8 181.9

Revaluation/impairment losses at 01.01. -  75.9 39.7
From income statement -  43.4 41.8
Dividends -  (2.3) -
Other adjustments -  7.7 (5.6)
Disposals -  (125.2) -
Revaluation/impairment 
losses at 31.12. - - (0.5) 75.9

Balance sheet value at 31.12. 427.0 427.0 0.3 257.8

The jointly controlled entity in the parent company consists of the 46% owner-
ship interest in MT Højgaard a/s, which has its registered offi ce in Søborg. The 
share capital amounts to DKK 220 million. 

MT Højgaard is a jointly controlled entity according to an agreement entered 
into between the shareholders. MT Højgaard is therefore consolidated in the 
consolidated fi nancial statements by proportionate consolidation. A detailed 
overview of the amounts recognised on a proportionate basis is given in the 
segment overview on page 27. Reference is also made to the enclosed annual 
report for MT Højgaard, which is regarded as an integral part of Monberg & 
Thorsen’s annual report.
   
The proportionate share of MT Højgaard’s share of associates is also included. 
The accounting information for these companies is given in note 14 in MT 
Højgaard’s annual report.

The share of contingent liabilities in associates for which the Group is liable, 
jointly and severally and on a proportionate basis, stood at DKK 0 million at 
31.12. in both years.

 PARENT COMPANY GROUP
 2005 2006 2006 2005 

 PARENT COMPANY GROUP
 2005 2006 2006 2005 
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Note 19   
Receivables from associates   

Cost at 01.01.   2.5 0
Additions   0.1 2.5

Balance sheet value at 31.12.   2.6 2.5

Note 20   
Other securities and equity investments   

Cost at 01.01 and 31.12. 0 0 1.2 1.2

Revaluation/impairment losses at 01.01. - - (0.8) (0.8)
Revaluation/impairment losses - - - -
Revaluation/impairment losses at 31.12. 0 0 (0.8) (0.8)

Balance sheet value at 31.12. 0 0 0.4 0.4

Note 21   
Inventories   

Raw materials and consumables   81.0 73.0
Work in progress   7.9 7.7
Finished goods   185.4 193.1

Balance sheet value at 31.12.   274.3 273.8

Changes for the year:   
Cost at 01.01.   309.8 306.4
Value adjustments   - 1.2
Additions and disposals, net   31.6 2.2
Cost at 31.12.   341.4 309.8

Adjustments at 01.01.   (36.0) (27.7)
Value adjustments   - (0.1)
Impairment losses   (39.8) (12.6)
Reversal of impairment losses   8.7 4.4
Adjustments at 31.12.   (67.1) (36.0)

Balance sheet value at 31.12.   274.3 273.8

Value of inventories recognised at net realisable value  2.3 17.6

The inventories relate primarily to Dyrup’s activities.

Note 22   
Properties for resale   

Cost at 01.01.   135.5 177.1
Additions   13.3 12.9
Disposals   (50.4) (54.5)
Cost at 31.12.   98.4 135.5

Adjustments at 01.01.   3.6 2.9
Reversal of impairment losses   0.6 0.7
Other adjustments   - -
Adjustments at 31.12.   4.2 3.6

Balance sheet value at 31.12.   102.6 139.1

Value of properties recognised at net realisable value  4.1 6.1

Mortgaged properties:   
Carrying amount   2.6 22.8
Year-end balance, loans   1.0 17.2

Properties for resale, consisting primarily of undeveloped sites, are held with 
a view to project development activities in MT Højgaard.

Note 23   
Receivables   

Receivables falling due more than one 
year after the balance sheet date 0 0 3.1 3.8

Receivables falling due more than one year after 
the balance sheet date relate to rent deposits.

Write-downs included in receivables 0 0 57.9 63.9

The fair value of receivables is deemed to correspond to the carrying amount.

Note 24   
Securities   

Bonds 12.8 473.9 514.5 36.1
Mortgages - - - 4.3

Balance sheet value at 31.12. 12.8 473.9 514.5 40.4

Nominal holding 12.6 475.3 516.0 35.9

Bonds maturing more than one year after 
the balance sheet date (market value) 12.8 473.9 491.6 13.6

Maturity of bond portfolio (years) 1.2 1.5 1.6 0.2

Effective interest rate on 
bond portfolio 2.6% 3.7% 3.8% 2.5%

Price sensitivity of bond portfolio 
in case of a one percentage point 
interest rate change 0.2 7.3 8.1 0.2

Bonds deposited as security 
(market value) - - 9.7 -

The parent company and the Group measure the bond portfolio at fair value 
in accordance with IAS 39, as the portfolio functions as cash fl ow reserve, in 
accordance with the Group’s fi nancial policy. The bond portfolio consists of 
listed Danish bonds that are regularly monitored and reported at fair value.

Note 25
The share capital 

The share capital and changes in the share capital in 2006 and the previous 
four years can be broken down as follows   
  A shares B shares Total
Share capital at 01.01.2002 and 31.12.2002  15.4 60.3 75.7
Reduction adopted on 30.04.2003  0 (4.0) (4.0)
Share capital at 31.12.2003, 31.12.2004
31.12.2005 and 31.12.2006  15.4 56.3 71.7

Number of shares of DKK 20 each  768,000 2,817,000 3,585,000

 PARENT COMPANY GROUP
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Note 26  
Interest-bearing liabilities  

Total interest-bearing liabilities can be broken 
down by commitment type as follows:  

Bank loans, etc. - - 511.3 543.5
Lease commitments 
(assets held under fi nance leases) - - 54.0 45.2
Consolidated enterprises 4.1 317.9 -
Total 4.1 317.9 565.3 588.7

Total interest-bearing liabilities can be broken down by currency as follows:  

DKK 4.1 317.9 297.9 348.6
EUR - - 260.9 234.8
Others - - 6.5 5.3
Total 4.1 317.9 565.3 588.7

Total interest-bearing liabilities can be broken down 
by fi xed-rate and fl oating-rate debt as follows: 

Fixed-rate debt - - 310.0 323.7
Floating-rate debt 4.1 317.9 255.3 265.0
Total 4.1 317.9 565.3 588.7

Total interest-bearing liabilities can be broken 
down by effective interest rate as follows:  

Less than 5% 4.1 317.9 484.2 500.4
Between 5% and 7% - - 81.1 88.3
Total 4.1 317.9 565.3 588.7

Weighted average effective interest rate 4.0% 4.0% 4.4% 3.8%

Weighted average remaining 
term (years) 0.5  0.2  3.8  3.7 

Interest-bearing liabilities are recognised 
in the balance sheet as follows:  

Non-current liabilities - - 282.2 317.6
Current liabilities 4.1 317.9 283.1 271.1
Total 4.1 317.9 565.3 588.7

The maturity profi le for the interest-bearing 
liabilities can be broken down as follows:  

Less than one year 4.1 317.9 283.2 271.1
Between one and two years - - 91.9 81.8
Between two and fi ve years - - 137.7 160.0
More than fi ve years - - 52.5 75.8

Total 4.1 317.9 565.3 588.7

The fair value of the interest-bearing liabilities corresponds largely to the 
carrying amount of the debt outstanding at the balance sheet date.

Note 27  
Deferred tax  

Deferred tax net, at 01.01. 15.3 18.6 (17.2) 19.4
Change concerning profi t (loss) 
for the year - - - (36.6)
Change concerning retaxation 
balances abroad 3.3 - - -
Others - - (0.8) -
Adjustment for the year 
via income statement  - (69.6) -

Deferred tax, net, at 31.12. 18.6 18.6 (87.6) (17.2)

Deferred tax in the parent company relates solely to the retaxation balance 
for previously deducted tax losses in Dyrup’s foreign subsidiaries. 

Deferred tax can be broken down as follows:  

Deferred tax assets  
Intangible assets   - 0.6
Property, plant and equipment   70.2 38.4
Current assets   43.7 19.0
Non-current liabilities   5.8 4.4
Current liabilities   5.0 7.5
Tax loss carryforwards   99.1 106.3
Non-capitalised portion   (30.1) (33.6)

Deferred tax assets at 31.12. before set-off   193.7 142.6
Set-off within legal entities and jurisdictions (countries)  44.8 38.8

Balance sheet value at 31.12. - - 148.9 103.8

Deferred tax liabilities  
Intangible assets   12.0 10.9
Property, plant and equipment   48.9 65.5
Investments 18.6 18.6 18.6 18.6
Current assets   19.8 24.5
Non-current liabilities   - 1.6
Current liabilities   6.8 4.3
Deferred tax liabilities at 31.12. 
before set-off 18.6 18.6 106.1 125.4
Set-off within legal entities and 
jurisdictions (countries) - - 44.8 38.8

Balance sheet value at 31.12. 18.6 18.6 61.3 86.6

Deferred tax net, at 31.12. 18.6 18.6 (87.6) (17.2)

Deferred tax is recognised on the basis of the regulatory tax rules and tax 
rates effective in the respective countries. For Danish companies, deferred 
tax has been calculated applying the current Danish tax rate of 28%.

The portion of tax loss carryforwards that is expected to be utilised by set-off 
against future earnings has been capitalised based on a conservative estimate.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (DKKm)
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Note 28   
Provisions   

Provisions at 01.01.   27.4 18.1
Provided in the year   3.5 11.3
Utilised in the year   (0.7) (1.2)
Reversal of unutilised provisions   (0.3) (0.8)

Balance sheet value at 31.12.   29.9 27.4

Provisions are recognised in the 
balance sheet as follows:   
Non-current liabilities   28.7 26.4
Current liabilities   1.2 1.0

Total   29.9 27.4

Expected maturity dates:   
Less than one year   1.2 1.0
Between one and two years   3.6 3.1
Between two and fi ve years   12.9 11.6
More than fi ve years   12.2 11.7

Total   29.9 27.4

Provisions relate to MT Højgaard and comprise mainly provisions for 1-year 
and 5-year guarantee works in respect of completed contracts.

Note 29  
Contract work in progress  

Progress billings   3,254.9 2,394.4
Contracts at selling price   (2,972.9) (2,294.6)

Net balance sheet value at 31.12.   282.0 99.8

Work in progress is recognised in 
the balance sheet as follows:  
Current liabilities   559.7 316.6
Receivables   (277.7) (216.8)

Total   282.0 99.8

Contract work in progress relates solely to MT Højgaard’s activities.

Note 30  
Security  

Guarantees have been provided in respect of:  

Customers   0.8 0.8
Bid bonds   10.0 5.2
Contracts and supplies in progress   789.9 626.3
Completed contracts and supplies   565.8 553.5

Total guarantees provided   1,366.5 1,185.8

The guarantees relate mainly to MT Højgaard’s activities, where normal secu-
rity has also been provided in the form of bank guarantees, guarantee insu-
rances and bond deposits as security for contracts and supplies. 

In addition, land and buildings have been lodged as security for mortgage 
debt, bank loans, etc., see note 13.

Until 2008, Monberg & Thorsen guarantees MT Højgaard’s fulfi lment of its 
 obligations on the Great Belt tunnel within the normal 20-year guarantee 
 period for civil engineering works.

Note 31  
Lease commitments  

Finance leases:  
Finance leases relate to MT Højgaard only.

Total future minimum lease payments:  
Due within one year   19.7 12.8
Due between two and fi ve years   35.7 29.0
Due after more than fi ve years   7.2 9.8

Total   62.6 51.6

Carrying amount (present value)  

Due within one year   5.9 11.3
Due between two and fi ve years   28.7 25.6
Due after more than fi ve years   19.4 9.1

Total   54.0 46.0

Financial expenses   8.6 5.6

Financial expenses, determined as the difference between the total future 
lease payments and the carrying amount (present value) of fi nance leases, 
are recognised in the income statement over the lease term.  

Operating leases:  
Operating leases relate to both Dyrup and MT Højgaard.

Total future minimum lease payments:  
Due within one year   37.4 28.7
Due between two and fi ve years   91.6 71.5
Due after more than fi ve years   37.0 61.6

Total   166.0 161.8

Lease payments relating to operating leases 
recognised in the income statement   35.4 34.3

The Group’s fi nance and operating leases relate primarily to vehicles, 
 operating equipment, mobile cranes and leased premises.

Note 32  
Contingent liabilities  

Other contingent liabilities   0 2.8

Litigation:  
Both the Dyrup Group and the MT Højgaard Group are involved in various 
legal and arbitration proceedings. In management’s opinion, the outcome of 
these proceedings is not expected to have any adverse impact on the Group’s 
fi nancial position.

Monberg & Thorsen is not involved in any litigation.
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Note 33  
Related parties  

The company has a controlling related party relationship with Ejnar og Meta 
Thorsens Fond.

Related parties with signifi cant infl uence comprise the members of the 
companies’ Supervisory Board and Executive Board.

The parent company’s related parties also include subsidiaries and jointly 
controlled entities in which Monberg & Thorsen has control or signifi cant 
infl uence. An overview of the consolidated enterprises is given on page 6.

Apart from intragroup transactions that have been eliminated in the con-
solidated fi nancial statements, and normal management remuneration, no 
transactions have been effected during the year with major shareholders, 
members of the Supervisory Board or Executive Board or other related 
 parties. Management remuneration is disclosed in note 8.
  
The parent company’s balances with subsidiaries and jointly controlled 
 entities at 31.12.06 are disclosed in the balance sheet and relate solely to 
 fi nancial balances on which interest is paid on an arm’s length basis.

The parent company’s interest income and interest expense relating to 
 balances with subsidiaries are disclosed in notes 5 and 6.

The parent company’s dividends from subsidiaries and jointly controlled 
 entities are disclosed in the income statement.
  
  
Note 34  
Joint ventures  

Monberg & Thorsen A/S owns 46 % of MT Højgaard a/s, which is a jointly 
controlled entity. Furthermore, the Group participates, via MT Højgaard 
a/s, in the latter group’s jointly controlled operations and jointly controlled 
 entities. For further details, reference is made to note 26 in the enclosed 
 annual report for MT Højgaard a/s.

Investments in jointly controlled entities are recognised in the consolidated 
fi nancial statements by proportionate consolidation. The parent company 
measures investments in the jointly controlled entity at cost. .

A detailed segment specifi cation of the amounts recognised in the consoli-
dated fi nancial statements in respect of MT Højgaard a/s is given on page 27, 
to which reference is made.

Note 35  
Financial instruments  

  
For a general description of fi nancial risks, including foreign currency, 
 interest rate and credit risks as well as the Group’s policy in these areas, 
 reference is made to Risk factors in the management’s review on page 17.
  
Derivative fi nancial instruments  
The Group primarily uses forward exchange contracts to hedge contractual 
and budgeted cash fl ows. Changes in the value of derivative fi nancial instru-
ments in Dyrup and MT Højgaard are recognised in the income statement 
under fi nancial income and expenses as they arise, as they do not qualify for 
hedge accounting.
  
The open forward exchange contracts at 31.12.06 had a remaining term of up 
to one year.
  
Open forward exchange contracts at 31.12.06 were in GBP and had a fair 
 value of DKK 15.1 million compared with DKK 39.2 million at the end of 
2005.
  
  
Note 36  
Accounting estimates and judgements  

Estimation uncertainty
Determining the carrying amounts of some assets and liabilities requires 
estimation of the events of future events on the carrying amounts of those 
assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date. Estimates that are material for 
the fi nancial reporting relate primarily to the selling price of contract work in 
progress.

The estimates applied are based on assumptions which are sound, in 
 management’s opinion, but which, by their nature, are uncertain and 
 unpredictable. The assumptions may be incomplete or inaccurate, and 
 unforeseen events or circumstances may occur. Moreover, the company is 
subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause the actual results to differ 
from these estimates. 

Special risks for the Group are referred to on page 17 of the management’s 
review.

Basis for management’s judgements
As part of the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management 
makes assessments, in addition to estimates, that may have a material effect 
on the amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements.

The judgements that have the greatest impact on the amounts recognised in 
the fi nancial statements relate primarily to contract work in progress.

In management’s opinion, no judgements have been made in connection 
with the accounting policies in the fi nancial reporting for 2006 with compa-
rative fi gures for 2005, apart from the accounting estimates referred to above, 
that have a material effect on the fi nancial reporting.
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Note 37  
New accounting standards  

The IASB and the EU have adopted the following new accounting standards 
and interpretations that are not mandatory for Monberg & Thorsen in con-
nection with the preparation of the annual report for 2006:

IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments
IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (yet to be adopted by the EU)
IFRIC 7  “Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial 

 Reporting in Hyperinfl ationary Economies”
IFRIC 8 “Scope of IFRS 2”
IFRIC 9 “Reassessment of Embedded Derivaties”
IFRIC 10  “Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment” (yet to be adopted 

by the EU)
IFRIC 11  “Group and Treasury Share Transactions” (yet to be adopted by 

the EU)
IFRIC 12 “Service Concession Arrangements” (yet to be adopted by the EU)

None of the new accounting standards and interpretations listed above is 
expected to have any effect on the Monberg & Thorsen Group’s fi nancial 
reporting in or after 2007, apart from the fact that additional supplementary 
information may have to be provided in the fi nancial statements.

Note 38   
Events after the balance sheet date   

So far as management is aware, no events have occurred between 31 
 December 2006 and the date of signing of the annual report which will 
have a material effect on the Monberg & Thorsen Group’s fi nancial position 
at 31.12.06, other than the effects that are recognised and referred to in the 
annual report. 

Note 39 
Segment information

A detailed segment breakdown of the consolidated fi gures in the consolidated 
fi nancial statements is given on page 27, and the integrated annual reports 
of Dyrup A/S and MT Højgaard a/s include detailed information about their 
operations and development.      
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INCOME STATEMENT 2006  2005

Revenue 906.4 729.5
Production costs 788.0 608.2
  
Gross profi t 118.4 121.3
  
Share of profi t after tax of associates 5.8 5.5
Distribution costs 81.1 78.9
Administrative expenses 34.6 33.7
Other operating income 
and expenses 17.1 (5.8)
  
Operating profi t 25.6 8.4
  
Financial income 3.6 2.7
Financial expenses 3.6 5.4
  
Profi t before tax 23.6 5.7
  
Income tax expense (1.9) (2.4)
  
Consolidated profi t 25.5 8.1

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
  
Cash fl ows from operating activities 26.9 28.9

Investing activities  
Intangible assets (0.9) (3.4)
Property, plant and equipment (16.3) (14.6)
Investments 63.9 (13.3)
Acquisition/disposal of 
enterprises and activities 0.4 (3.4)
Securities (63.7) 4.9
  
Cash fl ows for investing activities (16.6) (29.8)
  
Cash fl ows before fi nancing activities 10.3 (0.9)
  
Financing activities  
Dividends paid to shareholders (5.8) (7.7)
Minority interests (0.2) (0.1)
Change in non-current loans, etc. (2.8) (5.0)
  
Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities (8.8) (12.8)

Net increase (decrease) in cash 
and cash equivalents 1.5 (13.7)
  
Cash and cash equivalents at 01.01. 9.1 22.8
  
Cash and cash equivalents at 31.12. 10.6 9.1

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IN EURO  (EURm)

The conversion rate is the offi cial exchange rate at 31.12.

BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2006  2005

ASSETS  
  
Fixed assets  
  
Intangible assets anlægsaktiver  
Goodwill 12.0 11.7
Trade marks and distribution rights 5.2 7.3
Development projects in progress 1.2 1.0
 18.4 20.0

Property, plant and equipment  
Land and buildings 53.9 51.7
Plant and machinery 45.7 48.2
Fixtures and fi ttings, tools and equipment 13.4 15.6
Prepayments and assets in the 
course of construction 1.8 1.0
 114.8 116.5

Investments  
Investments in associates - 34.6
Other securities and equity investments 0.4 0.4
Deferred tax 20.0 13.9
 20.4 48.9
  
Total fi xed assets 153.6 185.4
  
Current assets  
Inventories 50.5 55.3
Receivables 230.8 184.6
Securities 69.0 5.4
Cash and cash equivalents 41.4 41.0
  
Total current assets 391.7 286.3
  
Total assets 545.3 471.7
  
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  
  
Equity  
Share capital 9.6 9.6
Translation reserve 1.5 1.5
Retained earnings 173.2 164.9
Proposed dividends 17.3 5.8
Attributable to minority interests 1.5 1.2
Total equity 203.1 183.0
  
Non-current liabilities 49.9 57.6
  
Current liabilities 292.3 231.1
  
Total equity and liabilities 545.3 471.7
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Group profi le

Dyrup develops and markets innovative quality products in 
wood care and paints that protect, preserve and beautify 
homes and buildings.

The Group’s activities focus on Europe, where Dyrup has a 
presence in a number of markets. Dyrup enjoys a particularly 
strong position within wood care, where the Group’s largest 
markets are France, Germany and Denmark. Within paints, 
the principal market areas are Denmark and the Iberian 
Peninsula, where Portugal is the largest market. 

Dyrup’s four largest markets generate almost 80% of Dyrup’s 
revenue. The remaining revenue comes primarily from the 
other European markets, where Dyrup markets its products 
and services through own companies or distributors. 

Dyrup’s principal sales channels are: the DIY retail trade, the 
professional trade (wholesalers and professional decorators) 
and direct and indirect sales to industrial customers, 
primarily timber and window manufacturers. 

DIY accounts for 43% of revenue, the professional trade for 
39% and industrial customers for 18%. Sales of wood care 
and other solutions for outdoor applications account for 
more than 60% of revenue.

Dyrup’s position and reputation in various markets are linked 
to the Group’s recognised, international brands, BONDEX 
and GORI, which are supplemented by a few strong, local 
brands, including, of course, Dyrup.

The demand in the market is met primarily through in-house 
production and, to a lesser extent, by bought-in, mainly 
non-paint-related goods for resale. Dyrup has production 
facilities in Denmark, France, Portugal, Spain and Poland.

 SALG: 
Danmark 
Norge 
Sverige
Portugal
Spanien
Frankrig 
Tyskland 
Polen 
Østrig 
Belgien

DISTRIBUTØR: 
Irland 
Storbritannien 
Italien 
Schweiz 
Grækenland 
Ungarn
Tjekkiet 
Estland 
Letland 
Litauen

SALES:
Denmark
Norway
Sweden
Portugal
Spain
France
Germany
Poland
Austria
Belgium

DISTRIBUTOR: 
Ireland 
UK 
Italy
Schwitzerland 
Greece 
Hungary
Czech Republic 
Estonia 
Latvia 
Lithuania
Slovakia
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Financial highlights for the years 2002 – 2006 DKKm

              Pro forma*    

Group       2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Income statement
Revenue
Gross profi t
Operating profi t before special items (EBIT)
Net fi nancing costs
Profi t (loss) before tax
Profi t (loss) for the year

Balance sheet 
Share capital
Equity
Balance sheet total 
Interest-bearing assets
Interest-bearing liabilities
Invested capital

Cash fl ows statement
From operating activities
For investing activities **)
From fi nancing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
**) portion relating to property, plant and equipment (gross)                  

Financial ratios (%)
Gross margin
Operating margin (EBIT margin)
Pre-tax margin
Return on invested capital (ROIC)
Return on equity (ROE)
Equity ratio
Earnings per DKK 20 share (EPS), DKK

Other information
Average number of employees                                                                                

The fi nancial ratios have been calculated in accordance with the Danish Society of Financial Analysts’ “Recommendations 
& Financial Ratios 2005”. Financial ratios are defi ned on page 24 of the annual report.

The fi nancial highlights for 2004-2006 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

*The fi nancial highlights for 2002-2003 are pro forma fi gures, with the existing fi nancial highlights based on the Danish 
Financial Statements Act and Danish Accounting Standards having been restated, in all material respects, to comply with 
IFRS practice.  Adjustment has been made in the income statement for the effect of the discontinuation of goodwill 
amortisation, while no restatements have been made in the balance sheet.
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Vision, Mission and Values

We want to be the European market leader in wood care. 

We want to be the enthusiastic and responsive partner in 
our fi elds providing strong brands, innovative products and 
trusted solutions.

MISSION

We provide protective and decorative products and solu-
tions with superior benefi ts for homes and buildings via a 
lean and innovative value chain.

Excelling in our fi eld we want to generate growth and cre-
ate value for our customers and shareholders.

We will build a winning culture where passionate employ-
ees work as a team.

  • WE DARE   

     We don’t accept not trying, but we do accept mistakes

  • WE KEEP OUR PROMISES

    We commit and deliver

  • WE DELIGHT OUR CUSTOMERS

    We exceed customers` expectations

  • WE ARE OPEN TO CHANGE

    We are curious, fl exible and adaptable

  • WE EXECUTE OUR DECISIONS

    We turn words into action

  • WE ARE OPEN MINDED AND HONEST

    What we think is what we say and what we do

VISION       VALUES



4

Like 2005, 2006 was a challenging year for Dyrup with 
stagnating sales and a declining result. The focusing of 
Dyrup commenced in 2005 continued in 2006 with a view to 
improving effi ciency and earnings.

The new Executive Board that was put in place in mid-2006 
found that the foundation for the strategy was weaker than 
assumed. The costs for implementation of the strategy are 
therefore higher than expected, and it has been necessary 
to make signifi cant write-downs of both fi xed assets and 
inventories. 

At DKK 1,660 million, revenue was slightly down on 2005 
and the outlook at the start of the year. Like 2005, the result 
for the year was affected by special items in the region of 
DKK 47 million, which meant that the consolidated result 
after tax was a loss of DKK 45 million. 

INCOME STATEMENT

The development in revenue was affected by the diffi cult 
market conditions in the DIY area, where private label 
increased signifi cantly more than the general market growth 
in 2006. Dyrup’s accessible market was consequently re-
duced, especially within DIY, which accounts for more than 
40% of revenue.

In Denmark, revenue was in line with the previous year, 
while, in France, it was DKK 30 million down, compared with 
an expected improvement. France, Dyrup’s largest market, 
experienced sharpened competition in 2006, both on the 
supplier side and the customer side, leading to loss of market 
shares and lower earnings.

In Germany, recent years’ negative trend turned around to a 
4% increase in revenue. Dyrup also succeeded in reversing 
the trend in Portugal to a small increase in revenue and a 
profi t compared with 2005. Despite a fi rst half in which the 
negative trend from 2005 continued, the trend was reversed 
to an improvement in the second half. The initiatives put in 
motion in 2005 and 2006 thus reversed the negative trend 
in both Germany and Portugal.

Persistent pressure on prices and increased raw material 
prices result in a decreasing gross margin. Conversely, 
effi ciency improvement measures in the production area 
(Lean) meant that these costs could be kept on a par with 
the previous year. Overall, gross profi t was DKK 680 million 
compared with DKK 703 million in 2005. The gross margin 
thus fell from 41.8% to 41.0%.

The total distribution costs were slightly lower than in 2005, 
primarily refl ecting the strategic measures, with formation 
of regions and the winding up of loss-making activities 
in several markets. Administrative expenses were cut by 
approx. 7%, partly as a consequence of the staff reductions 
in 2005.

The operating result before special items was consequently 
a profi t of DKK 5 million compared with DKK 16 million the 
previous year. It has thus not been possible to fully reduce 
costs in step with the fall in revenue and gross profi t. 

The special items in 2006 amounted to DKK 47 million after 
set-off of non-recurring income of DKK 16 million from 
the sale of trade mark rights in Egypt. These items related 
primarily to unusual and signifi cant items in connection with 
the restructuring of Dyrup that commenced in 2005. During 
2006 it was found that the implementation of the strategy 
and the focusing of Dyrup are more time-consuming and the 
costs involved signifi cantly higher than fi rst assumed. This 
applies, fi rst and foremost, to costs for winding up of loss-
making activities. 

The special items include costs for additional focusing of 
Dyrup, including staff reductions and termination of the 
activities within DIY and the professional area in Norway. 
In addition, additional write-downs of property, plant and 
equipment were necessary. Inventories were also written 
down selectively as a consequence of the strategic measures. 
The full-year result after tax was consequently a loss of DKK 
42 million.

Net fi nancing costs increased to DKK 24 million. The result 
before tax was consequently a loss of DKK 66 million, and 
the result after tax a loss of DKK 45 million. 

BALANCE SHEET

The consolidated balance sheet total closed the year in 
the region of DKK 1.2 billion compared with DKK 1.3 billion 
in 2005. The decline was due primarily to the fi xed assets, 
where capital expenditure was only DKK 23 million, at the 
same time as depreciation and impairment losses rose 
to DKK 90 million, with impairment losses accounting for 
DKK 18 million.

Inventories were at the same level as the previous year. 
Total receivables showed a small decrease. 

Equity stood at DKK 442 billion, equivalent to an equity ratio 
of 36%, up from 38% at the end of 2005.

Net interest-bearing debt stood at DKK 376 million at the 
end of 2006 compared with DKK 414 million at the end of 
2005. In view of the result for the year, the development in 
operating cash fl ows was satisfactory.
 

CASH FLOWS

Operating cash infl ow was DKK 65 million, on a par with 
2005. Total investments and capital expenditure were 
down by DKK 30 million on 2005 to DKK 27 million, overall. 
Property, plant and equipment accounted for most of capital 
expenditure in 2006. 

In 2006, cash fl ows for fi nancing activities related solely to a 
DKK 20 million decrease in non-current fi nancial liabilities. 

The net cash fl ow for the year was an infl ow of DKK 19 
million, largely corresponding to the increase in cash and 
cash equivalents. Net cash and cash equivalents consequently 
amounted to DKK (157) million. 

Management’s review
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The fi nancial resources are considered satisfactory to 
underpin Dyrup’s continued development, which will entail 
major investments in the coming years. 

OUTLOOK FOR 2007

Dyrup expects modest market growth in its markets in 2007, 
with Spain and Portugal and the industrial area in general 
contributing the highest growth. 

Dyrup expects, as a minimum, to hold its position in its 
principal markets and to expand its position in the industrial 
area, which is also expected to grow in 2007. Dyrup will 
thus be making a targeted effort to strengthen its position 
in wood care and to generate growth in the markets in 
which Dyrup currently enjoys a strong position. This will 
be achieved, among other things, through the launch of 
innovative products underpinned by increased marketing, 
which have a benefi cial effect in the years ahead.

Dyrup will invest substantial resources again in 2007 in 
effi ciency improvement and improvement of the company’s 
infrastructure in order to enhance its competitiveness.

Overall, revenue in the region of DKK 1.7 billion is 
anticipated. Due to the deliberate increase in costs for 
market communications, product innovation and general 
skills development, the operating result is expected to show 
a small loss. The result after tax is consequently expected to 
be a loss in the region of DKK 20 million compared with a 
loss after tax of DKK 45 million in 2006.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies follow the accounting policies 
applied by the parent company Monberg & Thorsen, which 
is listed. The annual report has been prepared in accordance 
with IFRS and applying the same policies as in 2005.  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Dyrup is not listed, but wholly-owned by the listed Monberg 
& Thorsen. Dyrup’s Corporate Governance principles are 
essentially identical to those applied by Monberg & Thorsen. 
The current principles are described at www.monthor.dk and 
in the parent company’s annual report, to which reference 
is made.

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION

On 1 June 2006, Erik Holm took up the post of new CEO of 
Dyrup. Erik Holm came from the post of CEO of Louis Poulsen 
Holding A/S.

Hanne Lund, Executive Vice President, Finance, stepped 
down from the Executive Board on 4 September 2006.
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MARKET DEVELOPMENT 2006

The markets in which Dyrup is represented with paints and 
wood care showed a small improvement in 2006, overall. 
The general market trend was thus slightly more positive 
than anticipated at the start of the year.

The general market growth is driven primarily by the industrial 
market and also by the professional market. Good market 
conditions and growth in construction have a positive effect 
on both of these market areas.

The overall DIY market increased only marginally, whereas 
the share accounted for by private label is still increasing to 
the effect that the market for branded products is diminishing 
year on year. The increase in private label in 2006 was 
signifi cantly higher than the market growth, especially in 
the DIY area, which accounts for more than 40% of Dyrup’s 
revenue. This increasing trend was most pronounced in 
France, to which should be added intensifi ed competition 
between the manufacturers, which has been instrumental 
in reducing earnings. Progress was made in both the 
professional and the industrial areas.

Denmark
Dyrup’s revenue in Denmark was in line with 2005. A 
sustained high level of activity in the construction sector 
generated progress in excess of 8% in the professional trade, 
which is estimated to be on a par with the market growth. 
The DIY market is considered to be fl at. Here, Dyrup realised 
revenue below the previous year’s level. Dyrup retained its 
market share within the industrial area in Denmark.

France
In France, Dyrup experienced a substantial fall in sales due to 
a very diffi cult market situation. A falling and price-sensitive 
DIY market, coupled with extremely fi erce competition 
between the large chains of builders merchants, led to 
an overall decline and a loss of market shares, partly due 
a steep increase in private label. In the professional and 
industrial markets, Dyrup delivered revenue in line with 
the previous year. Revenue was thus down on the general 
market development.

Germany
In the stagnating German market, Dyrup recorded a sales 
increase of just under 4%, overall. The increase was 
attributable to the DIY market, where Dyrup focused its 
efforts on wood care, strengthening its market leading 
position signifi cantly during year, so that Dyrup is now again 
No. 1 in DIY wood care. Efforts in the professional area were 
reorganised during the year, and there is a sound basis for an 
improvement in 2007 compared with the decline in revenue 
experienced in 2006. The growth in the industrial area was 
satisfactory in a falling market.

Portugal
After several years of a negative market trend in the 
professional market, it was a positive sign that the decline 
in 2006 was limited. However, Dyrup lost some ground at the 
start of the year in a slightly falling market, although recent 
years’ decline was reversed in the second half, especially 
on the earnings front. The DIY market is increasing its share 

of the overall market, but is still somewhat smaller than 
the professional market. In the DIY market, Dyrup’s sales 
development signifi cantly outperformed the general market 
growth, primarily refl ecting the launch of several innovative 
products and concepts. Overall, Dyrup’s sales were slightly 
ahead of the previous year.

Spain
Dyrup is primarily a supplier to the professional market, but 
with a good position within the growing, but still restricted 
DIY market. Dyrup has made good progress in the DIY market 
thanks to a number of product launches within paints. At 
the same time, the development in the professional market 
was satisfactory and ahead of the market development. 
Overall, Dyrup recorded a 5% increase in sales in the Spanish 
market.

Poland 
Dyrup’s sales to industrial customers again considerably 
outperformed the still growing industrial market. Dyrup’s 
growth in the industrial market thus secured overall growth 
in the Polish business, despite the decline in sales to DIY 
and the professional market being higher than the decline 
in the general market.
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DEVELOPMENT IN REVENUE 
BY MARKET 2002- 2006 DKKm

DEVELOPMENT IN CONSOLIDATED 
REVENUE 2002- 2006 DKKm
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At the start of 2006, Dyrup launched STRATEGY 2008 with 
the aim of focusing Dyrup and creating profi table growth 
in the lead up to 2009.

The basic elements of the strategy still stand. However, the 
development in 2006 has shown that the implementation 
of the strategy is taking longer, and that the costs will be 
signifi cantly higher than expected, especially in connec-
tion with the winding up of loss-making activities. To this 
should be added the fact that the market development 
in 2006, with persistent severe competition and intensi-
fi ed price pressure, has generally led to lower earnings in 
several of Dyrup’s principal markets, particularly France, 
where the proportion accounted for by private label has 
also been rising steeply.

It must thus be concluded that the fi nancial targets in 
STRATEGY 2008 cannot be achieved within the strategy 
period.

Acquisitions are an important element of the strategy, 
as organic growth in itself is not suffi cient to secure the 
earnings targets that have been set. No acquisitions were 
made in 2006, but relevant acquisition candidates are be-
ing analysed to clarify whether it will be possible to imple-
ment any acquisitions in 2007 that can strengthen Dyrup’s 
strategic position. Alternatively, relevant business partners 
are being considered.

Until this has been clarifi ed, Dyrup will work intensively, in 
accordance with STRATEGY 2008, on securing its basic busi-
ness, where a focusing of Dyrup’s activities and strength-
ening of its foundation will still be required.

A revised strategy for the coming three years will then be 
prepared in which new fi nancial targets will be set. The 
main strategic elements of STRATEGY 2008 will still apply 
for the current core business.

STRATEGY 2008
The strategy focuses on development and strengthening 
of Dyrup’s strong positions within selected product cat-
egories and geographical market areas. The overall theme 
is to grow business areas that can be made profi table by 
the end of the strategy period, for example by exploiting 
the edge Dyrup has by virtue of the signifi cant position it 
already enjoys in wood care. 

The key elements of the strategy are as follows:

Developing market position
The strategic objective is for Dyrup to be among the top 
three in the markets in which the company markets its 
products measured in terms of market share. One of the 
keys for strengthening the relationship with customers and 
end users is Dyrup’s well-known and recognised brands, 
and the investment in these will be stepped up.

Dyrup must strengthen its market positions within wood 
care in its existing principal markets and within paints in 
Denmark and the Iberian Peninsula.

Considerable organic growth must be ensured in the in-
dustrial area, where Dyrup wishes to strengthen its posi-
tion as market leader within outdoor wood care for the 
wood-working industry in Europe.

Strengthening distribution
Dyrup will strengthen its position and invest within the 
professional area. The distribution will be strengthened 
through own paint centres, through wholesalers and 
through alliances with other suppliers in the market.

The strong European market position within the DIY area 
must, as a minimum, be maintained in builders’ merchants 
and supermarket chains. Furthermore, the distributor net-
works in Denmark and Portugal will be strengthened and 
upgraded.

Technology leader and innovation
Dyrup will strengthen its development activities to secure 
a position among the technological market leaders within 
wood care. Innovative solutions must be launched on a 
regular basis at European level in response to customer 
and consumer wishes.

Optimisation and effi ciency improvement
Dyrup will create effi ciency improvements throughout its 
value chain, including supply chain, administration, sales, 
marketing and development. The effi ciency improvements 
will emanate from the heightened focus on specifi c busi-
ness areas and the introduction of Lean principles in the 
supply chain and parts of the administration.

As a consequence of the focus on key areas, the complex-
ity must be reduced throughout the business through 
targeted process improvements.
   
Dyrup will strengthen its employees’ skills to equip them to 
undertake the demanding tasks and ensure the organisa-
tional foundation required to underpin the strategic changes.

THE DIY MARKET

Dyrup’s customers in the DIY market are paint shops and 
builders’ merchants, whose main customers are private 
individuals. The share of the total market accounted for by 
DIY varies substantially from market to market in Europe, 
and the proportion is the lowest, but growing, in Southern 
Europe.

Dyrup’s sales to the DIY market, which account for 43% of 
consolidated revenue, declined in 2006, while it is esti-
mated that the general market showed a slightly upward 
trend.

In future, Dyrup will, as a minimum, hold its positions in the 
DIY area in its principal markets. One of the prerequisites 
for this remains strong branded products supported by the 
roll-out of innovative products and concepts that supple-
ment and renew the existing portfolio of quality products. 
Increased marketing and continued launches of innovative 
products feature among Dyrup’s focus areas for 2007.

STRATEGY DELIBERATIONS
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THE PROFESSIONAL MARKET

Dyrup caters for the professional market through own 
dealers, independent wholesalers specialising in paints 
and professional builders’ merchants. The end users are 
primarily professional decorators.

In 2006, the professional market accounted for 39% of 
Dyrup’s revenue.

The professional market is, to a great extent, driven by 
the development in construction, which has shown growth 
of approx. 2% in Dyrup’s markets in 2006. It is estimated 
that the professional market had slightly lower growth, 
corresponding to Dyrup’s sales growth, driven by good 
sales progress in Denmark.

A strengthening of Dyrup’s position is in focus for 2007.

10%

35%55%

Market: Relative sizes of sales channels
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Dyrup serves two customer types in the industrial market.

One group, which accounts for approx. 70% of revenue, 
consists of manufacturers of wood products for outdoor 
applications such as windows, doors, wood cladding, gar-
den furniture and fencing, where it is necessary to apply 
surface protection to the wood product to preserve and 
beautify it. The products for this customer group are de-
veloped and manufactured in Kolding, Denmark, and are 
marketed under the GORI brand name.

Typical customers in the other customer group are sawmills 
using products for impregnating wood used in building 
structures. The products are marketed and sold primarily 
in France, under the Xylophene brand name. In the French 
industrial market, Dyrup also sells aftercare products for 
existing timber structures and products to prevent and 
treat termite infestation. The products for these customers 
are developed and manufactured in Albi, France.

Overall, the industrial market in Europe showed a slightly 
upward trend, and Dyrup strengthened its position. Within 
outdoor surface protection, in particular, Dyrup succeeded 
in expanding its market position still further despite cut-
throat price competition and an already strong market po-
sition. Sales of surface protection products, in particular, 
rose in 2006, and this growth is expected to continue in 
2007, partly driven by the Polish and German markets. A 
strengthened distribution structure, primarily in the Baltic 
States – but also the distribution agreements in Hungary, 
the Ukraine, Italy, the Czech Republic and, especially, the 
UK – will also contribute to the continued positive develop-
ment in Dyrup’s industrial area.

PRODUCT INNOVATION

Development of new, innovative products is one of Dyrup’s 
key competitive parameters. Dyrup’s innovative efforts in 
2006 concentrated on outdoor wood care, in keeping with 
the strategy.

In the French and German DIY markets, Dyrup launched 
a new wood care product incorporating nanotechnology. 
Nanotechnology enhances the product’s ability to block UV 
rays and repel water. In the Danish market, the product 
”GORI 99 Extreme” was rolled out. ”Extreme” refers to the 
fact that, by applying a new technology, an extended life 
of as much as 15 years has been achieved.

In the Spanish and Portuguese markets, Dyrup’s collabora-
tion with the Spanish designer Agatha Ruiz De La Prada led 
to the launch of a range of paints in the Spanish designer’s 
striking colours and patterns, which is marketed under the 
name “Agatha by Bondex”. The concept was met with a 
very positive reception in both markets and will therefore 
also be launched in France in 2007.

In the coming years, much of Dyrup’s product development 
will be aimed at meeting EU requirements. Even though 
it is a highly resource-intensive development task, Dyrup 

THE INDUSTRIAL MARKET

still views sharpened EU requirements as an opportunity 
to enhance its competitiveness. Dyrup is consequently 
reformulating its strategically important wood care prod-
ucts. The reformulation is proceeding to plan.

In 2007, Dyrup will continue its development activities 
with focus on wood care products incorporating nan-
otechnology. Dyrup also expects to launch a product in 
Denmark, “GORI 99 Extreme Transparent”, that embodies 
this technology. At the same time, Dyrup expects to intro-
duce products that ensure easier and faster application. 
One such example is “GORI 2 in 1”, a wood care product 
incorporating both primer and surface protection in one 
product.

THE SUPPLY CHAIN

The supply chain covers the activities from the minute the 
customer’s order is received through to delivery of the 
agreed products and services.
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Today, Dyrup has production facilities in Denmark, France, 
Spain, Portugal and Poland, and warehousing facilities in 
several of the European countries in which the products 
are marketed. The Group regularly aligns and optimises its 
supply chain to create a competitive infrastructure. 

Lean as production concept is being implemented at all 
Dyrup’s factories. Implementation is in the form of a roll-
out based on best practice. In this context, the Søborg 
factory functions as a pilot factory. The activities under 
the Lean umbrella have resulted in signifi cant increases in 
productivity and a substantial reduction in waste from the 
production processes.

The Lean concept requires new and different skills among 
the employees and greater fl exibility. The employees are 
consequently undergoing training, throughout the proc-
ess, to enable them to meet these requirements.

The centralisation of warehousing facilities continued in 
2006. In Portugal and Spain, the number of warehous-

ing locations was reduced. In 2007, it will be considered 
whether additional central warehousing solutions can 
underpin a future service concept and improve effi ciency 
within selected areas. In 2007, as part of these efforts, 
Dyrup will be launching a VMI concept (Vendor Managed 
Inventories) targeting Dyrup’s large customers.

BRANDS

Dyrup markets itself using a number of powerful, interna-
tional brands. The most important of these are BONDEX and 
GORI. Dyrup’s strategy for its branded products, with BON-
DEX being used for the DIY market, and GORI being Dyrup’s 
brand for the professional and industrial markets, has been 
implemented in the markets in which this is relevant. In 
Denmark, GORI is still used within DIY. The Dyrup name is 
used as a brand name for paints in Denmark and Portugal. 
At the same time, Dyrup uses strong, local brand names 
such as Xylophene in France. 
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A strengthening of Dyrup’s brands is a key element of Dyrup’s 
strategy. Particularly in the DIY market for wood care, Dyrup 
will intensify its marketing with a view to further strength-
ening and developing its already signifi cant positions. 

Breakdown of Dyrup’s revenue by brand 2006

ENVIRONMENT

It is paramount for Dyrup to be environmentally responsible 
in all its activities and to continually comply with current 
environmental legislation.

External environment
Dyrup’s factories in France and Portugal have ISO 14001 
certification, and the Group’s other factories apply proce-
dures that ensure a high level of environmental responsibi-
lity. Dyrup applies rigid procedures to check that it complies 
with the statutory limit values for each country.

The two Danish factories in Søborg and Kolding present green 
accounts in accordance with current legislation.

At the end of 2006, the Søborg factory began testing a new 
method for soil treatment based on introducing heat to 
the soil, thereby removing the contamination faster than 
by use of existing methods. The results will be evaluated 
during 2007.

It is judged that there are no new environmental challenges 
at Dyrup’s manufacturing sites or known environmental laws 
or regulations affecting Dyrup’s manufacturing sites that 
Dyrup is not complying with or could comply with when 
they become effective.

Product environment
The environmental legislation in Europe is regularly adjust-
ed and expanded. This has implications for Dyrup and the 
Group’s products.

REACH
The REACH regulation was adopted by the EU at the end 
of 2006 and becomes effective on 1 June 2007. The regu-
lation introduces a series of new requirements concerning 

documentation and application of chemical substances and 
risk assessment of the effect of the chemical substances on 
humans and the environment.

The chemical substances that are comprised by REACH must 
be tested and recorded. In that connection, Dyrup, as a user 
of chemicals (so-called downstream user), may potentially 
be faced with demands concerning necessary adjustment 
and development of its products. Dyrup has been preparing 
for the new legislation for a number of years. 

Labelling
An adjustment of the EU labelling rules was introduced 
in 2006. The new rules entail tightened requirements for 
labelling where products are hazardous to the aquatic en-
vironment, and relate to the active substances, especially 
the biocides.  Dyrup geared itself for these changes in 
the course of 2006. In some instances, this led to product 
adjustments, while, in other instances, it led to labelling 
changes. The new labelling rules become effective in the 
EU on 1 March 2007.

VOC
The VOC Directive concerning reduction of the content of 
organic solvents in products reached the first milestone on 
1 January 2007. Dyrup has aligned all the relevant products 
to the new limit values and is continuing the planning and 
implementation of the next phase, where the limits for VOC 
content will become even more stringent.

With its long-standing experience in water-based products, 
Dyrup has a number of advantages in the cost-intensive 
process of change facing the industry. We therefore expect 
that the increased environmental requirements may offer 
opportunities for competitive advantages for Dyrup.

BPD
The rules from the BPD Directive, an EU harmonisation for 
approvals of active substances in products, have moved a 
step closer. Dyrup is concentrating on developing and testing 
recipes within relevant product areas with a view to contin-
ually adapting its products.

SKILLS

Being innovative is a competitive parameter for Dyrup. Dyrup 
needs to be increasingly fl exible and effi cient in order to 
meet the requirements for change and adaptation. Production 
methods, distribution networks, IT systems, communications 
systems and employee knowledge and skills therefore need 
to be continually improved.

Action areas for skills development were identifi ed during the 
year. As a consequence, the focus in 2007 will be on attract-
ing and developing employees and skills with the long-term 
perspective of creating a stable platform for the future devel-
opment of the business. For example, an extensive Leadership 
Development Programme is underway. 

BONDEX

DYRUP

GORI

XYLOPHENE

ØVRIGE

8%
17%

22% 25%

28%
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Competition for the scarce labour resources in the Danish mar-
ket also affected Dyrup in 2006. One of the consequences was 
a higher employee turnover than normal, at the same time as 
recruitment of new employees has become more diffi cult as 
a result of the growing shortage of suitable candidates. This 
challenge is expected to persist for some years to come.

Dyrup’s competitiveness and positive development rely on 
bringing new products and services to the market quickly. 
Dyrup therefore seeks to tighten its market focus during the 
development process by increasingly bringing the develop-
ment functions and the sales and marketing functions closer 
together. 

In 2006, Dyrup’s staff number averaged 961, down 8% on 
2005. Dyrup had 954 employees at the end of the year. A 
breakdown of employees by country is given to the right.

Breakdown of employees by Dyrup market

OTHERS

DENMARK

PORTUGAL

FRANCE

GERMANY

POLAND

SPAIN

41%

19%

16%

10%
6%

6% 1%
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Cyclical fl uctuations, political intervention and changing 
weather conditions can result in fl uctuations in demand 
from one year to the next.

Effective risk management at all levels of the organisation 
is instrumental in protecting Dyrup’s values and achieving 
planned results.

Commercial factors
Some of the raw materials used by Dyrup are only avail-
able from a handful of suppliers. Wherever possible, Dyrup 
seeks to obtain guarantees with respect to agreed supply 
capacity and stable price formation.

The price formation of some raw materials depends, di-
rectly or indirectly, on the oil price, a market force which is 
outside Dyrup’s control.

Consolidation among Dyrup’s large customers in the DIY 
market puts pressure on prices, and this may impact on 
Dyrup’s earnings.

Dyrup pursues a tight credit policy, with trade receivables 
being continually monitored and, in a few markets, partly 
insured. These measures help to keep losses on bad debts 
down, although these efforts are being inhibited by the 
tradition of extended credit periods in some markets.

Financial factors
Dyrup’s fi nancial transactions are mainly in euro or curren-
cies linked to the euro. The currency exposure is therefore 
limited, and is hedged using conventional fi nancial instru-
ments where deemed necessary.

Dyrup’s non-current debt consists of fi xed-interest loans, 
and the credit costs correspond to the current level. The in-
terest rate on cash and short-term bank loans is variable.

Dyrup’s cash resources and credit facilities are adequate to 
secure its operations and planned capital expenditure.

Other factors
Insurable risks are insured to ensure that the Group’s fi -
nancial position will not be jeopardised by any damage, 
injuries or any acts that give rise to liability. Besides statu-
tory insurances, the Group has taken out business inter-
ruption and product liability insurance.

Through risk management based on mapping of the 
Group’s risks, preventive action is taken that assists in con-
taining the Group’s risk costs.

All Dyrup’s strategic trade marks are registered and moni-
tored through international trademark agents.

RISK FACTORS
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Jørgen Nicolajsen
•  President, Monberg & Thorsen A/S
•  (MB) MT Højgaard A/S

Erik Holm
•  (MB) SP Group A/S
•  (MB) Arvid Nilsson A/S
•  (MB) Arvid Nilsson Fond
•  (MB) Investeringskomiteen 

         LD Equity 1 K/S

Hans Bennetzen
•  Divisional President, 

Group 4 Securicor
•  (MB) Monberg & Thorsen A/S

Mogens Granborg
•  Executive Vice President, 

Danisco A/S
•  (CB) Monberg & Thorsen A/S
•  (CB) DSB

(CB) Chairman of the Supervisory Board

(MB) Member of the Supervisory Board

* Employee representatives 

Market holders
François Corda, General Manager, France, Belgium
Sten Chrisdam, General Manager, Nordic
Jürgen David, General Manager, Germany, Austria
Ireneusz Struk, General Manager, Poland
Eduardo Cevasco, General Manager, Spain, Portugal
Thomas Kjellker, Manager, Industri

Other senior executives
Henrik D. S. Nielsen, Corporate Supply Chain
Allan Dehn Søgaard, Corporate IT
Ulrik Mikkelsen, Corporate Finance
Lars Østerby, Corporate Marketing
Jan Kongerslev, Corporate HR

STATEMENT BY THE EXECUTIVE AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS

The Executive and Supervisory Boards of Dyrup A/S have today discussed and approved the annual report for the 
financial year 2006.

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the EU and additional disclosure requirements for annual reports. We consider the accounting policies used to 
be appropriate. Accordingly, the annual report gives a true and fair view of the Group’s and the parent company’s 
financial position at 31 December 2006 and of the results of the Group’s and the parent company’s operations and 
cash flows for the financial year 1 January - 31 December 2006.

We recommend that the annual report be approved at the Annual General Meeting.

Copenhagen, 21 March 2007

Supervisory Board
Mogens Granborg Jørgen Nicolajsen   Hans Bennetzen  Anders Colding Friis
Chairman Deputy Chairman

Søren Ladegaard Michael Nielsen Henriette H. Thorsen  Carsten Tvede-Møller     Allan Wolder

Executive Board
Erik Holm

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the shareholder of Dyrup A/S
We have audited the annual report of Dyrup A/S for the financial year 1 January - 31 December 2006, which comprises 
management’s review, the statement by the Executive and Supervisory Boards, accounting policies, cash flow statement, 
income statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity and notes for the Group as well as for the parent 
company. The annual report has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements for annual reports.

Management’s responsibility for the annual report
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual report in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements for annual reports. This 
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of an annual report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and 
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility and basis of opinion
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the annual report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Danish Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the annual report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the annual 
report. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the annual report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors 
consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the annual report in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by Management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the annual report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Our audit did not result in any qualification.

Opinion
In our opinion, the annual report gives a true and fair view of the Group’s and the parent company’s financial position 
at 31 December 2006 and of the results of the Group’s and the parent company’s operations and cash flows for the 
financial year 1 January - 31 December 2006 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements for annual reports. 

Copenhagen, 21 March 2007

Ernst & Young
Statsautoriseret Revisionsaktieselskab

Søren Strøm  Bent Jensen
State Authorised Public Accountant State Authorised Public Accountant

Executive Board

Anders Colding Friis
•  President, 

Skandinavisk Tobakskompagni A/S
•  (MB) Monberg & Thorsen A/S
•  (MB) IC Companys A/S

Michael Nielsen*
•  Sales Manager

Søren Ladegaard*
•  Service Mechanic

Carsten Tvede-Møller
•  Lawyer, Plesner Svane Grønborg
•  (MB) Monberg & Thorsen A/S

Henriette Holmgreen Thorsen
•  Managing Director 

Belvédère Scandinavia A/S

Supervisory Board

Allan Wolder*
•  Specialist Worker
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Group’s and the parent company’s annual report has been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements for 
annual reports, cf. the statutory order on the adoption of IFRS issued 
pursuant to the Danish Financial Statements Act.

In addition, the annual report has been prepared in compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the IASB.

The annual report is presented in Danish kroner.

The accounting policies are unchanged from those set out in the 2005 
annual report.

The amendments to IAS 19 ”Employee Benefits”, IAS 21 ”The Effects of 
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” and IAS 39 ”Financial Instruments, 
Recognition and Measurement”, all of which became operative on 
1 January 2006, have no effect on the financial reporting.

Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the parent company 
Dyrup A/S and subsidiaries in which the Group holds, directly or indi-
rectly, more than 50% of the voting rights or which it controls in some 
other way.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis of the 
parent company’s and the individual subsidiaries’ audited financial 
statements determined in accordance with the Group’s accounting 
policies.

On consolidation, identical items are aggregated and intragroup income 
and expenses, shareholdings, balances and dividends are eliminated. 
Unrealised gains and losses arising from intragroup transactions are 
also eliminated.

Newly acquired or newly formed enterprises are recognised in the con-
solidated financial statements from the date of acquisition or formation. 
Enterprises disposed of are recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements up to the date of disposal. Comparative figures are not 
restated for newly acquired enterprises or enterprises disposed of.

Gains and losses on disposal of subsidiaries are reported by deducting 
from the proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of net assets includ-
ing goodwill at the date of disposal and related selling expenses.

Business combinations
Acquisitions of enterprises over which the parent company obtains 
control are accounted for applying the purchase method. The acquiree’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are measured 
at fair value at the acquisition date. Identifiable intangible assets are 
recognised if they are separable or arise from a contractual right and 
the fair value can be measured reliably. The tax effect of the restate-
ments performed is taken into account.

Any excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the assets 
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed (goodwill) is 
recognised as goodwill under intangible assets. Any excess of the fair 
value over the cost of the acquisition (negative goodwill) is credited 
to the income statement at the acquisition date.

If there is any uncertainty at the acquisition date concerning the 
measurement of identifiable assets acquired or liabilities or contingent 
liabilities assumed, initial recognition is based on provisional fair val-
ues. If it is subsequently found that identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities had a different fair value at the acquisition date 

than initially assumed, goodwill is adjusted within twelve months of 
the acquisition date.

Foreign currency translation
The individual business unit’s functional currency is determined as the 
primary currency in the market in which the business unit operates. 
The predominant functional currency for the Group is euro.

Transactions denominated in all currencies other than the individual 
business unit’s functional currency are accounted for as transactions in 
foreign currencies that are translated into the functional currency using 
the exchange rates at the transaction date. Receivables and payables 
in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the 
balance sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising between the 
exchange rate at the transaction date or the balance sheet date and the 
date of settlement are recognised in the income statement as financial 
income and expenses.

On recognition of foreign subsidiaries the income statement items 
determined in the individual enterprises’ functional currencies are 
translated into Danish kroner at average exchange rates that do not 
deviate significantly from the exchange rates at the transaction date, 
while the balance sheet items are translated at the exchange rates at the 
balance sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation 
of the opening equity of foreign subsidiaries at the exchange rates at the 
balance sheet date and on translation of the income statement items 
from average exchange rates to the exchange rates at the balance sheet 
date are taken directly to a separate translation reserve under equity.

Foreign exchange gains and losses on the portion of loans designated 
as hedges of foreign enterprises with a different functional currency 
than the parent company are also taken directly to equity.

On acquisition or disposal of foreign entities, their assets and liabilities 
are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the acquisition date or 
the date of disposal.

Derivative fi nancial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward ex-
change contracts and similar instruments to hedge financial risks 
arising from operating activities. The present use of derivative financial 
instruments does not qualify for hedge accounting.

For derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge ac-
counting, changes in fair value are recognised in the income statement 
as financial income or financial expenses as they occur.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially in the balance 
sheet at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial in-
struments are stated at fair value. Gains and losses on remeasurement 
to fair value are recognised as other receivables and other payables, 
respectively.

Leases
Leases relating to fixed assets in terms of which the Group assumes 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership (finance leases) 
are recognised in the balance sheet as assets. The assets are recogni-
sed initially at cost, equivalent to the lower of their fair value and the 
present value of the future lease payments.

The present value is measured using the interest rate implicit in the 
lease or an approximation thereof as the discount rate.

The capitalised residual lease commitment on finance leases is recog-
nised as a liability.

All other leases are accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments 
under operating leases are recognised in the income statement over the 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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lease term. Information on the residual lease commitment is disclosed 
in the notes under lease commitments.

Government grants
Government grants include grants for projects, investments, etc.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred or for the 
purchase of assets are set up in the balance sheet as deferred income 
or deducted in arriving at the carrying amount of the assets and rec-
ognised in the income statement in the same periods in which the 
expenses are incurred or over the periods and in the proportions in 
which depreciation on the assets is charged.

INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue
Revenue represents goods sold and services rendered.

Revenue is recognised in the income statement when the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer and 
the income can be measured reliably and its payment is probable.

Revenue is measured net of value added and similar salesbased taxes 
and trade discounts and rebates.

Production costs
Production costs comprise both direct and indirect costs incurred in 
generating the revenue for the year.

Production costs include the cost of raw materials and consumables, 
wages and salaries, depreciation and impairment losses, etc.

Distribution costs
Distribution costs comprise freight, tendering, advertising and market-
ing costs as well as salaries, etc., relating to the sales and marketing 
departments, and amortisation and impairment losses on trade marks 
and distribution rights.

Administrative expenses
Administrative expenses comprise expenses for administrative staff 
and management, including salaries, office expenses, depreciation, 
etc.

Other operating income
Other operating income comprises primarily rental income.

Financial income and expenses
Financial income and expenses comprise interest income and expense, 
dividends from other equity investments, realised and unrealised gains 
and losses on payables and transactions denominated in foreign cur-
rencies, as well as income tax surcharges and refunds.

Dividends from investments in subsidiaries are credited to the parent 
company’s income statement in the financial year in which they are 
declared; however, dividends are offset against the cost of the invest-
ment to the extent that distributed dividends exceed the accumulated 
earnings after the acquisition date. Writedowns of subsidiaries to 
recoverable amount are also recognised.

Financial income and expenses also include realised and unrealised 
gains and losses on derivative financial instruments that do not qualify 
for hedge accounting.

Income tax
Income tax expense, which consists of current tax and changes in de-
ferred tax, is recognised in the income statement except to the extent 
that it relates to income and expenses recognised directly in equity, in 
which case it is recognised directly in equity.

Current tax comprises both Danish and foreign income taxes as well as 
adjustments relating to prior year taxes.

Dyrup A/S is taxed jointly with its parent company Monberg & Thorsen 
A ⁄S (management company) and the other Danish subsidiaries. 

Current taxes for the year are allocated between the jointly taxed 
companies. The jointly taxed companies are taxed under the on-
account tax scheme.

BALANCE SHEET

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses.

Goodwill is measured initially at cost as described in the section on 
business combinations.

Goodwill is not amortised. The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed, 
at least annually, and written down via the income statement to the 
recoverable amount if this is lower than the carrying amount.

Development costs relating to clearly defined and identifiable products 
are recognised as development projects to the extent that it is probable 
that products will generate future economic benefits exceeding cost. 
Other development costs are recognised in the income statement as 
an expense as incurred.

Trade marks, distribution rights and completed development projects 
are amortised over their expected useful lives, which are 5-20 years.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost comprises purchase price and costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition until the date the asset is available for use. The cost of 
self-constructed assets comprises direct and indirect cost of materials, 
components, subsuppliers and labour. Interest expense and other bor-
rowing costs on loans to finance the production of assets and which 
relate to the production period are recognised directly in the income 
statement.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straightline basis 
over the expected useful life to the expected residual value. The use-
ful lives of major assets are determined on an individual basis, while 
the useful lives of other assets are determined for groups of uniform 
assets.

The expected useful lives are 10-50 years for buildings, 3-20 years for 
plant and machinery, and 3-10 years for fixtures and fittings, tools and 
equipment and leasehold improvements.

Land is not depreciated. Nor is depreciation charged if the residual 
value of an asset exceeds its carrying amount. The residual value is 
determined at the date of acquisition and reviewed annually.

Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are 
recognised in the income statement as production costs, distribution 
costs or administrative expenses and are measured as the difference 
between the selling price less costs to sell and the carrying amount at 
the date of disposal.

Investments in the parent company’s fi nancial statements
The parent company measures investments in subsidiaries at cost. 
Investments are written down to the recoverable amount, if this is 
lower than the carrying amount.



18

Cost is reduced to the extent that distributed dividends exceed ac-
cumulated earnings.

Subsidiaries with a negative carrying amount are recognised at nil. If 
the parent company has a legal or constructive obligation to cover a 
subsidiary’s negative balance, the negative balance is offset against 
the parent company’s receivables from the subsidiary. Any balance is 
recognised under provisions.

Other investments
Other non-current receivables are measured at amortised cost less 
impairment losses.

Impairment of fi xed assets
The carrying amounts of intangible assets, property, plant and equip-
ment and investments are reviewed, at least annually, to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated; however, the re-
coverable amount of goodwill is always reviewed annually.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less ex-
pected costs to sell and its value in use, which is the discounted value 
of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit.

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement whenever 
the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Impairment losses on 
other assets are reversed to the extent that the assumptions and esti-
mates that led to recognition of the impairment loss have changed.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at cost in accordance with the FIFO method. 
Where the net realisable value is lower than the cost, inventories are 
written down to this lower value.

The cost of raw materials and consumables comprises purchase price 
plus expenses incurred in bringing them to their existing location and 
condition.

The cost of finished goods comprises the cost of raw materials, consu-
mables, direct labour and indirect production overheads.

Receivables
Receivables are measured at amortised cost less impairment losses.

Prepayments and deferred income
Prepayments are recognised under receivables, and deferred income is 
recognised under current liabilities. Prepayments and deferred income 
include costs incurred or income received during the year in respect of 
subsequent financial years.

Equity

Dividends
Proposed dividends are recognised as a liability at the date of adoption 
at the Annual General Meeting. The expected dividend payment for the 
year is disclosed as a separate item under equity.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve in the consolidated financial statements 
comprises foreign exchange differences after 1 January 2004 that 
have arisen from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 
enterprises from their functional currencies to Danish kroner.

On full or partial realisation of the net investment, the foreign exchange 
adjustments are recognised in the income statement.

Income tax and deferred tax
Current tax payable and receivable is recognised in the balance sheet 
as tax calculated on the taxable income for the year, adjusted for tax 
paid on account, etc.

Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets are measured using the 
balance sheet liability method, providing for all temporary differences 
between the tax base of an asset or liability and its carrying amount in 
the balance sheet. No provision is made for deferred tax on temporary 
differences relating to goodwill not deductible for tax purposes. The 
measurement is based on the planned use of the asset or settlement 
of the liability, and on the relevant tax rules.

Deferred tax assets, including tax loss carryforwards, are recognised 
at the value at which it is expected that they can be utilised by set-off 
against deferred tax liabilities or by elimination against tax on the 
future earnings of the subsidiary or the parent company and the other 
jointly taxed subsidiaries in the same country. Deferred tax assets are 
entered as a separate line item under investments.

Deferred tax is measured on the basis of the tax rules and the tax rates 
effective in the respective countries at the time the deferred tax is 
expected to crystallise as current tax. The effect of changes in deferred 
tax due to changed tax rates is recognised in the income statement, 
unless the items in question were previously taken to equity.

Pension obligations
The Group’s pension plans are insured (defined contribution). Con-
tributions to defined contribution plans are recognised in the income 
statement in the period to which they relate, and any costs payable 
are recognised in the balance sheet as other payables.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and when the amount can be measured reliably.

Financial liabilities
Bank loans, etc. are recognised at inception at the proceeds received 
net of transaction costs incurred. In subsequent periods, the financial 
liabilities are measured at amortised cost, corresponding to the capita-
lised value using the effective interest rate. Accordingly, the difference 
between the proceeds and the nominal value is recognised in the 
income statement over the term of the loan.

Other liabilities, comprising trade payables, payables to subsidiaries, 
and other payables, are measured at amortised cost.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The cash flow statement shows the Group’s cash flows for the year, 
broken down by operating, investing and financing activities, and the 
effects of these cash flows on the Group’s cash and cash equivalents.

The cash flow effect of acquisitions and disposals of enterprises is shown 
separately under cash flows from investing activities. Cash flows from 
acquisitions are recognised in the cash flow statement from the date 
of acquisition and cash flows from disposals are recognised up to the 
date of disposal.

Cash fl ows from operating activities
Cash flows from operating activities are determined using the indirect 
method, whereby operating profit is adjusted for the effects of non-cash 
operating items, changes in working capital, and net financing costs 
and income taxes paid.
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Cash fl ows for investing activities
Cash flows for investing activities comprise payments in connection 
with acquisition and disposal of enterprises and activities and purchase 
and sale of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and inve-
stments as well as purchase and sale of securities.

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities
Cash flows from financing activities comprise payments to and from 
shareholders, including payment of dividends and increases and de-
creases in non-current borrowings.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and cash equivalents less 
current portion of bank loans, etc.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Dyrup A/S’s operations are all within a single segment, and no seg-
ment information is therefore provided.

FINANCIAL RATIOS

Financial ratios have been prepared in conformity with the Danish Society 
of Financial Analysts’ ’Recommendations & Financial Ratios 2005’.

Financial ratios are defined on page 24 of the annual report.

N.B. In case of incongruity between the Danish and the English version of the ac-
counting policies, the Danish version shall be regarded as the valid one.
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Group

 2006 2005

 1,660.0 1,680.6

 980.1 977.6

 679.9 703.0

 545.7 549.3

 133.0 142.5

 4.0 5.2

 5.2 16.4

 (47.3) (49.2)

 (42.1) (32.8)

 3.8 6.7

 28.0 29.2

 (66.3) (55.3)

 (20.9) (29.2)

 (45.4) (26.1)

 

 (9) (5)

 (9) (5)

 (45.4) (26.1)

 (45.4) (26.1)

Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2006 DKKm

Note

 1  Revenue

 2  Production costs

   Gross profit

 2  Distribution costs

 2  Administrative expenses

 3  Other operating income

   Operating profit before special items (EBIT)

 4 Special items

  Operating profit (loss)

  

 5  Financial income

 6  Financial expenses

   Profit (loss) before tax

 7  Income tax expense

   Profit (loss) for the year

 8  Employee information

 9 Earnings per share of DKK 20 (EPS), DKK
  Earnings per share

  Diluted earnings per share 

  Attributable to:
  Equity holders of the parent

 Parent company

 2005 2006

 811.5 827.2

 554.3 561.0

 257.2 266.2

 175.5 190.4

 74.6 69.4

 2.3 2.1

 9.4 8.5

 (7.8) (10.0)

 1.6 (1.5)

 

 19.9 22.2

 12.3 35.5

 9.2 (14.8)

  (6.3)  (7.5)

 15.5 (7.3)



21

 Cash fl ow statement 2006 DKKm

Parent company

 2005 2006

 1.6 (1.5)

 

 32.9 48.3

 34.5 46.8
 

 

 10.0 13.3

 9.1 17.7

 1.0 5.7

 3.3 (9.4)

 (0.4) 0.8

 (19.1) 29.6

 32.0 (26.2)

 70.4 78.3
 

 5.0 3.6

 (12.3) (14.6)

 63.1 67.3
 

 (1.4) 6.2

 61.7 73.5
 

 

 (11.7) (4.7)

 (17.5) (12.4)

 (54.1) (25.8)

 14.9 18.6

 2.8 0.2

 (65.6) (24.1)
 

 (3.9) 49.4
 

 (0.5) (0.7)

 (70.0) -

 (70.5) (0.7)
 

 (74.4) 48.7
 

 (93.5) (167.9)

 - -

 (167.9) (119.2)
 

 

 0.2 0.2

 (168.1) (119.4)

 (167.9) (119.2)

Operating activities
Operating profit (loss)

Adjustment for non-cash operating items
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses

Cash flows from operations (operating activities) before working capital changes 
   
Working capital changes
Inventories

Trade receivables

Other receivables

Intragroup balance

Prepayments and deferred income

Trade payables

Other current liabilities

 Cash flows from operations (operating activities)

Interest received, etc.

Interest paid, etc.

Cash flows from operations (ordinary activities)

Income taxes paid, net

Cash flows from operating activities

Investing activities
Purchase of intangible assets

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Investment in financial assets

Dividends from subsidiaries

Sale of property, plant and equipment

Cash flows for investing activities

Cash flows before financing activities

Financing activities
Decrease in non-current financial liabilities

Dividends paid

Cash flows from financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Net cash and cash equivalents at 1.1.
Value adjustments of cash and cash equivalents at 1.1.

Net cash and cash equivalents at 31.12.

consisting of:

  Cash and cash equivalents

  Current bank loans

The figures in the cash flow statement cannot be derived from the other accounting records alone.

Group

 2006 2005

 (42.1) (32.8)

 

 90.3 70.7

 48.2 37.9

 

 

 0.2 14.4

 (18.8) 36.7

 4.8 (1.4)

 - -

 8.9 8.7

 38.4 (26.3)

 4.9 27.6

 86.6 97.6

 

 3.8 6.7

 (28.0) (29.2)

 62.4 75.1

 

 2.9 (11.2)

 65.3 63.9

 

 (6.4) (25.3)

 (22.5) (38.1)

 - -

 - -

 2.2 5.7

 (26.7) (57.7)

 

 38.6 6.2

 

 (19.5) (17.8)

 - (70.0)

 (19.5) (87.8)

 

 19.1 (81.6)

 

 (176.3) (94.8)

 0.2 0.1

 (157.0) (176.3)

 

 

 51.1 35.3

 (208.1) (211.6)

 (157.0) (176.3)
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Balance sheet at 31 December 2006 DKKm

Group

 2006 2005

 55.5 55.7

 38.5 54.8

 9.2 6.7

 103.2 117.2

 

 237.3 237.4

 135.9 167.2

 63.5 82.6

 0.8 0.7

 437.5 487.9

 

 - -

 - -

 39.0 33.3

 39.0 33.3

 

 579.7 638.4

 

 

 56.0 48.7

 7.9 7.7

 185.4 193.1

 249.3 249.5

 

 289.8 271.0

 - -

 38.6 43.4

 10.2 19.1

 8.5 17.7

 347.1 351.2

 

 51.1 35.3

 

 647.5 636.0

   

  1,227.2 1,274.4

ASSETS 

Note

  Fixed assets
 10 Goodwill

 10 Trade marks and distribution rights

 10 In-process development projects

  Intangible assets

 11 Land and buildings

 11 Plant and machinery

 11 Fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment

 11 Property, plant and equipment under construction

  Property, plant and equipment

 12 Investments in subsidiaries

 12 Receivables from subsidiaries

 15 Deferred tax

  Investments

  Total fixed assets

  Current assets
  Raw materials and consumables

  Work in progress

  Finished goods and goods for resale

 13 Inventories

  14  Trade receivables

  Receivables from subsidiaries

  Other receivables

  Income tax

  Prepayments

  Receivables

  Cash and cash equivalents

  Total current assets

  ASSETS

  Parent company

 2005 2006

 2.6 2.5

 26.3 21.9

 2.6 3.9

 31.5 28.3
 

 167.2 168.9

 100.9 83.8

 40.5 27.0

 - -

 308.6 279.7
 

 136.7 151.4

 23.9 13.5

 - 0.4

 160.6 165.3
 

 500.7 473.3
 

 

 26.4 27.1

 4.8 4.3

 87.3 73.8

 118.5 105.2
 

 60.4 42.7

 60.6 78.2

 18.1 12.4

 13.5 1.1

 5.3 4.5

 157.9 138.9
 

 0.2 0.2
 

 276.6 244.3
 

 777.3 717.6
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 Parent company

 2005 2006

 100.0 100.0

 - -

 267.3 260.0

 367.3 360.0
   

 

 67.1 66.4

 45.0 31.6

 112.1 98.0
 

 

 0.6 0.6

 168.1 119.4

 48.0 77.6

 15.4 23.6

 - -

 65.8 38.4

 - -

 297.9 259.6
 

 410.0 357.6
 

 777.3 717.6

Group

 2006 2005

 100.0 100.0

 12.8 12.1

 329.5 374.9

 442.3 487.0

 

 

 202.0 220.9

 31.6 57.1

 233.6 278.0

 

 

 16.6 16.9

 208.1 211.6

 170.3 131.9

 - -

 4.9 0.6

 150.0 146.7

 1.4 1.7

 551.3 509.4

 

 784.9 787.4

 

  1,227.2 1,274.4

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Note

  Equity
  Share capital

  Translation reserve

  Retained earnings

  Total equity

  Non-current liabilities
 16 Bank loans

 15 Deferred tax

  Total non-current liabilities

  Current liabilities
 16 Current portion of non-current financial liabilities

 16 Bank loans

  Trade payables

  Payables to consolidated enterprises

  Income tax

  Other payables

  Deferred income

  Total current liabilities

  Total liabilities

  EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Notes:

 16  Interest-bearing liabilities

 17  Security

 18  Lease commitments

 19 Contingent liabilities

 20 Related parties

 21 Financial instruments

 22 Non-cash operating items

 23 Accounting estimates and judgements

 24 New accounting standards

 25 Events after the balance sheet date
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Statement of changes in equity DKKm  

Parent company

Balance at 1.1.2005

Profit for the year

Total income and expense for the year

Proposed dividends

Dividends paid

Total changes in equity

Balance at 1.1.2006

Profit (loss) for the year

Total income and expense for the year

Proposed dividends

Dividends paid

Total changes in equity

Balance at 31.12.2006

Group

Balance at 1.1.2005

Profit (loss) for the year

Foreign exchange adjustments of subsidiaries

Total income and expense for the year

Proposed dividends

Dividends paid

Total changes in equity

Balance at 1.1.2006

Profit (loss) for the year

Foreign exchange adjustments of subsidiaries

Total income and expense for the year

Proposed dividends

Dividends paid

Total changes in equity

Balance at 31.12.2006

Share Translation Retained Proposed Total

capital reserve earnings dividends

 100.0 - 251.8 70.0 421.8

 - - 15.5 - 15.5

 - - 15.5 - 15.5

 - - - - -

 - - - (70.0) (70.0)

 - - 15.5 (70.0) (54.5)

  

 100.0 - 267.3 - 367.3

 - - (7.3) - (7.3)

 - - (7.3) - (7.3)

 - - - - - 

 - - - - - 

 - - (7.3) - (7.3) 

 100.0 - 260.0 - 360.0

 

100.0                          7.8                     401.0                      70.0                     578.8

 - - (26.1) - (26.1)

 - 4.3 - - 4.3

 - 4.3 (26.1) - (21.8)

 - - - - -

 - - - (70.0) (70.0)

 - 4.3 (26.1) (70.0) (91.8) 

 100.0 12.1 374.9 - 487.0

 - - (45.4) - (45.4)

 - 0.7 - - 0.7

 - 0.7 (45.4) - (44.7)

 - - - - -

 - - - - -

 - 0.7 (45.4) - (44.7)

 100.0 12.8 329.5 - 442.3

The company’s share capital of DKK 100 million is divided into: 500,000 A shares of DKK 100 each and 500,000 B shares of DKK 100 each.    

  

The whole of the share capital is held by Monberg & Thorsen A/S, Copenhagen. 

Dyrup A/S and its subsidiaries are included in Monberg & Thorsen A/S’s consolidated financial statements.

The financial ratios have been calculated as follows:

Gross margin Gross profit x 100
 Revenue

Operating margin  (EBIT margin) Operating profit before special items x 100
 Revenue

Pre-tax margin Profit before tax x 100
 Revenue

Return on invested capital (ROIC)  Operating profit before special items x 100
 Invested capital
 
Return on equity (ROE) Profit after tax x 100
 Average equity

Equity ratio Equity x 100
 Total liabilities

Earnings per share  (EPS) Profit for the year  x 100
 Average number of shares of nominally DKK 20

Invested capital Equity plus interest-bearing debt and goodwill less interest-bearing assets.
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Notes DKKm

1  Revenue

  Denmark

  France

  Germany

  Portugal

  Other markets

  Total revenue

2  Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses

  Intangible assets

  Property, plant and equipment

  Total depreciation and amortisation

  Losses and gains on replacement

  Total deprec., amortisation and impairment losses

  Depreciation, amortisation and 

  impairment losses are included in:

   Production costs

   Distribution costs

   Administrative expenses

   Special items - impairment losses

  Total effect on profit for the year

  Fees paid to auditors appointed at the Annual Genereal Meeting

  

  Total fees to auditors for 

  the financial year under review:

  Ernst & Young

  

  of which non-audit fees:

 

3  Other operating income

  Rental income

  Miscellaneous

  Total other operating income

4  Special items

  Sale of trade mark rights 

  in Egypt

  Total special income

  Restructuring costs:

  Termination benefits

  Costs in connection with formation 

  of regions and restructuring 

  of market activities

  Impairment losses in respect of inventories

  Impairment losses in respect of fixed assets

  Miscellaneous

  Total special expenses

  

  Total special items

 5 Financial income

  Dividends from subsidiaries

  Interest, subsidiaries

  Interest on cash and cash equivalents, etc.

  Foreign exchange gains

  Total financial income

6  Financial expenses

   Impairment losses in respect 

of investments in subsidiaries

Interest, consolidated enterprises

  Interest on loans and overdrafts

  Foreign exchange losses 

  Total financial expenses 

7  Income tax expense

  Current tax on profit for the year

  Change in Danish tax rate

  Change for the year in deferred tax

  Tax reimbursement under

  joint taxation

  Adjustment of tax for prior years

  Income tax expense total

  Taxes paid for the year

  Most companies paid on-account tax during the year.

  Effective tax rate

  Danish tax rate

  Change in Danish tax rate

  Deviations in foreign enterprises’ 

  tax rates

  Non-taxable income and

  deductible costs

  Prior year adjustments

  Miscellaneous

  Effective tax rate

 8  Staff costs

  Wages and salaries

  Pension contributions

  Social security costs

  Remuneration to the Executive Board

  Remuneration to the Supervisory Board

  Total staff costs

  Average number of employees

 

9  Earnings per share (EPS)

  Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 

  Average number of shares of nominally DKK 20

  Earnings per share (EPS), DKK

  Diluted earnings per share, DKK

   The share capital of Dyrup A/S is divided into shares of DKK 100; however, the 

determination of earnings per share is based on a share denomination of nominally 

DKK 20, as in the parent company Monberg & Thorsen A/S.   

Group

 2006 2005

 414.6 415.6

 423.4 452.7

 242.6 233.7

 205.1 204.2

 374.3 374.4

1,660.0    1,680.6 

 

 

 18.6 14.8

 72.6 56.3

 91.2 71.1

 (0.9) (0.4)

 90.3 70.7

 

 18.1 21.2

 39.9 38.1

 14.0 11.4

 18.3 -

 90.3 70.7

 

 

 

 

 

 4.0 3.8

 

 0.6 0.6

 

 

 

 3.3 3.1

 0.7 2.1

  4.0   5.2 

 

 

 

 16.4 -

  16.4  -

 

 

 18.1 26.8

 

 

 6.0 20.6

 16.3 -

 18.3 -

 5.0 1.8

 63.7 49.2

 

 (47.3) (49.2)

 

 

 - -

 - -

 3.4 1.9

 0.4 4.8

 3.8 6.7

Parent company

 2005 2006

 415.6 414.6

 66.7 58.0

 149.6 161.8

 13.5 16.6

 166.1 176.2

  811.5   827.2 

 

 

 5.0 7.1

 27.2 41.3

 32.2 48.4

 0.7 (0.1)

 32.9 48.3

 

 11.2 10.5

 13.4 12.6

 8.3 11.3

 - 13.9

 32.9 48.3

 

 

 

 

 1.3 2.0

 

  

 0.1 0.1

 

 

 

 1.8 2.1

 0.5 -

  2.3   2.1 

 

 

 

 - 16.4

 -  16.4 

 

 

 5.2 7.5

 

 1.6 -

 - -

 - 13.9

 1.0 5.0

 7.8 26.4

 

 (7.8) (10.0)

 

 

 14.9 18.6

 2.1 1.1

 1.5 2.5

 1.4 -

 19.9 22.2

Parent company

 2005 2006

 

 - 20.9

 1.6 0.5

 8.5 11.4

 2.2 2.7

 12.3 35.5

 

 

 

 1.2 (0.6)

 (3.1) -

 (5.1) (7.5)

 

 (4.6) -

 5.3 0.6

 (6.3) (7.5)

 

 1.4 (6.2)

 

 

 

 

 28% 28%

 (34%) -

 - -

 (48%) (62%)

 (29%) (11%)

 14% (6%)

 (69%) (51%)

 

 

 152.1 142.6

 10.1 10.5

 2.9 2.7

 8.0 2.7

 1.0 1.1

 174.1 159.6

 

        415          388

Group

 2006 2005

 

 - -

 - 1.2

 24.7 21.9

 3.3 6.1

 28.0 29.2

 

 

 

 (1.1) 5.5

 - (4.3)

 (24.9) (36.2)

 

 - -

 5.1 5.8

 (20.9) (29.2)

 

 (2.9) 11.2

 

 

 

 

 28% 28%

 - 8%

 

 7% 7%

 

 - -

 (3%) 6%

 - 4%

 32% 53%

 

 

 283.2 299.7

 11.8 11.7

 57.1 54.4

 3.3 8.4

 1.1 1.0

 356.5 375.2

 

       961      1,045

                

            

        (45.4)            (26.1)

5,000,000 5,000,000

           (9 )                (5)

           (9)                 (5)

                  2006             2005

The company has no pension obligations to the Executive Board. Remuneration to 

the Executive Board for 2005 includes termination benefit to the former CEO.
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Notes DKKm

 10 Intangible assets

  

  

  Cost at 1.1.2005     1.3       64.1                 -  65.4              54.3    138.3                   -   192.6

  Value adjustments       -           -                 -       -                0.1        0.3                   -       0.4

  Additions and improvements    1.3         7.7               2.6 11.6                1.3      17.2                  6.7     25.2

  Cost at 31.12.2005     2.6       71.8               2.6 77.0              55.7    155.8                  6.7   218.2

  Amortisation and impairment losses at 1.1.2005     -       40.5                 -  40.5                   -      86.0                   -     86.0

  Value adjustments       -           -                 -       -                   -                         0.2                   -       0.2

           -       40.5                 -  40.5                   -      86.2                   -     86.2

  Amortisation and impairment losses     -         5.0                 -    5.0                   -      14.8                   -     14.8

  Amortisation and impairment losses at 31.12.2005        -       45.5                 -  45.5                   -    101.0                   -   101.0

  Balance sheet value at 31.12.2005   2.6       26.3               2.6 31.5              55.7      54.8                  6.7   117.2

 

  Cost at 1.1.2006     2.6       71.8               2.6 77.0              55.7    155.8                  6.7    218.2

  Value adjustments       -           -                 -       -              (0.1)      (0.1)                   -     (0.2)

  Additions and improvements    1.2         1.4               2.1   4.7                1.2        1.5                  3.7       6.4

  Disposals       -           -               0.8   0.8                   -      48.3                  1.2     49.5

  Cost at 31.12.2006     3.8       73.2               3.9 80.9              56.8    108.9                  9.2   174.9

  Amortisation and impairment losses at 1.1.2006     -       45.5                   - 45.5                   -    101.0                   -   101.0

  Value adjustments       -           -                   -      -                   -      (0.1)                   -     (0.1) 

  Adjustments, additions and disposals     -           -                   -      -                   -    (47.8)                   -    (47.8)

           -       45.5                   - 45.5                   -      53.1                   -     53.1

  Amortisation and impairment losses   1.3         5.8                   -   7.1                1.3      17.3                   -     18.6

  Amortisation and impairment losses at 31.12.2006   1.3       51.3                   - 52.6                1.3      70.4                   -     71.7

  Balance sheet value at 31.12.2006   2.5       21.9                3.9 28.3               55.5      38.5                  9.2   103.2

Parent company

     Goodwill          Trade marks            In-process                Total

                            and distribution     development

                       rights                   projects 

Group

   Goodwill                 Trade marks              In-process                  Total

                                and distribution        development

                                        rights                     projects

The carrying amounts of goodwill and trade marks were tested for impairment at 31 December 2006.  The recoverable amount has been determined as the value in use, which is 

calculated as the present value of the expected future net cash flows from the enterprise and/or the cash-generating units. The net cash flows are calculated on the basis of the 

approved budget for 2007 and estimates for the years 2008-2011. A discount factor of 7% before tax has been used for calculating the present value. For financial years after the 

budget period, the cash flows in the latest budget period restated for a growth factor of 0-1.5% in the terminal period have been extrapolated, assuming an expected inflation rate 

of 2.5%. The growth rate applied does not exceed the average expected long-term growth rate for the markets in question.

The impairment test to recoverable amount of goodwill and trade marks gave rise to impairment losses of DKK 1.3 million.

In-process development projects relate solely to direct expenses for recipe changes, testing, recording and documentation necessitated by the implementation of the VOC and 

BPD directives. For further details, reference is made to the section on environmental matters on page 12.
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 11 Property, plant and equipment

  

  

  

  Cost at 1.1.2005             216.8   126.2      112.2             51.2   506.4

  Additions and improvements                9.6    49.0        10.0                  -     68.6

  Disposals                 0.4      4.8        10.0             51.2     66.4

  Cost at 31.12.2005             226.0   170.4      112.2                  -   508.6

  Depreciation and impairment losses at 1.1.2005        57.4    64.0        63.2                  -   184.6

  Adjustments, disposals              (0.2)    (5.3)        (6.3)                  -   (11.8)

                   57.2    58.7        56.9                  -   172.8

  Depreciation and impairment losses               1.6    10.8        14.8                  -     27.2

  Depreciation and impairment losses at 31.12.2005        58.8    69.5        71.7                  -   200.0

  Balance sheet value at 31.12.2005           167.2                     100.9        40.5                  -                     308.6

    

  Cost at 1.1.2006             226.0   170.4      112.2                  -   508.6

  Additions and improvements                3.5      1.4          7.5                  -     12.4

  Disposals                    -          -        18.7                  -     18.7

  Cost at 31.12.2006             229.5   171.8      101.0                  -   502.3

  Depreciation and impairment losses at 1.1.2006        58.8    69.5        71.7                  -   200.0

  Adjustments, disposals                   -          -      (18.7)                  -   (18.7)

                   58.8    69.5        53.0                  -   181.3

  Depreciation and impairment losses               1.8    18.5        21.0                  -     41.3

  Depreciation and impairment losses at 31.12.2006        60.6    88.0        74.0                  -   222.6

  Balance sheet value at 31.12.2006           168.9     83.8        27.0                  -   279.7

Parent company

 Land and Plant and Fixtures and fittings, Property, plant and  Total

 buildings machinery tools and equipment equipment under 

    construction

    

The carrying amount of mortgaged properties was DKK 118.7 million (2005: DKK 118.5 million), and the year-end balance amounts to DKK 67.1 million (2005: DKK 67.7 million).

The carrying amount of Danish properties subject to public land assessment amounted to DKK 138.4 million, and the public land assessment value at 1.1. was DKK 144.3 million 

(2005: carrying amount DKK 136.4 million and public land assessment DKK 141.0 million).

The carrying amount of properties abroad was DKK 30.5 million (2005: DKK 30.8 million).
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Notes DKKm

11  Property, plant and equipment

   -  continued

  

  Cost at 1.1.2005

  Value adjustments

  Additions and improvements

  Disposals

  Cost at 31.12.2005

  Depreciation/impairment losses at 1.1.2005

  Value adjustments

  Adjustments, disposals

  Depreciation and impairment losses

  Depreciation/impairment losses at 31.12.2005

  Balance sheet value at 31.12.2005

  Cost at 1.1.2006

  Value adjustments

  Reclassifications

  Additions and improvements

  Disposals

  Cost at 31.12.2006

  Depreciation and impairment losses at 1.1.2006

  Value adjustments

  Reclassifications

  Adjustments, disposals

  Depreciation and impairment losses

  Depreciation/impairment losses at 31.12.2006

  Balance sheet value at 31.12.2006

Group

 Land and Plant and Fixtures and fittings, Property, plant and  Total

 buildings machinery tools and equipment equipment under 

    construction

 300.2 291.7 228.4 53.3 873.6

     0.8 3.0 0.8  - 4.6

   12.5 58.3 13.2 0.7 84.7

     0.5 10.0 15.5 53.3 79.3

 313.0 343.0 226.9 0.7 883.6

   71.7 159.5 133.8  - 365.0

     0.8 1.4 0.7  - 2.9

    (0.1) (10.9) (17.5)  - (28.5)

   72.4 150.0 117.0  - 339.4

     3.2 25.8 27.3  - 56.3

   75.6 175.8 144.3  - 395.7

 237.4 167.2 82.6 0.7 487.9

 313.0 343.0 226.9 0.7 883.6

       - 0.2 (0.1)  - 0.1

      - (9.4) 9.4 -  -

     3.8 6.1 13.2 0.1 23.2

      - 5.3 24.4  - 29.7

 316.8 334.6 225.0 0.8 877.2

   75.6 175.8 144.3  - 395.7

      -  - (0.1)  - (0.1)

      - (1.7) 1.7 -  -

      - (4.7) (23.8)  - (28.5)

   75.6 169.4 122.1  - 367.1

     3.9 29.3 39.4  - 72.6

   79.5 198.7 161.5  - 439.7

 237.3 135.9 63.5 0.8 437.5

Reclassifications have been made between the various asset groups. This has not had any effect on the financial statements. In addition, the carrying amounts of the fixed assets has 

been reviewed, including especially the tinting machines. This has led to the recognition of impairment losses totalling approx. DKK 18 million in respect of the fixed assets.

For Danish properties subject to public land assessment the carrying amount was DKK 138.4 million and the public land assessment value at 1.1. was DKK 144.3 million 

(2005: carrying amount DKK 136.4 million and public land assessment value DKK 141.0 million).

The carrying amount of properties abroad was DKK 98.9 million (2005: DKK 101.0 million).
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12 Investments

  

  

  Cost at 1.1.2005

  Additions

  Disposals

  Cost at 31.12.2005

  Revaluation and impairment losses at 1.1.2005

  Revaluation/impairment losses at 31.12.2005

  Balance sheet value at 31.12.2005

  

  Cost at 1.1.2006

  Additions

  Disposals

  Cost at 31.12.2006

  Impairment losses at 1.1.2006

  Impairment losses

  Revaluation/impairment losses at 31.12.2006

  Balance sheet value at 31.12.2006

Parent company

 Investments in  Receivables from Total

 subsidiaries subsidiaries  

 89.9 25.8 115.7

 49.0 7.3 56.3

 2.2 - 2.2

 136.7 33.1 169.8

 - 9.2 9.2

 - 9.2 9.2

 136.7 23.9 160.6

 136.7 33.1 169.8

 35.6  - 35.6

  - 10.4 10.4

 172.3 22.7 195.0

  - 9.2 9.2

 20.9  - 20.9

 20.9 9.2 30.1

 151.4 13.5 164.9

Investments in subsidiaries were written down by DKK 20.9 million to recoverable amount in 2006. Impairment losses for the year are recognised under financial expenses, cf. 
note 6.

The impairment loss relates to Dyrup NV, Belgium; Dyrup Färg AB, Sweden; and Dyrup GmbH, Austria.

A list of the consolidated enterprises is given on page 33.  
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Notes DKKm

 15 Deferred tax liabilities 

  and assets

  Deferred tax at 1.1.

  Change in deferred tax relating to

  profit for the year

  Deferred tax at 31.12.

  

  Breakdown of deferred tax

  

  Parent company

  Deferred tax at 31.12.2005

  Intangible assets

  Property, plant and equipment

  Current assets

  Balance sheet value at 31.12.2005

  Deferred tax at 31.12.2006

  Intangible assets

  Property, plant and equipment

  Current assets

  Balance sheet value at 31.12.2006

  Group

  Deferred tax at 31.12.2005

  Intangible assets

  Property, plant and equipment

  Current assets

  Tax base of 

  tax losses, net

  Non-capitalised tax assets

  Deferred tax liabilities

  and assets

  Set-off within legal

  tax entities and jurisdictions

  Balance sheet value at 31.12.2005

  Deferred tax at 31.12.2006

  Intangible assets

  Property, plant and equipment

  Current assets

  Tax base of 

  tax losses, net

  Non-capitalised tax assets

  Deferred tax liabilities

  and assets

  Set-off within legal

  tax entities and jurisdictions

  Balance sheet value at 31.12.2006

Parent company

 

 2005 2006

 53.2 45.0

 (8.2) (13.8)

 45.0 31.2

  

  -

  -

  -

  

   -

  -

  -

  0.4

  0.4

  

  

  -

  5.5

  18.2

  51.5

  (26.7)

  48.5

  (15.2)

  33.3

  -

  10.9

  12.5

  62.3

  (30.1)

  55.6

  (16.6)

  39.0

 13  Inventories

  Cost at 1.1.

  Value adjustments at 1.1./31.12.

  Additions and disposals, net

  Cost at 31.12

  

  Adjustments at 1.1.

  Value adjustments at 1.1./31.12.

  Impairment losses

  Reversal of impairment losses

  Adjustments at 31.12.

  Balance sheet value at 31.12

  Value of inventories determined 

  at net realisable value

  

Parent company

 2005 2006

 135.9 126.5

 - -

 (9.4) 1.1

 126.5 127.6

 4.2 8.0

 - -

 3.8 14.4

 - -

 8.0 22.4

 118.5 105.2

 

 0.6 -

 14.5 13.8

Group

 2006 2005

 285.5 291.4

 - 1.2

 30.9 (7.1)

 316.4 285.5

 36.0 27.5

 - 0.1

 39.8 12.6

 (8.7) (4.2)

 67.1 36.0

 249.3 249.5

 2.2 7.2

 56.9 62.7

Group

 2006 2005

 23.8 64.3

 

 (31.2)  (40.5)

 (7.4) 23.8

 

 4.9 4.9

 39.4 39.4

 0.7 0.7

 45.0 45.0

 4.2 4.2

 27.4 27.4

 - (0.4)

 31.6 31.2

 10.9 10.9

 54.7 49.2

 6.7 (11.5)

 - (51.5)

 - 26.7

 72.3 23.8

 (15.2) -

 57.1 23.8

 9.9 9.9

 38.2 27.3

 0.1 (12.4)

 - (62.3)

 - 30.1

 48.2 (7.4)

 (16.6) -

 31.6 (7.4)

14   Receivables

  No receivable fall due more than one year after the balance sheet date

  

  Impairment losses recognised 

  in receivables

 

  The fair value of receivables is deemed to correspond to the carrying amount.

Deferred
tax

assets

Deferred
tax

liabilities

Deferred
tax,
net

The increase in impairment losses in both the parent company and the Group re-
fl ects, among other things, winding up of loss-making activities, primarily paint 
products in the DIY markets in France and Germany. To this should be added the 
effect of an initiated product rationalisation.



.

 18  Lease commitments

  Operating leases

   Total future minimum 

lease payments:

  Due within one year

  Due between two and five years

  Due after more than five years

  Total

   Lease payments under

  operating leases recognised

  in the income statement:

  

 19  Contingent liabilities

  Indemnities

   In accordance with normal practice, the parent company has issued indemnities in 

respect of a few subsidiaries.

  Litigation

   The Dyrup Group is involved in various legal and arbitration proceedings. In ma-

nagement’s opinion, the outcome of these proceedings is not expected to have 

any adverse impact on the Group’s financial position.

 20  Related parties

   The Group has a controlling related party relationship with the parent company 

Monberg & Thorsen A/S.

 Related parties with significant influence comprise the members of the company’s 

Supervisory Board and Executive Board. 

   Related parties also include subsidiaries in which Dyrup A/S has control or significant 

influence. A list of consolidated enterprises is given on page 33.

 Apart from intragroup transactions that have been eliminated in the consolidated 

financial statements, and normal management remuneration, no transactions have 

been effected during the year with major shareholders, members of the Supervisory 

Board or Executive Board or other related parties. Remuneration to the Supervisory 

Board and Executive Board is disclosed in note 8. In addition to this, remuneration 

of DKK 0.2 million was paid to the Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board. 

   

  Transactions with related parties are based on arm’s length terms.

   Intragroup transactions between the parent company and the other consolidated 

enterprises can be broken down as follows:    

  Sale of goods 

  and services

  with group enterprises

   Transactions between consolidated enterprises have been eliminated in the con-

solidated financial statements.    

The parent company’s balances with subsidiaries at 31 December are disclosed 
in the balance sheet and relate primarily to ordinary business-related balances 
concerning purchases and sales of goods and services. The balances are non-
interest bearing and are entered into on the same terms as apply to the parent 
company’s other customers and suppliers. 

The parent company’s interest income and interest expense relating to balances 
with subsidiaries are disclosed in notes 5 and 6.   
 

Group

 2006 2005

        11.8         13.6

         22.5      21.2

           2.5           -

        36.8      34.8

    15.9      16.0

16 Interest-bearing liabilities

   Total interest-bearing liabilities can 

  be broken down by commitment 

  type as follows: 

  

  Bank loans, etc.

  Consolidated enterprises

  Total

  

  Total interest-bearing liabilities 

  can be broken down by the 

  following currencies: 

  DKK

  NOK

  EUR

  Total

  

  Total interest-bearing liabilities can be broken down 

  by fixed-rate and floating-rate debt as follows: 

  

  Fixed-rate debt

  Floating-rate debt

  Total

  

   Total interest-bearing liabilities can be broken down 

  by effective interest rate as follows: 

  

  Less than 5%

  Between 5 and 7%

  Carrying amount

   Weighted average effective

  interest rate (%)

  Weighted average 

  remaining term (years)

  Interest-bearing liabilities are recognised 

  in the balance sheet as follows:   

  Non-current liabilities

  Current liabilities

  Total

  The maturity profile can be broken 

  down as follows: 

  Less than one year

  Between one and two years

  Between two and five years

  More than five years

  Total

  The fair value of the interest-bearing liabilities corresponds largely to the carrying  

  amount of the year-end balance.   

 17 Security

   Guarantees have been 

provided relating to: 

  Subsidiaries

  Customers

  Total

   In addition, land and buildings have been lodged as security for mortgage loans, 

bank loans, etc., see note 11.

Parent company

 2005 2006

 

 

    235.8 186.4

      13.5     12.2

     249.3        198.6

    227.9 178.4

 - -

      21.4     20.2

     249.3        198.6

      67.7 67.0

     181.6        131.6

     249.3        198.6

    202.4        151.7

  46.9          46.9 

    249.3        198.6

        3.5           4.6

        2.2           3.2

      67.1 66.4

     182.2   132.2

     249.3        198.6

    182.2 132.2

      47.5 0.7

        2.1 49.0

  17.5     16.7

     249.3        198.6

    114.8        114.8

        0.8            0.8

     115.6        115.6

Group

 2006 2005

 

 426.7 449.4

    -               -

     426.7   449.4

    166.3        215.0                     

        0.7             -

     259.7   234.4

     426.7        449.4

    218.6 237.8

     208.1   211.6

     426.7   449.4

 379.8 402.5

  46.9     46.9

     426.7        449.4

  4.4      4.5

  2.5      3.1

    202.0        220.9

     224.7        228.5

     426.7        449.4

 224.7 228.5

 84.6 63.9

 100.7 138.7

  16.7          18.3

     426.7        449.4

 - -

         0.8      0.8

         0.8      0.8

Parent company

 2005 2006

          7.6           8.3

      8.3         10.7

              -            2.5 

         15.9      21.5

         11.1      11.9

332.9

2005          2006

31

The Group’s operating leases relate primarily to vehicles, operatingequipment 

and leased premises.

319.7
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Notes DKKm

24 New accounting standards

  

  IFRS 7     “Financial Instruments”   

  IFRS 8     “Operating Segments” (yet to be approved by the EU)  

  IFRIC 7    “Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial  

                      Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies”   

  IFRIC 8    “Scope of IFRS 2”   

  IFRIC 9    “Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives”   

  IFRIC 10  “Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment” 

      (yet to be adopted by the EU)

  IFRIC 11  “Group and Treasury Share Transactions” (yet to be adopted the EU) 

  

  IFRIC 12  “Service Concession Arrangements” (yet to be adopted by the EU) 

  

25 Events after the balance sheet date

   So far as management is aware, no events have occurred between 31 December 

2006 and the date of signing of the annual report which will have a material effect 

on the Dyrup Group’s financial position at 31.12.06, apart from what is included 

and mentioned in the annual report.

21  Financial instruments

   For a general description of financial risks, including currency, interest rate and 

credit risks as well as the Group’s policy in these areas, reference is made to Risk 

factors in the management’s review on page 14.  

  Derivative financial instruments

 At 31.12.2006 and at 31.12.2005 the Group had not entered into any forward 

contracts or other derivative financial instruments.   

 

22 Non-cash operating items

  Depreciation and impairment 

  losses, property, plant 

  and equipment

  Adjustments of deferred tax

  Other adjustments

  Total

 

23 Accounting estimates and judgements

 

Parent company

 2005     2006

 32.2 48.4

 (8.2) (13.8)

 3.8 18.9

 27.8 53.5

 Group

 2006     2005

 91.2 71.1

 (31.2) (46.5)

 30.4 8.5

 90.4 33.1

None of these new accounting standards and interpretations is expected to have 

any effect on the financial reporting of Dyrup A/S in or after 2007, apart from the 

fact that additional supplementary information may have to be given in the financial 

statements.   

The IASB and the EU have adopted the following new accounting standards and 

interpretations that are not mandatory for Dyrup in connection with the preparation 

of the annual report for 2006:   

The Group makes limited use of forward exchange contracts to hedge contrac-

tual and budgeted cash fl ows. Changes in the value of derivative fi nancial in-

struments are recognised in the income statement under fi nancial income and 

expenses as they arise, as they do not qualify for hedge accounting.

Estimation uncertainty

Determining the carrying amounts of some assets and liabilities requires esti-

mation of the effects of future eventson the carrying amounts of those assets 

and liabilities at the balance sheet date. Estimates that are material for the 

fi nancial reporting relate primarily to measurement of intangible assets, prop-

erty, plant and equipment, inventories and deferred tax assets.

  

The estimates applied are based on assumptions which are  sound, in manage-

ment’s opinion, but which, by their nature, are uncertain and unpredictable. 

The assumptions may be incomplete or inaccurate, and unforeseen events or 

circumstances may occur. Moreover, the company is subject to risks and uncer-

tainties that may cause the actual results to differ from these estimates. Special 

risks for the Group are disclosed in the management’s review under the section 

on Risk factors on page 14.  

  

Basis for management’s judgements 

As part of the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management 

makes assessments, in addition to estimates, that may have material effect on 

the amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements.  

  

The judgements that have the greatest effect on the amounts recognised in the 

fi nancial statements relate primarily to intangible assets, property, plant and 

equipment, inventories and deferred tax assets.  

  

In management’s opinion, no judgements have been made  in connection with 

the accounting policies in the fi nancial reporting for 2006 with comparative 

fi gures for 2005, apart from the accounting estimates referred to above, that 

have a material effect on the fi nancial reporting.  
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Dyrup A/S
Gladsaxevej 300
DK-2860 Søborg
Tel: +45 39 57 93 00
Fax: +45 39 57 93 93

Dyrup A/S
Birkemosevej 1
DK-6000 Kolding
Tel: +45 76 34 15 00
Fax: +45 76 34 15 01

Belgium
Dyrup NV
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Poland
Dyrup Sp. z o.o.
ul. Dabrowskiego 238
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Tel: +48 42 649 29 39
Fax: +48 42 649 26 66

Portugal
Tintas Dyrup, S.A.
Rua Cidade de Goa, 26
P-2686-951 Sacavém
Tel: +351 21 841 02 00
Fax: +351 21 941 45 82

Spain
Pinturas Dyrup, S.A.
Polígono Industrial Santiga
Plà dels Avellaners, 4
E-08210 Barberà del Vallés
Barcelona
Tel: +34 93 729 30 00
Fax: +34 93 729 20 22

Sweden
Dyrup Färg AB
Älggatan 2
Box 230
S-574 23 Vetlanda

Germany
Dyrup GmbH
Klosterhofweg 64
D-41199 Mönchengladbach
Tel: +49 2166 964 6
Fax: +49 2166 964 700

Austria
Dyrup GmbH
Wienerbergstraße 11/12
A-1100 Wien

Company addresses

Tintas Dyrup, S.A., Portugal
Capital: EUR 2,6 milion. Ownership: 100%

Pinturas Dyrup, S.A., Spain
Capital: EUR 0,3 milion. Ownership: 100%

Dyrup GmbH, Austria
Capital: EUR 0,2 milion. Ownership: 100%

Dyrup AS, Norway
Capital: NOK 0,7 milion. Ownership: 100%

Various small or dormant public and private limited companies
Ownership: 100%

Dyrup S.A.S., France
Capital: EUR 4,0 milion. Ownership: 100%

Group diagram

Dyrup A/S
Capital: DKK 100,0 milion. 

Dyrup GmbH, Germany
Capital: EUR 0,5 milion. Ownership: 100%

Dyrup NV, Belgium
Capital: EUR 0,8 milion. Ownership: 100%

Dyrup Sp. z o.o., Poland
Capital: PLN 4,9 milion. Ownership: 100%

Dyrup Färg AB, Sweden
Capital: SEK 0,6 milion. Ownership: 100%
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Summary

Result as projected in the interim report for the  

third quarter of 2006

•	� Profit before tax was an unsatisfactory profit of DKK 51 million 

compared with DKK 125 million in 2005.

•	� Revenue for 2006 was DKK 11,083 million, up from DKK 8,463 

million in 2005. The level of activity increased in both the 

Contracting business and the subsidiaries. 

•	� The result primarily reflected a negative development on  

a few large residential and refurbishment projects in Greater 

Copenhagen. The main reasons were the historically high 

level of activity in the industry, which is adversely affecting 

planning potential and the access to resources, and more 

onerous and more costly contracting with trade contractors 

than foreseen.

•	� The subsidiaries are still developing favourably, delivering 

operating profit of DKK 243 million in 2006.

•	� Income tax expense was a net charge of DKK 14 million, 

giving an effective tax rate of 28% compared with 20% in 

2005. 

•	� Equity including minority interests stood at DKK 1,048 million 

at the end of 2006, equivalent to an equity ratio of 22%  

compared with 26% in 2005.

•	� Return on invested capital increased was 5.6% in 2006  

compared with 12.8% in 2005.

•	� Cash inflow from operating activities was DKK 317 million 

compared with DKK 341 million in 2005.

Outlook for 2007

•	 �The order book stood at DKK 10,752 million at the end of 

2006, equivalent to approx. 12 months’ production.

•	� Market conditions are expected to be stable in 2007, when 

revenue is expected to amount to approx. DKK 11 billion. 

International revenue for 2007 is expected to increase to just 

over 20% of total revenue, compared with 17% in 2006.

•	� Pre-tax profit in the region of DKK 225 million is anticipated 

for 2007.

Ownership

MT Højgaard is owned by the two listed companies  

Højgaard Holding a/s (54%) and Monberg & Thorsen A/S (46%).

Højgaard Holding a/s

Klampenborgvej 221, 2nd floor

2800 Kgs. Lyngby

Denmark

Tel. +45 4520 1500

Fax +45 4520 1501

hojgaard@hojgaard.dk

www.hojgaard.dk

Monberg & Thorsen A/S

Oslo Plads 14 – PO Box 2685

2100 Copenhagen Ø

Denmark

Tel. +45 3546 8000

Fax +45 3546 8080

monthor@monthor.dk

www.monthor.dk 

This document is a translation of the Danish Annual Report.  

In the event of discrepancies between the English translation  

and the Danish text, the latter shall prevail.

Design and production

Rumfang

ANNUAL REPORT 06

MT Højgaard a/s 

Knud Højgaards Vej 9 

2860 Søborg

Denmark 

Reg. No. 1256 2233 

Tel +45 3954 4000 

Fax +45 3954 4900 

mail@mth.dk 

www.mthojgaard.com
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Definitions of financial ratios

DEFINITIONS 
OF FINANCIAL 

RATIOS

[Inderside af flap]

Tekst er endnu ikke udarbejdet. [Inderside af omslag]

Tekst er endnu ikke udarbejdet.

Limet ryg...

Gross margin	 =
	 Gross profit

	 	 	 Revenue

Operating margin (EBIT margin)	 =
	 Earnings before interest and tax

	 	 	 Revenue

Pre-tax margin	 =
	 Earnings before tax

	 	 	 Revenue

Return on invested capital	
=
	 EBIT

incl. goodwill (ROIC)	 	 Average invested capital incl. goodwill 

Return on equity (ROE)	 =
	 Profit after tax

	 	 	 Average equity incl. minorities

Equity ratio	 =
	 Equity incl. minorities, year end

	 	 	 Liabilities, year end

Earnings per share (EPS)*	 =
	 Profit for the year attributable to parent

	 	 	 Average number of shares outstanding

	 	 �	    Invested capital represents the capital invested 	

	 	  in operating activities, i.e. the assets that 

Invested capital	 =	    generate income. Invested capital is measured as 	

	 	 	    �the sum of equity, minority interests and net inte-

rest-bearing debt. 

*�In MT Højgaard the result of the measurement of earnings per share (EPS) is identical 	

to diluted earnings per share (EPS-D).

Denmark’s leading building
and construction company

We create space for people’s activities. We set our stamp all over 

Denmark, building bridges and harbours, roads and railways, commer-

cial and industrial buildings, housing and institutions. 

We were founded at the beginning of the previous century by four 

enterprising entrepreneurs. Even back then, we were ahead of the field, 

both in what we built and where we built it. 

Today, we are still developing some of the industry’s most efficient 

construction techniques and methods. We are developing new working 

processes, forms of collaboration and better ways of creating value – 	

for our customers and the many people that move in, above and below 

the structures that we build. Because we have a wealth of experience 

and boast almost every single skill in the industry, we can undertake 

any building and civil works project. That is why we are able to say: 	

We know how. It is our ambition to do such a good job that we are 

recognised as Denmark’s leading building and construction company. 	

To be known for listening, adding value and creating individual solu-

tions, so that we are consulted from the very start of a project in 

complete confidence that the final result will come up to everyone’s 

expectations. 

You can read more about our organisation and competencies on mth.dk.

Vision

Denmark’s leading building and construction company

Mission

We create space for people’s activities and achieve building and 	

construction visions by systematising and combining knowledge and 

craftsmanship.

Values 

• Customer-minded

• Trustworthy

• Innovative

• Value-adding

• Sound financial base

• Good employer
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	 	 	                       Pro forma*	 	 	

	 Amounts in DKKm	 	 2002	 2003	 2004	 2005	 2006

	 	 	

	 Income statement	 	 	 	 	

	 Revenue	 	 9,668	 7,982	 7,363	 8,463	 11,083

	 Operating profit (loss) (EBIT)	 	 (419)	 42	 97	 138	 59

	 Net financing costs and profit (loss) of associates	 	 (15)	 (1)	 (16)	 (13)	 (8)

	 Profit (loss) before tax	 	 (434)	 40	 81	 125	 51

	 Profit (loss) for the year	 	 (364)	 26	 81	 100	 37

	 	 	 	 	

	 Balance sheet	 	 	 	 	

	 Share capital	 	 200	 220	 220	 220	 220

	 Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent	 	 502	 828	 902	 996	 1,024

	 Equity incl. minority interests	 	 509	 847	 917	 1,016	 1,048

	 Balance sheet total	 	 4,148	 3,560	 3,216	 3,926	 4,833

	 Interest-bearing assets	 	 332	 436	 267	 265	 354

	 Interest-bearing liabilities	 	 838	 592	 411	 303	 301

	 Invested capital	 	 1,028	 1,025	 1,080	 1,074	 1,015

	 	 	 	 	

	 Cash flows	 	 	 	 	

	 Cash flows from operating activities	 	 (9)	 107	 3	 341	 317

	 Cash flows for investing activities**	 	 (132)	 (112)	 (21)	 (169)	 (240)

	 Cash flows from financing activities	 	 107	 328	 4	 (47)	 (7)

	 Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	 	 (34)	 323	 (14)	 125	 70

	 ** Portion relating to property, plant and equipment (gross)	 	 (319)	 (118)	 (220)	 (230)	 (288)

	 	 	 	 	

	 Financial ratios (%)	 	 	 	 	

	 Gross margin	 	 0.0	 5.5	 5.9	 5.7	 4.0

	 Operating margin (EBIT margin)	 	 (4.3)	 0.5	 1.3	 1.6	 0.5

	 Pre-tax margin	 	 (4.5)	 0.5	 1.1	 1.5	 0.5

	 Return on invested capital (ROIC)	 	 (37.3)	 4.1	 9.2	 12.8	 5.6

	 Return on equity (ROE) 	 	 (52.8)	 3.6	 9.2	 10.3	 3.6

	 Equity ratio	 	 12.3	 23.8	 28.5	 25.9	 21.7

	 Earnings per share (EPS), DKK	 	 (33.3)	 1.7	 7.2	 8.5	 2.6

	 	 	 	 	

	 Other information	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Order book, end of year	 	 5,327	 4,797	 5,398	 8,352	 10,752

	 Average number of employees	 	 6,225	 5,535	 4,950	 5,260	 5,889

	 	 	 	 	

	 �

	 �The financial ratios have been calculated in accordance with the Danish Society of Financial Analysts’ ’Recommendations & 	

Financial Ratios 2005’. Financial ratios are defined on the back cover of the annual report. 

	 �The financial highlights for 2004-2006 have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 	

as adopted by the EU. 

	 �* The financial highlights for 2002-2003 are pro forma figures, with the existing financial highlights based on the Danish Financial 	

Statements Act and Danish Accounting Standards having been restated, in all material respects, to comply with IFRS practice. 	

Adjustment has been made in the income statement for the effect of the discontinuation of goodwill amortisation, foreign currency 	

translation relating to foreign subsidiaries and derivative financial instruments, while the balance sheet has only been adjusted for 	

the effect of the reclassifications relating to contract work in progress.
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2006 was an eventful year for MT Højgaard, in many ways. 

We started out with a good result in the first quarter and expectations 

that 2006 could be the break-through year in relation to our financial 

targets. 

Unfortunately, events turned out differently. Towards the middle of 2006 

we seriously began to feel the effects of the overheated construction 

market, primarily on a few large residential and refurbishment projects 

in Copenhagen, with increasing prices for materials, supply problems, 

problems with trade contractors, etc. A very demanding and difficult 

situation for MT Højgaard, with the unfortunate consequence that, in 

the fourth quarter, we had to adjust our profit outlook for 2006 down-

wards to profit in the region of DKK 50 million before tax.

We have now met these expectations, with full-year pre-tax profit of 

DKK 51 million, which  can only be described as disappointing based on 

the record revenue of DKK 11 billion.

We have, however, learnt from 2006, and we have put various meas-

ures in place that are intended to prevent the recurrence of a similar 

situation. For example, we have been critically analysing, area by area, 

the project opportunities and initiatives that will be required to ensure, 

first and foremost, that earnings reach the targeted level. 

MT Højgaard is a company with significant potential. In 2006, we saw 

many positive signs that the development is also moving in the right 

direction. The earnings performance for both subsidiaries and business 

units has been significantly positive and in accordance with the strategy 

plans.

We opened four new offices in 2006, so that we now have offices in 

17 locations in Denmark. This is in accordance with our strategy to be 

countrywide and local, and we have been incredibly well received in 

the locations in which we have opened new offices. That applies to 

both customers that would like to collaborate with us and potential 

employees.

At the start of the year we introduced the Housing Concept, which was 

met with much approval. The Housing Concept represents innovative 

thinking, and we are delighted that both customers and employees 

can see the idea behind the concept. We are exploring the possibilities 

for developing other concepts as a means of meeting our customers’ 

needs.

In 2006, we developed our organisation so that the structure is now 

completely unambiguous, with countrywide construction, civil works 

and utility services activities. We are convinced that we can develop 

MT Højgaard from this platform, delivering satisfactory financial results 

in the years ahead.

Most important of all, in MT Højgaard we have employees that display 

commitment and enthusiasm. On balance, I consequently believe that 

there are grounds for being optimistic in relation to achieving the stra-

tegic earnings targets we have set ourselves.

Kristian May

President and CEO
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The MT Højgaard Group undertakes all forms of contracting work and 

operates in a number of specialist areas nationally and internationally.

The core activities of the building and construction company in Den-

mark are organised into four business areas (Civil Works, Construction, 

Utility Services and Refurbishment) and five business units (Ajos, A.V. 

Andersen, MT Højgaard Joiners/Carpenters, Design and Project Devel-

opment). The international activities, primarily comprising civil works 

projects, are taken care of by the business area International. 

The capabilities and activities that are not directly related to the coun-

trywide construction and civil works activities are placed in subsidiaries 

with separately profiled competencies in relation to the customers and 

market areas they serve.

Group diagram
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The MT Højgaard Group delivered pre-tax profit of DKK 51 million for 

2006 compared with DKK 125 million in 2005.

The result was in line with the projections in the interim report for the 

third quarter of 2006 of pre-tax profit in the region of DKK 50 million. 

At the start of the year, pre-tax profit was projected to be in the region 

of DKK 175 million.

The unsatisfactory result primarily reflected losses on a few large resi-

dential and refurbishment projects in Greater Copenhagen. The main 

reasons for the negative development were:

• �the historically high level of activity in the industry, which is straining 

resources, both with respect to materials and labour, and which is ad-

versely affecting planning potential and the access to resources;

• �more onerous and more costly contracting with trade contractors than 

foreseen, leading to cost increases and delays.

The organisation, including the management structure within the prob-

lem areas, was modified in 2006 with a view to strengthening the man-

agement focus, and the requirements concerning risk profile and earn-

ings on new projects were tightened still further. HR efforts focusing on 

organisational development will be intensified in the coming year.

The high level of activity in the construction industry, which is straining 

resources and putting prices under pressure, means that it is necessary 

to be highly selective when choosing new projects, with a reduction 

in the level of activity in the longer term as a possible and accepted 

consequence. 

Income statement

Revenue for 2006 totalled DKK 11,083 million, up 31% on 2005, pre-

dominantly reflecting organic growth. 

The revenue growth, to which all the Group’s business segments con-

tributed, was driven primarily by the very high level of activity in the 

Danish building and civil works market in 2006. International activities 

accounted for 16.6% of revenue compared with 15.7% in 2005.

The MT Højgaard Group reported operating profit (EBIT) of DKK 59 mil-

lion in 2006 compared with DKK 138 million in 2005. The decline in 

profit was due to the development in the Contracting business, particu-

larly as a result of the losses on a few large residential and refurbish-

ment projects referred to above. The subsidiaries reported profit ahead 

of expectations. The operating margin (EBIT margin) dropped to 0.5%, 

from 1.6% in 2005, as a result of the revenue growth and the decline 

in profit.

The share of the results of associates contributed DKK 0 million com-

pared with DKK (3) million in 2005.

Net financing costs amounted to a net charge of DKK 8 million com-

pared with DKK 10 million in 2005. The favourable development was 

due predominantly to a reduction in the Group’s average net interest-

bearing debt and a stable, low interest rate level. 

The result before tax for 2006 was a profit of DKK 51 million compared 

with DKK 125 million in 2005, giving a pre-tax margin of 0.5% com-

pared with 1.5% in 2005. 

Income tax expense was a net charge of DKK 14 million, giving an ef-

fective tax rate of 28% versus 20% in 2005. Income tax expense was 

made up of a current tax charge of DKK 98 million and tax income 

of DKK 84 million due to a change in the Group’s deferred taxes. The 

The Group’s development
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Group’s deferred net tax asset amounted to DKK 215 million at the end 

of 2006 compared with DKK 130 million in 2005.

Consequently, the result after tax was a profit of DKK 37 million com-

pared with DKK 100 million in 2005.

On the Buxton project, there are no changes to report in relation to 

what was stated in the 2005 annual report. The claims for extra pay-

ments advanced by MT Højgaard are the subject of arbitration. In ac-

cordance with the company’s policy, no income has been recognised in 

the financial statements in this respect.

Balance sheet

The Group’s balance sheet total increased by 23% in 2006, standing at 

DKK 4,833 million at 31 December 2006 compared with DKK 3,926 mil-

lion at the end of 2005. The development reflected the increase in the 

level of activity in 2006.

Equity including minority interests increased by DKK 32 million, stand-

ing at DKK 1,048 million at the end of 2006, corresponding to an equity 

ratio of 22% versus 26% in 2005. Besides profit for the year, equity was 

affected by a dividend of DKK 5 million to minority shareholders.

Net interest-bearing debt decreased by DKK 91 million, amounting to 

a net deposit of DKK 53 million at the end of 2006. The development 

essentially reflected a reduction in funds tied up in working capital as a 

result of improved cash flow on work in progress, more than offsetting 

the reduction in the cash operating result, and a higher level of invest-

ment and capital expenditure than in 2005.

Invested capital amounted to DKK 1,015 million at the end of 2006 

compared with DKK 1,074 million in 2005, and the return on invested 

capital was 5.6% versus 12.8% in 2005. 

Cash flows and financial resources

Operating cash inflow was DKK 317 million compared with DKK 341 

million in 2005.  

Cash flows for investing activities amounted to DKK 240 million net 

versus DKK 169 million in 2005. Of this figure, DKK 219 million related 

to net capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment; DKK 32 

million to purchase of securities; DKK (6) millio+n to net investments 

in enterprises; and DKK (5) million to dividends from associates. Capital 

expenditure on property, plant and equipment, which increased by DKK 

52 million in 2006, related primarily to replacement of and new invest-

ment in contractors’ plant and equipment and operating buildings.

Cash flows from financing activities amounted to DKK (7) million, com-

pared with DKK (47) million in 2005, relating to decreases in non-cur-

rent bank loans, etc. 

There was a net cash inflow of DKK 70 million compared with an inflow 

of DKK 125 million last year. The net cash balance, calculated as cash 

less the current portion of bank loans, etc., amounted to DKK 217 mil-

lion compared with DKK 148 million at the end of 2005.

The Group’s financial resources at 31 December 2006 amounted to DKK 

942 million compared with DKK 714 million in 2005, which is satis-

factory. Financial resources are calculated as cash, including cash and 

cash equivalents in joint ventures, and securities and undrawn credit 

facilities.   
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THE GROUP’S DEVELOPMENT

The financial resources include cash and cash equivalents in joint ven-

tures of DKK 185 million that are available exclusively to the joint ven-

tures, compared with DKK 89 million in 2005.

Order book

The order book increased by 29% in 2006, standing at DKK 10,752 mil-

lion at the end of 2006. 

	 DKKm	 2006	 2005

	 Order book at start of year	 8,352	 5,398

	 Order intake during year	13 ,483	11 ,417

	 Production during year	 (11,083)	 (8,463)

	 Order book at year end	1 0,752	 8,352

The order book corresponds to on average about 12 months’ production 

based on the outlook concerning the level of activity in 2007. The order 

book includes a number of large orders extending over several years.

Employees

The average number of people employed by the MT Højgaard Group in 

2006 was 5,889 compared with 5,260 in 2005. The number of employ-

ees increased steadily during the year, closing 2006 at 6,245, up 653 

on the same time last year. The development reflects the increase in 

the level of activity.

Acquisition and disposal of enterprises

In March 2006, MT Højgaard strengthened its position in the concrete 

renovation market in East Denmark by acquiring the activities of Otto 

Christensen & Kaj Sørensen, including its staff of 47.

As part of the restructuring of the Group, the operations of the subsidi-

ary Marius Hansen Facader a/s were sold to Facade Systemer A/S in 

Viborg in October 2006. Marius Hansen Facader’s 60 employees were 

transferred to the buyer. 

The acquisition and disposal of these operations were in line with 

MT Højgaard’s strategy and did not have any significant effect on the 

Group’s revenue and profit for 2006.

Knowledge resources

Skills development, knowledge sharing and development of products 

and methods are systematised in MT Højgaard.

 

Skills development and knowledge sharing

MT Højgaard is a knowledge-intensive enterprise, and the key to the 

Group’s continued development is therefore the employees with their 

skills and motivation.

Recruitment, skills development and initiatives to retain employees are 

consequently areas that are given high priority in MT Højgaard. 

In 2006, the spotlight was on management development and train-

ing. This included the preparation of information material for existing 

and future managers on the conduct that is essential for managers in 

MT Højgaard, and leadership is a key element of the newly developed 

”Basic course for new managers”.

A new employee appraisal system, featuring mutual evaluation of em-

ployees and managers, was also put in place in 2006. The employees 

are judged on their professional and personal skills, and the managers 

on their leadership abilities. MT Højgaard participates in a management 

development programme with seven other large Danish companies 

in collaboration with a professional course provider. The programme 
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centres on leadership and specific action plans, and the participating 

companies exchange leadership experience to mutual benefit. 

MT Højgaard also has an in-house project manager programme for de-

velopment of project managers and other project employees, along 

with various employee training courses that are also adapted to eLearn-

ing so that they can be completed as self-study courses. The programme 

includes the mandatory induction course for salaried employees, ”Wel-

come to MT Højgaard”. From 2007, an induction course for hourly paid 

staff will also be introduced. 

Recruitment and retention of employees is a major challenge for the 

construction industry these days. MT Højgaard offers young engineers 

and construction designers a rotation scheme, giving them the oppor-

tunity to gain an insight into many different professional areas over a 

period of about 3.5 years. Newly qualified engineers and construction 

designers can choose between two schemes - the targeted rotation 

scheme and the exploratory rotation scheme. In both schemes, the 

young graduates move between several departments in MT Højgaard. 

The targeted rota scheme is for new graduates that are clear about 

their interests. The exploratory scheme gives young graduates an op-

portunity to find out which areas are of particular interest to them with 

a view to later specialisation. 

In order to ensure sufficient manpower in future, MT Højgaard has es-

tablished a knowledge centre for foreign labour. The purpose is to at-

tract tradesmen, project managers and trade contractors from abroad. 

MT Højgaard has good experience of using tradesmen from Germany 

and Poland, in particular. The knowledge centre offers assistance with 

all practical aspects related to insourcing of foreign labour. MT Højgaard 

expects to increase its recruitment of foreign labour in the years ahead 

and to step up its collaboration with foreign trade contractors. 

Work is continuously in progress on knowledge sharing, and all informa-

tion has been gathered in MT Højgaard’s knowledge system. Here em-

ployees can obtain information about different aspects of the building 

process at any time – from the latest news about occupational health 

and safety regulations and quality assurance to information about col-

laboration with clients, authorities and colleagues.

Development of products and methods

MT Højgaard continuously strives to develop new processes and forms 

of collaboration, both those that are directly aimed at clients, consul

tants and end users, and those that relate to optimisation of our build-

ing processes.

 

Against the background of an extensive survey of the lifestyles and 

housing requirements and wishes of different types of Danes, MT Høj-

gaard developed and marketed ”the Housing Concept” in 2006, which 

comprises three concept models within residential construction that are 

tailored to the needs of the various target groups. 

The concept, which comprises the basic models BasisBo, NærBo and 

IdealBo, is based on experience from earlier building projects, and 

production has thus been optimised to ensure profitable and efficient 

execution. A more detailed description of the concept is given on the 

website ”boligkonceptet.dk”.

Partnering is a form of collaboration in which the partners: client, con-

tractor and consultants, work together on a building project by adopting 

common objectives and common incentives. With this form of collabo-

ration the best results are achieved if the partnering collaboration is 

initiated before start-up of the project. Partnering offers the advantage 

that all relevant competencies are present during the project defini-

tion phase. At this stage, the partners involved, including the contrac-

tor’s competencies, can be exploited to the full for the purpose of es-

tablishing clear-cut guidelines in all phases and optimising planning, 

constructability and the use of resources. The concept is conducive to 

countering and handling potential conflicts in the collaboration. Experi-

ence shows that building projects conducted as partnering are more 

effective, in terms of both time and money. MT Højgaard has set up 

the website ”partnerskab.dk”, which describes how it is possible to col-

laborate with MT Højgaard on a partnering basis.

Learning supply teams are a variation on the partnering concept, where 

the partnership is between MT Højgaard and the suppliers. Agreeing on 

regular collaboration over a lengthy period of time provides scope for 

developing and enhancing the procedures associated with supplies. For 

the learning supply teams the aim is to create a collective experience 

and thus achieve a more flexible process and greater efficiency.

The TrimBuild® production concept is a process management tool that 

creates a more efficient and seamless building process. In a joint rolling 

planning scheme, the system coordinates activities between the play-

ers on the building site, allowing for efficient responses to any devia-

tions from a planned course of action. Experience shows that TrimBuild 

is instrumental in reducing the number of errors, increasing safety at 

the building site and creating a more efficient and flexible building 

process.

Public Private Partnership (PPP) is a collaboration model for handling 

public sector projects that require long-term investments. The gist of 
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the concept is, based on an overall financial assessment, to offer design, 

financing, building, operation, maintenance and services over a lengthy 

period as one project. MT Højgaard has completed the first PPP contract 

in Denmark in collaboration with Dan-Ejendomme and the Norwegian/

German Bank DnB NORD. The joint venture completed the construction 

of Vildbjerg School in the Municipality of Trehøje in 2006. The contract 

includes operation and maintenance of the school for 30 years.

Environmental issues

MT Højgaard is aware of its responsibility in relation to the external 

environment, and takes environmental considerations into account in 

connection with all its activities.

Compliance with current legislation and other environmental require-

ments forms the basis for the environmental action that is designed to 

ensure that activities are carried out in such a way that the environ-

mental impact is minimised as much as is technically and financially 

feasible.

MT Højgaard strives to anticipate the potential environmental impacts 

of its activities. Based on its environmental management system and 

in collaboration with clients and business partners, MT Højgaard identi-

fies the environmental factors and risks associated with each project to 

ensure that appropriate environmental action can be taken.

Employees are trained to routinely carry out assignments in an envi-

ronmentally safe manner and in accordance with the guidelines and 

procedures set out in the environmental management system, which is 

based on the ISO standards.

On the health and safety front, MT Højgaard wishes to promote a corpo-

rate culture that focuses on employee health and safety and on avoid-

ing occupational accidents. MT Højgaard has gained health and safety 

accreditation. This implies a duty to continuously focus on health and 

safety and on achieving improvements in this area. MT Højgaard strives 

to continually improve health and safety at the individual workplace by 

means of information, instruction, risk assessment and inspection visits 

to the individual workplaces, coupled with investigation of occupational 

accidents and assessment of near-misses. As a result of this action, the 

number of accidents resulting in long-term absence has fallen, although 

the target of reducing the accident frequency rate, i.e. the number of 

occupational accidents per one million hours worked, to 35 has yet to 

be met. In 2006, the accident frequency rate was 40.7 compared with 

42.9 in 2005. Besides the overall target, the action plan for the current 

year features sub-targets relating to attitude-shaping as far as concerns 

the health and safety culture.

Organisation

In mid-2006, MT Højgaard restructured the Contracting business so 

that, overall, the business areas are based on competencies and are 

countrywide, although Refurbishment in Greater Copenhagen has been 

retained as a separate business area. The purpose is to underpin the 

strategy of profitable growth by strengthening the regional focus and 

optimising the exploitation of competencies and resources.

At the same time, the masonry and joinery/carpentry activities have 

been spun off from Refurbishment in Greater Copenhagen, so that they 

are now separate business units. The Housing Concept, which has so far 

been a business unit, is now part of business area Construction.

Strategic platform

The strategic work for the period 2005-2010 is headed ”Profitable 

growth”.

The MT Højgaard Group’s strategy features a Group revenue target in 

the order of DKK 12 billion by 2010 and a target of achieving a pre-tax 

margin of 2-2.5% within a few years. In pursuing the first target, the MT 

Højgaard Group‘s risk management guidelines must be observed.

The main elements of the strategy are as follows:

• �Organic growth, which is not expected to exceed 10% a year in the 

business areas

• Strengthening of the project development activities

• Broadening of the geographical coverage in Denmark

• �Further development of the international activities within MT Høj-

gaard’s core competencies

• Development of concepts and conceptualisation of existing activities

• Development of the subsidiaries with focus on further consolidation

• �Strategic acquisitions that will broaden MT Højgaard’s market cover-

age in Denmark.

 

Market conditions have been instrumental in MT Højgaard’s revenue 

growing faster than expected, but earnings on a few large residential 

and refurbishment projects in Greater Copenhagen were highly unsat-

isfactory. The high level of activity has strained resources, both with 

respect to suppliers and employees, making it necessary to be highly 

selective when choosing new projects, with a reduction in the level of 

activity in the longer term as a possible and accepted consequence. 

Profitability is a priority in relation to growth, and each segment focuses 

critically on initiatives that can bring earnings up to the targeted pre-tax 

margin within a few years. 

THE GROUP’S DEVELOPMENT
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The work on implementation of the strategy continued in 2006, with 

the following results in the other areas:

• �The organisation has been developed so that its structure is unam-

biguous, with countrywide construction, civil works and utility services 

activities. This platform forms the basis for the development of MT 

Højgaard, including the delivery of a satisfactory financial perform-

ance in the years ahead

• �Project development activities were at a high level in 2006. A total of 

425 dwellings and a multi-storey car park were either handed over, in 

progress or at tender stage

• �The geographical coverage was strengthened in 2006, with the open-

ing of new offices in Svendborg, Slagelse, Thisted and Holstebro, so 

that MT Højgaard now has offices in 17 locations in Denmark

• �The international activities reported profitable growth, almost doub

ling the level of activity 

• �The Housing Concept, which reflects innovative thinking, was intro-

duced to the market at the start of the year. MT Højgaard is also de-

veloping concepts within other types of building

• �In the subsidiaries and business units, the development of the stra-

tegic platform continued to plan. The market position was generally 

strengthened, and the earnings trend was positive.

Corporate Governance

In 2005, the Copenhagen Stock Exchange Committee on Corporate Gov-

ernance adopted revised recommendations, which listed companies 

must take a position on in their annual reports from and including 2006 

based on the “comply-or-explain” principle, in accordance with Disclo-

sure obligations for issuers of shares listed on the Copenhagen Stock 

Exchange (Section 36). 

MT Højgaard is not a listed company, but is owned by Højgaard Holding 

a/s (54%) and Monberg & Thorsen A/S (46%), both of which are listed 

on the Copenhagen Stock Exchange. MT Højgaard’s annual report conse-

quently does not include a separate section on Corporate Governance. 

Reference is made to the respective owner companies’ annual reports 

for details of their Corporate Governance principles. 

The future

The Danish building and civil works market is expected to stabilise in 

2007 at the existing very high level, but with the possibility of a slight 

decline in the level of activity towards the end of the year as a result 

of a slowdown in market conditions. It is estimated that about DKK 115 

billion of the total market volume of about DKK 190 billion in 2007 will 

lie within MT Højgaard’s spheres of interest.

The activities within construction are expected to stagnate, as the 

progress in the commercial area, particularly within administrative 

buildings, is not expected to be able to make up for the decline in resi-

dential construction, within which a small downturn is expected in both 

private and subsidised construction. 

The refurbishment market will benefit from a high level of activity with-

in conversion and upgrading projects again in 2007. 

With a continued high level of investment within the transport sector, 

the civil works market in Denmark is expected to remain stable. The 

utility services market is on the increase again in the current year due 

to the continued high willingness to invest in telecommunications.

As far as concerns the international activities, an increasing level of 

activity is expected in 2007, with the focus on selective identification of 

project opportunities in relation to own competencies and resources.

The order book stood at DKK 10.8 billion at the start of 2007, with DKK 

8 billion expected to be executed in 2007. With the strengthened order 

book compared with last year and an expectation of a high level of 

activity, with continued pressure on resources and prices, MT Højgaard 

will be highly selective when choosing new projects. Revenue for 2007 

is expected to reach approx. DKK 11 billion. The proportion accounted 

for by international revenue is expected to increase to just over 20% of 

total revenue in 2007, compared with 17% in 2006. 

Selectivity and focusing are expected to lead to a significant improve-

ment in earnings in the Contracting business. The progress will be rea

lised successively during 2007 as the written-down projects with a low 

contribution margin are completed.  The subsidiaries are expected to 

realise satisfactory results again in 2007, albeit at a lower level than 

in 2006. Consolidated pre-tax profit is expected to be in the region of 

DKK 225 million. 

The Group’s effective tax rate is expected to be on a par with the Dan-

ish tax rate. 

The Government is considering tabling a bill in 2007 on amendment of 

the income tax legislation. A reduction of the income tax rate in 2007 

would affect the tax base of the MT Højgaard Group’s deferred net tax 

asset.

The projections concerning future financial performance are subject to 

uncertainties and risks that may cause the performance to differ from 

the projections expressed in this report.
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The MT Højgaard Group’s primary format for reporting segment infor-

mation, as can be seen from the financial statements, follows the over-

all internal business organisation of the activities on 1 July 2006, cf. 

the group diagram on page 3, and comprises the Contracting business, 

Other activities (subsidiaries) and Corporate functions, etc.

The Contracting business

The Contracting business is organised into five business areas and five 

business units. The business areas Civil Works, Construction and Utility 

Services are countrywide, while Refurbishment operates in Greater Co-

penhagen. The international activities, primarily comprising civil works 

projects, are taken care of by the business area International. 

The business units Ajos, A.V. Andersen, MT Højgaard Joiners/Carpen-

ters, Design and Project Development undertake projects for external 

clients and for the five business areas.

The Contracting business delivered total revenue of DKK 7,770 million 

in 2006, up 36% on 2005.

	 Contracting business – DKKm	 2006	 2005

	 Revenue	 7,770	 5,705

	 Operating profit (loss)	 (132)	 78

	 Average number of employees	3 ,223	 2,764

	 Order book at year end	 8,195	 6,078

Revenue can be broken down by activity as illustrated in the table 

below.

	 Revenue – DKKm	 2006	 2005

	 Civil Works (Civil Works, Utility Services 

	 and  International)	 2,875	 2,182

	 Construction (Construction and 

	 Refurbishment)	 4,489	3 ,387

	 Business units	1 ,393	1 ,050

	 Eliminations/others	 (987)	 (914)

	 Contracting business	 7,770	 5,705

The operating result was a loss of DKK 132 million in 2006, compared 

with a profit of DKK 78 million in 2005. As already mentioned, the de-

cline compared with last year primarily reflected a loss on a few large 

residential and refurbishment projects in Greater Copenhagen. 

At the end of 2006, the order book stood at DKK 8,195 million, up DKK 

2,117 million on last year. Slightly lower revenue and significantly im-

proved earnings are anticipated for 2007.

Civil Works activities

The civil works activities (Civil Works, Utility Services and International) 

reported revenue surpassing expectations, overall, but profit below ex-

pectations. 

Civil Works

Civil Works undertakes traditional civil works projects, with the main 

emphasis on earthworks, sewers, concrete and marine works. Project 

types include construction of roads, bridges, harbours, shell structures, 

steel structures, prefabricated construction and concrete renovation. 

Customers come from the public sector as well as the private sector 

Although the year was characterised by a high level of activity, earnings 

were lower than anticipated due to a few highly complex, loss-making 

projects. A number of challenging projects led to an extra burden on 

Civil Works’ resources in 2006. Despite reasonable market conditions, 

the projects were won against fierce price competition, which also put 

pressure on earnings. 

The firm of Otto Christensen & Kaj Sørensen, which became part of Civil 

Works in 2006, won the Danish Concrete Association’s Concrete Prize 

2006 in recognition of its long-standing contribution in the field of con-

crete repairs at a high professional level. 

Civil Works signed a contract with a foreign partner specialising in space-

saving parking systems based on an automated lift system, where cars 

are parked without the driver’s assistance. 

Foreign business partners are increasingly important to the execution 

of projects, both in terms of staffing and supplies of building materials, 

which are increasingly procured from abroad. This trend looks set to 

continue in 2007.

A sustained high level of activity is projected for 2007, with focus on 

optimisation of profitability on current projects and selective contract-

ing of new projects.

The segments

THE SEGMENTS
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Utility Services

Utility Services was set up as a separate business area on 1 July 2006. 

The activities include burying and installation of electrical cables, opti-

cal fibre network and broadband cables for data transmission, water 

supply, sewers and gas pipes. Part of the installation work and electrical 

work is being carried out in collaboration with the electrical installa-

tions company Lindpro a/s. 

A long period of frost at the start of 2006 resulted in a shorter produc-

tion year than normal. The excavation work did not get seriously un-

derway until April, and the rest of the year was characterised by a very 

high level of activity on Zealand.

The level of activity was higher, throughout the year, than anticipated, 

predominantly as a result of client wishes to accelerate the pace, espe-

cially as far as concerns the underground installation of overhead lines 

and optical fibre cables in residential districts. 

In order to maintain the high level of activity, Utility Services contracted 

with foreign trade contractors from Poland and Germany. Utility Services 

also participated in retraining of 50 former abattoir employees that had 

been made redundant following the closure of the facility, but are now 

part of the workforce in Utility Services.

In 2006, Utility Services worked mainly on Zealand, although, at the 

end of the year, it commenced collaboration with electrical companies 

on Funen and in Jutland.

A growing level of activity is projected for 2007 as a result of the en-

largement of the geographical area to include other parts of Denmark. 

The increased production is expected to be covered by foreign contrac-

tors, as it is still proving difficult to procure sufficient Danish labour for 

this area.

Projects in Civil Works

Concert hall, Danish Broadcasting Corporation, Ørestaden – 26,000 m2, 

seating 1,800. Large parts of the project were designed in parallel with 

construction, making extensive demands on applied engineering, engi-

neering knowledge and collaboration

Road widening, Danish Road Directorate, Motorring 3 motorway ring 

road and Køge Bugt motorway – Widening of Motorring 3 by one lane 

in each direction on the section between Klausdalsbrovej and Jægers-

borg Allé. Widening of Køge Bugt motorway to eight and ten lanes and 

various bridge works. Both projects are being carried out in collaboration 

with MJ Eriksson

District heating tunnel, Copenhagen Energy, Copenhagen – 4 km long 

tunnel with a diameter of 4.2 m at a depth of 35 m from Amager Power 

Station via Ny Adelgade to Fredens Plads. In 2006, three shafts were 

sunk, and drilling from Amager under the Port of Copenhagen towards 

Ny Adelgade commenced. The project is being carried out in joint ven-

ture with the German contracting firm of Hochtief AG

Motorway, Danish Road Directorate, Århus – Phase involving a new 4-

lane motorway from Søften to Skødstrup north-west of Århus

Quay facility, Port of Århus – Enlargement of Port of Århus with establish-

ment of new quay facility. The marine works department is currently 

working on various contracts at Ensted Power Station and the Port of 

Esbjerg

Bridge work, Rail Net Denmark, Oslo Plads, Copenhagen – Insulation of 

bridge and establishment of new, broad pavements and platforms on 

either side of the bridge for use by buses

Refurbishment of Christiansborg Palace Tower, Palaces and Properties 

Agency – Extensive refurbishment of the palace tower, which is built in 

copper-clad concrete. The tower has 11 storeys. Lindpro is assisting in 

the rewiring and renewal of the electrical installations

Overflow basin, Copenhagen Energy, Skt. Annæ Plads – 8,000 m3 over-

flow basin for safeguarding the water quality in the Port of Copenhagen

Projects in Utility Services

Copenhagen Energy’s electricity activities (now DONG Energy) – Power 

supply work in connection with the new districts of Ørestaden, Sluse-

holmen and Havneholmen, and supply cable for the new playhouse 

in Copenhagen

Frederiksberg Forsyning (now DONG Energy) – A number of small 

projects within district heat, gas, water, drainage and electricity

SEAS-NVE – Underground installation of about 200 km of high-volt-

age, low-voltage and optical fibre networks in several small towns 	

in South Zealand and various fibre links. The work has been com-	

pleted in eight towns, and work is progressing in a similar number of 

towns

NESA (now DONG Energy) – Establishment of about 200 km of high-

voltage, low-voltage and optical fibre networks in large towns in 	

NESA’s supply area and dismantling of the old supply network and 

refurbishment of transformer stations
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International

This business area focuses primarily on four geographical areas: the 

Faroe Islands, Greenland,  South-West Asia and the Middle East. In-

ternational also boasts core competencies within the construction of 

foundations for offshore wind farms and lighthouses.

Of these geographical areas, the main focus is on the Faroe Islands 

and Greenland, where both residential construction and civil works are 

being undertaken, and South-West Asia, where the main emphasis is 

on civil works.

Overall, 2006 was a good year for business area International. Revenue 

was slightly ahead of expectations, at almost twice the 2005 level, and 

the results exceeded expectations, overall.

The very high level of activity in business area International was re-

flected in an extremely satisfactory order book for execution in 2007. 

There is still a large untapped potential within the market areas and the 

market segments within which International operates, and the focus is 

on selective identification of project opportunities in relation to own 

competencies and resources. In view of the healthy order book at the 

end of the year, a growing level of activity is anticipated for 2007.

Construction activities

The construction activities (Construction and Refurbishment) realised 

revenue ahead of expectations, but a very unsatisfactory financial result 

overall.

With a view to improving earnings, the business areas Residential Con-

struction, Commercial Construction and Jutland/Funen were brought 

together in a single countrywide business area, Construction, on 1 July 

2006, following a major restructuring.  

Construction

Business area Construction undertakes all forms of construction across 

Denmark. This area has strong competencies within both large multi-

storey housing blocks and family dwellings, commercial buildings, in-

stitutions and sports facilities. This business area’s project managers 

focus on new forms of construction in close collaboration with clients, 

consultants and other partners. Projects completed in 2006 included 

dwellings, manufacturing facilities, head offices, hotels, warehouse fa-

cilities and a large multi-storey car park.

Geographically, the business area is divided into five divisions: Greater 

Copenhagen, Funen & Zealand, South Jutland, Central Jutland and  

North Jutland. The local presence plays a crucial role to the divisions’ 

competitiveness. Consequently, a further four local offices were opened, 

in Holstebro, Slagelse, Svendborg and Thisted. The business area’s  

revenue still comes predominantly from small, locally anchored buil-

ding and refurbishment projects, where local knowledge and specia

list competencies are combined with the Group’s countrywide com-

petencies. In-house production is being undertaken within all types 

of joinery/carpentry, masonry and concrete works. The business area 

often collaborates with subsidiaries specialising in, for example, steel 

structures, electrical installations and lightweight wooden modular buil

dings. 

THE SEGMENTS

Projects in International

Shopping centre, Tórshavn, Faroe Islands – This project comprised modi-

fication and refurbishment of a shopping centre, which remained in op-

eration throughout the construction period

Mine, Fiskefjorden, Greenland – The establishment of a mine for extrac-

tion of the mineral olivine continued. A harbour facility and permanent 

crushing plant were established in 2006. In parallel with this work, just 

over 100,000 tonnes of olivine were extracted, crushed and shipped out. 

The establishment in Fiskefjorden will be completed in 2007, followed 

by operation of the mine for five years

Apartments, Jagtvej, Nuuk, Greenland – 60 apartments in a 12-storey 

block, built under the company’s own auspices, were all sold and hand-

ed over. The housing block, which is Greenland’s tallest tower block, is 

now a landmark building in the centre of Nuuk

Europort, Gibraltar – The conversion and fitting-out of apartments for 

Europort Five Limited in a hotel building continued

Clean drinking water, Sri Lanka – South of the town of Kandy a large 

project involving treatment and distribution of drinking water in a pipe-

line system commenced. Danida is funding this project, which will be 

completed in 2009, and is intended to ensure clean drinking water for 

about 20,000 households

Harbour construction projects, the Maldives – Construction of several 

small harbours for the Maldives Government 

Offshore wind turbine foundations, UK – 25 offshore wind turbines were 

established and installed for the Burbo Bank offshore wind farm off 

Liverpool on the west coast of the UK for the DONG-owned company 

SeaScape Energy Ltd.

Offshore wind turbine foundations, UK. - A contract has been signed for 

54 foundations for construction in 2007 for the Lynn & Inner Dowsing off-

shore wind farm that is under construction off the east coast of the UK
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Concept consists of three models that have been tailored to the Danes’ 

preferred way of living: Basisbo, Nærbo and Idealbo. They are all tai-

lored quality dwellings at highly competitive prices. In 2007, another 

two concept projects will be built: another Basisbo project in Aalborg 

and a Nærbo project in Odense.

In December, Construction handed over Denmark’s first OPP project, 

Vildbjerg School in the Municipality of Trehøje. As this form of project 

factors operation and maintenance into the building from the outset, 
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2006 was a busy year for the new business area due to increased 

demand for new building, in particular, and revenue exceeded ex-

pectations, although earnings for the year were unsatisfactory due to 

substantial losses on a few large residential projects in Greater Copen-

hagen. 

In 2006, Construction embarked on the first construction project based 

on the Housing Concept: at Blegkilde Allé in Aalborg, Construction is 

building 69 rental dwellings based on the Basisbo model. The Housing 

Projects in Construction

Multi-storey car park, Teglholmen – Sophisticated multi-storey car park in 

Copenhagen South Port, where the architecture respects the area’s history 

by retaining three striking and characteristic brick-faced gables in the mod-

ern multi-storey car park

DONG Energy, Gentofte – New extension to DONG’s existing office building 

in Gentofte. This building covers a total area of 6,900 m2 incl. basement

Svendborg Gymnasium, Funen – Construction of upper-secondary school 

with classrooms, fitness rooms, changing facilities and club rooms. The 

sports hall is built on an incline so that one enters the building at the top, 

gaining a view of the sports hall, which has seating for 500

The Marina Houses, Vordingborg – Design-build contractor on the construc-

tion of 30 luxury apartments directly overlooking Vordingborg marina in a 

protected harbour area with a view of Masnedsund and the Faroe Bridges

Arresøparken, Frederiksværk – 60 sheltered housing units situated in Ar-

resøparken near the town of Vinderød. The sheltered housing consists of six 

residential units each featuring ten sheltered dwellings, gathered round a 

central corridor with associated common areas, staff and service facilities. 

On the southern part of the site, 25 handicap-friendly dwellings for the 

elderly are also being built

Vildbjerg School, Municipality of Trehøje – Construction of a state-of-the-art 

school for 700 pupils, including electronic whiteboards and operation and 

maintenance for the next 30 years through the OPP company behind the 

school (Denmark’s first OPP project)

Tranbjergparken, Århus – Refurbishment of deteriorating fibre cement roofs 

on 304 dwellings in Tranbjerg that were fitted with completely new, pitched 

roofs, giving more light. The project included new surfacing of the paths on 

the housing associations’ grounds

Frederikshavn Handelsskole – Extension of commercial college, including 

new classrooms, facade refurbishment and new storage facilities. Conver-

sion of existing library into new auditorium. Establishment of bay windows, 	

	

	

giving additional light to basement classrooms. Extension and modification 

of kitchen facilities 

The Royal School of Library and Information Science, Aalborg – 3-storey 

building with partial basement that is used as a school building. The building 

is being clad in natural stone to match the other buildings in the area, and 

areas with large glass facades are being added. The layout features offices, 

classrooms and common areas

Fyrholm – Residential development in Copenhagen’s new canal village at 

Sluseholmen. A total of 196 dwellings distributed on 9 canal houses, 12 

quay houses and 5 port houses, each with its own unique architectural 

idiom. This design-build project was designed by five different architectural 

practices

Horisonten I – Phase I of a 30,000 m2 residential development on C.F. 

Møllers Allé in Ørestaden, with a magnificent view of Amager Fælled and 

the new golf course. The apartments were originally intended to be private 

rental apartments, but some were changed to owner-occupied apartments 

along the way. Hand-over in March 2007

Rødbo – Construction of secure, homely residential environment for resi-

dents suffering from aphasia.  Besides a common house that includes train-

ing facilities and administration, Rødbo features four housing groups with 

each ten spacious, handicap-friendly dwellings with two rooms, a bath-

room, a kitchenette and a terrace

Universitetshaven – Construction of two apartment blocks in Ørestaden for 

Kuben under a design-build contract. The 40 co-operative housing units and 

134 owner-occupier apartments feature different layouts, ranging from 70 

to 111 m2, all with large, attractive balconies

The flexible dwelling – Construction of 126 unconventional dwellings in Øre-

stad City for Kuben under a design-build contract. Apartments in the ”flex 

zones” have been designed with a basic layout that can be varied, adjusted 

or expanded according to individual wishes. All apartments will feature bal-

conies the full width of the apartment
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Construction was able to hand over a school of a very high quality. At the 

same time, Vildbjerg School is a good example of successful application 

of TrimBuild. Despite the hard winter, the school was handed over after 

only 12 months. Using TrimBuild ensures both a smooth workflow, a 

better working environment, fewer defects, optimised production and 

economy, and handing-over on time. This project proves that TrimBuild 

is an efficient tool for improving efficiency in the building process.

A sustained high level of activity is projected for 2007, albeit lower than 

in 2006, with focus on optimisation of profitability on current projects 

and selective contracting of new projects.

Refurbishment (Copenhagen)

This business area undertakes large and small building projects in exist-

ing buildings, ranging from replacement or repair of individual build-

ing parts such as windows and balconies, to complete refurbishment, 

where the existing building is extensively renewed and refurbished.

Refurbishment specialises in project management and has accumu-

lated extensive building expertise within most types of property. Often, 

the work has to be carried out while parts of the building are still in 

use as offices, shops or dwellings. This means that the refurbishment 

must be carried out in close collaboration between residents, client and 

own employees. Projects are normally undertaken on a main contract 

basis and often as partnering, which has proved particularly appropri-

ate to refurbishment and conversion projects. Besides expertise and 

manpower from the rest of the Group, Refurbishment uses the same 

business partners on most refurbishment projects. 

Although revenue showed an upward trend in 2006, earnings were 

unsatisfactory due to a combination of complex projects won against 

fierce price competition, increased costs and lack of resources among 

the trade contractors.

The outlook for 2007 is a fall in revenue due to a heightened focus on the 

solution of existing projects and selective contracting of new projects.

Business units

The business units comprise Project Development, Ajos, Design, MT Høj-

gaard Joiners/Carpenters and A.V. Andersen.

Overall, the business units generated revenue and profit significantly 

ahead of expectations. Profit benefited from the increased level of 

activity within plant and equipment hire (Ajos) and project develop-

ment.

Project Development develops projects for clients and investors and 

generates building projects for the Contracting business. Projects are 

undertaken on the sites to which MT Højgaard holds the title as well as 

on clients’ own development sites.

In 2006, activities centred particularly on a number of residential 

projects. Teglholms Have, a residential project in Copenhagen South 

Port comprising 135 apartments, was completed and handed over to 

the buyer. Also on Teglholmen in Copenhagen South Port, a multi-

storey car park with just over 650 spaces was completed and handed 

over to the buyer, Zeta Invest A/S. In the same area, the owner-oc-

cupier project Frederikskaj was developed. This project, comprising 152 

units, commenced in autumn 2006. In Høje Tåstrup, the Hallands Enge 

project, comprising 55 two-storey terraced houses and apartments, 

was sold, and construction has commenced. The Dageløkke Ege project, 

comprising 70 owner-occupier dwellings/terraced houses and situated 

near Humlebæk in North Zealand was developed and has been put up 

for sale. In Nivå, the Teglsøhuse project comprising several phases of 

terraced houses and apartments was developed. Phase I comprising 25 

units has been put up for sale.

THE SEGMENTS

Projects in Refurbishment

Urban renewal, Håndværkerforeningens Fond Alderstrøst, Nørre Allé, Co-

penhagen – Total conversion of 12,000 m2 from corridor apartments into 

modern family dwellings. The project draws on all refurbishment com-

petencies and makes heavy demands in terms of project management

Apartments, Projektudvikling 3XM ApS, Spaniensgade, Copenhagen 

– Total conversion of 4,400 m2 student residences into owner-occupied 

apartments and addition of penthouse floor. The existing building will 

be demolished down to the load-bearing structures and then rebuilt 

from there

Head office, GN Store Nord, Ballerup – Fitting out and conversion of 

12,000 m2 existing office building into head office for GN Store Nord and 

covering of atrium in concrete, steel and glass

Shops and offices, Keops, Copenhagen – Total conversion of Gallery K 

(previously the City Arcade) into 12,000 m2 offices and retail space. 	

Extensive structural alterations and complex modification of one of the 

most heavily trafficked areas in Copenhagen

Office property, MP Pension, Teglholmen, Copenhagen – Conversion of 

existing 7,000 m2 office building into offices and studios for TV2 Denmark

Factory building, Novo Nordisk/NNE, Gentofte – Conversion of 600 m2 

factory building into laboratories, including extensive installation work
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Residential construction on the outer fringes of Greater Copenhagen is 

still attracting interest, and several projects are in the pipeline in the 

commercial area, which is growing. Access to new project opportunities 

is being continuously explored through acquisition, options and devel-

opment collaboration. MT Højgaard expects to market new self-gener-

ated housing projects again in 2007.

Ajos takes care of MT Højgaard’s plant and equipment hire activities 

for internal use and for external customers. Ajos has Denmark’s largest 

fleet of contracting machinery, cranes, construction lighting, workmen’s 

cabins, site generators and other building site equipment. The concept 

of being an all-in supplier in relation to the individual building project 

is developing favourably, and the activities, which are carried on from a 

countrywide network of plant hire centres, showed significant progress 

in 2006.

Design is MT Højgaard’s integrated skills centre within consulting engi-

neering and design services relating to civil works, buildings, concrete, 

installations, steel structures for heavy industrial plants, and environ-

mental consultancy. In 2006, the focus was on outsourcing parts of the 

activities to low-wage countries. In future, Design will be involved more 

actively in the business areas’ projects with a view to optimal handling 

of the design risk.

MT Højgaard Carpentry/Joinery was spun off as a separately profiled 

business unit on 1 July 2006. The activities comprise all forms of car-

pentry and joinery work and are primarily undertaken in Greater Copen-

hagen on both self-generated projects and projects for external clients. 

The principal market area in 2006 was new building of housing.

The masonry company A.V. Andersen was also spun off as a separately 

profiled business unit on 1 July 2006. These activities, which are un-

dertaken for both internal and external clients, comprise brick-facing 

of new residential and commercial buildings, restoration and refurbish-

ment projects and insulation work. A.V. Andersen operated with a high 

level of activity in 2006.

Other activities – subsidiaries, etc.

This segment comprises the MT Højgaard Group’s subsidiaries and joint-

ly controlled enterprises with separately profiled competencies.

	 DKKm	 2006	 2005

	 Revenue	3 ,312	 2,758

	 Operating profit	 243	1 28

	 Average number of employees	 2,535	 2,371

	 Order book at year end	 2,557	 2,274

The subsidiaries and the jointly controlled enterprises realised revenue 

in line with expectations. Operating profit increased by DKK 115 million 

to DKK 243 million in 2006, exceeding expectations. The improvement 

was due, to some extent, to non-recurring factors.

Greenland Contractors, the electrical installations company Lindpro, the 

contracting companies Seth and Enemærke & Petersen, and the crane 

business BMS outperformed expectations. The other subsidiaries per-

formed in line with expectations.

At the end of 2006, the order book totalled DKK 2,557 million compared 

with DKK 2,274 million in 2005, and revenue at a slightly higher level 

than in 2006 is projected for 2007.

Composite Limited

Composite Limited operates in the UK market, specialising in precast 

concrete frames. Its expertise lies within design and project manage-

ment. 

Revenue and earnings for 2006 were in line with 2005, as expected. 

In view of the order book at the end of the year, a level of activity on a 

par with 2006 is expected for 2007.

Enemærke & Petersen a/s

Enemærke & Petersen undertakes refurbishment and new building 

projects on Zealand and in Greater Copenhagen, specialising in roofs, 

facades and penthouses. Its activities span from partnering projects and 

design-build and main contracts to small specialised projects, and com-

prise mainly housing, schools, institutions and commercial buildings.

In 2006, the building maintenance activities were spun off into a sepa-

rate division with a view to accommodating the growing market for 

building maintenance.

2006 was characterised by a high level of activity. Both revenue and 

earnings developed very satisfactorily, surpassing expectations.

The level of activity within the company’s core areas is expected to 

continue to be high in the coming year. The order situation was satisfac-

tory at the end of 2006, and revenue in line with 2006 is anticipated 

for 2007.

ANNUAL REPORT 06
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Lindpro a/s

In 2006, Lindpro cemented its position as the largest and leading com-

pany in the electrical installations market in Denmark and Greenland. 

The traditional electrical installations business is still the key core area, 

although composite supplies to the customer segments within, for ex-

ample, the telecommunications sector, security and transport solutions 

are becoming increasingly important. 

Lindpro thus markets a range of specialist competencies within the ar-

eas intelligent building installations, fire alarm systems, intruder alarm 

systems, access control systems, CCTV, patient call systems, industrial 

installations and instrumentation, parking systems and electromecha

nical work. 

The activities in Denmark are organised into a head office in Glostrup 

and a network of local departments across Denmark that combine the 

organisation’s technical capabilities with sound local knowledge and a 

fast service response. In Greenland, the Lindpro subsidiary Arssarnerit is 

the largest electrical installations company, with a head office in Nuuk 

and departments in South and West Greenland.

Lindpro delivered a particularly satisfactory financial performance in 

2006. Revenue showed a significant increase, up approx. 40% on 2005, 

and earnings kept pace with revenue. The significant progress was due 

to many new projects from the entire geographical market and within 

all product areas.  The progress primarily reflected the growth strategy 

that was put in motion a year ago and has thus proved sustainable. In 

2006, Lindpro strengthened its sales and marketing organisation, tak-

ing on approx. 250 new employees to enable it to handle the many 

new customers and assignments. 

Continued revenue growth is projected for 2007, when Lindpro will im-

plement a new, simplified organisational structure, with larger regions 

that collaborate closely on the implementation of projects, with well-

defined new skills centres within, for example, the telecommunications 

and security areas. Lindpro will continue focusing on simplifying and 

improving the efficiency of its work processes to optimise profitability.

Promecon a/s

Promecon is one of Denmark’s leading companies within steel struc-

tures and industrial service, with departments in Fredericia, Esbjerg, 

Kalundborg, Aalborg and Valby. Its activities comprise solutions for 

buildings and bridges, tanks, piping and process plant, and solutions 

within industrial service and offshore. 

The steel market was characterised by sharp fluctuations in steel prices 

again in 2006. The level of activity was in line with expectations.

Like 2005, profit was eroded by costs relating to an initiated strategy 

project the aim of which is to develop and expand the level of activity 

within the core areas, contracting and industrial service.

It is expected that the strategy project will be fully implemented in 

2007 and that it will have a positive impact on earnings in the years 

ahead. Based on a satisfactory order book at the end of 2006, higher 

revenue is forecast for 2007.

Scandi Byg a/s

Scandi Byg is a market leader within the manufacture of prefabricated 

wooden modular buildings. Applications for the modules include hous-

ing, child care institutions, schools and offices across Denmark. Scandi 

Byg also manufactures and markets customised and standardised work-

men’s cabins for the construction industry. 

Scandi Byg delivered revenue exceeding expectations within all seg-

ments in 2006. However, profit did not entirely match expectations, 

primarily reflecting insufficient earnings on a few residential projects. 

The production facilities were expanded during the year to enable the 

company to meet the growing demand for its product programme.

A continued high level of activity is anticipated for 2007 within the seg-

ments in which Scandi Byg has elected, via its Growth Plan 2010, to pri-

oritise its action, i.e. within residential construction, office construction, 

construction of schools and institutions, and sale of workmen’s cabins. 

Scandi Byg entered 2007 with a reasonable order book, and a general 

increase in revenue is expected for 2007 compared with 2006.

Seth S.A. (75%)

Seth operates in the Portuguese market, specialising in three core ar-

eas: marine works, industrial construction and building for the US Air 

Force and the US Navy, including dwellings on the Azores. 

Seth reported higher revenue in 2006 than in 2005, along with very 

satisfactory earnings. 

In 2007, a slight increase is expected in the level of activity in the Portu-

guese building and civil works market, which continues to be character-

ised by a low level of public expenditure. Seth succeeded in making up 

THE SEGMENTS
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for the weak domestic market by increasing its level of activity in Africa, 

where Seth has signed several contracts within its core competencies. 

A satisfactory order intake in the second half of 2006 will ensure Seth a 

stable level of activity in 2007.

Jointly controlled entities

BMS A/S (50%)

With more than 1,000 mobile units, BMS A/S is Scandinavia’s largest 

company within hire of mobile, belt and lorry cranes and within lifts. 

BMS undertakes complex assignments at power stations, refineries and 

other industrial enterprises within erection/dismantling of plant and 

machinery. BMS also erects and services wind turbines.  

BMS operates from ten depots located in Rødovre, Slagelse, Odense, 

Kolding, Esbjerg, Århus, Holstebro and Nørre Sundby, and in Malmö and 

Helsingborg in Sweden, the two latter cities through the wholly-owned 

subsidiary TP Kranar AB. 

With a level of activity within the building and civil works sector in both 

Demark and Southern Sweden that exceeded expectations, BMS suc-

ceeded, through high utilisation of its equipment fleet, in generating 

revenue and earnings slightly ahead of expectations. 

A continued high and unchanged level of activity is anticipated for 

2007.

Greenland Contractors I/S (67%)

Greenland Contractors carries out operating, service and maintenance 

assignments and minor construction assignments at Thule Air Base in 

Greenland. For many years, the company’s principal client has been the 

US Air Force, although the company also performs assignments for the 

Greenland authorities and for private companies and organisations.   

Revenue for 2006 was on a par with 2005, while profit was up on 

2005. 

Revenue in line with 2006 is projected for 2007, but lower profit.

Corporate functions

The corporate staff functions in MT Højgaard, comprising Administrative 

Service; Purchasing, Health, Safety & Quality; Business Development, 

Business Systems and Communications; and Marketing, feature, togeth-

er with other non-allocated corporate items, under Corporate functions, 

etc., in the segment information in the financial statements.

In 2006, the staff functions were strengthened within Administrative 

Service by the addition of a legal department that contributes legal 

expertise through all the phases of a building and civil works project, 

helping to prevent and contain conflicts on the projects being under-

taken.

In 2006, MT Højgaard prepared for meeting the requirements for ”Dig-

ital Construction”. The requirements, which will be introduced at the 

start of 2007, apply to all construction projects for the State, and enable 

all parties in the construction process to gather and exchange construc-

tion documents digitally.

In the IT area, a platform for a cohesive corporate system for digitalising 

MT Højgaard’s core processes was established in 2006. The digitalisation 

project is one of the key elements of the target to continuously improve 

efficiency.

As part of the focus on a stronger market orientation, a corporate brand 

project was initiated in 2006 that is to contribute to making MT Høj-

gaard the preferred supplier for customers and the preferred workplace 

for employees. This action is based on the company’s values.

In the purchasing area, MT Højgaard continued working on placing a 

growing proportion of its project purchases with strategic business part-

ners and increasing the proportion of foreign purchases.

ANNUAL REPORT 06
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MT Højgaard’s activities entail various commercial and financial risks 

that may affect the Group’s development, financial position and opera-

tions.

It is considered a critical part of the strategy to continuously minimise 

the current risks, which are not generally deemed to differ from the 

normal risks facing contractors.

The overall framework for managing the risks that are judged to be 

critical for the company is laid down in the business concept and the 

associated policies. In view of the development in 2006, a number of 

internal processes were tightened, particularly the processes related to 

contracting. These measures are also intended to ensure that manage-

ment at all levels follow guidelines by actively considering significant 

risks so that MT Højgaard does not assume atypical or unnecessary 

risks.

The Group endeavours to cover, as far as possible, significant risks be-

yond MT Højgaard’s control by taking out relevant insurance policies.

Market conditions

Market conditions have a major impact on the contracting industry, and 

the building sector is periodically used as a regulating factor in fiscal 

policy. Fiscal policy initiatives may include both tightening and expan-

sionist measures in the form of subsidy schemes and grants.

MT Højgaard’s position in the Danish market, coupled with its spread on 

markets, customers and areas of expertise, helps to balance risks under 

fluctuating market conditions.

The market trend within the various business areas and segments often 

differs under varying economic framework conditions. 

Projects

Project management is crucial to ensure satisfactory value creation in 

the company.

MT Højgaard’s knowledge management system features all the proce-

dures and paradigms required to handle the individual project from sale 

and tendering to hand-over to the client.

Prior to bidding for major tenders, MT Højgaard carries out a systematic, 

structured review of the projects to ensure that risk areas are identified 

and unforeseen events minimised.

Process management during the construction phase is paramount 

to ensure that building site activities are efficiently coordinated and 

optimised. The project management tool TrimBuild is used on many 

projects to enhance quality and productivity on the individual project, 

reducing the risk of delays and budget overruns on individual projects.

Partnering is a form of collaboration under which a larger part of the 

responsibility lies with the contractor through his participation in design 

and planning. This concept, which is becoming increasingly popular, 

improves the possibilities for optimising risk identification on the in-

dividual project.

On major projects, joint venture cooperation is often used as a further 

means of minimising risks.

The Group provides standard performance and payment bonds in the 

form of bank guarantees, guarantee insurances and bond deposits as 

security for contracts and supplies. At the end of 2006, performance 

and payment bonds, etc., totalled DKK 2,969 million compared with 

DKK 2,576 million in 2005.

Project development

The project development activities in 2006 again centred on residential 

construction. The risk attaching to this activity relates primarily to the 

development in the market for residential construction and the extent 

to which dwellings sell prior to start-up of the project.

The start-up of self-generated housing projects is subject to the sale 

of at least 75-80% of the project having been secured. The develop-

ment in the housing market is being monitored closely. Where several 

projects are started up at the same time, the focus is on balancing the 

overall risk.

Currency risks 

Currency risks are managed centrally in MT Højgaard, and the Group 

endeavours to minimise currency risks by seeking to match income to 

expenditure on each project so that they balance with respect to cur-

rency.

Consolidated revenue denominated in foreign currency amounted to 

DKK 0.5 billion in 2006, with revenue in EUR accounting for DKK 0.3 

billion.

Risk factors

RISK FACTORS
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Where major currency positions arise in currencies outside the euro 

zone, these are normally hedged using forward exchange contracts. 

The currency exposure therefore mainly relates to the value of foreign 

investments, which are not normally hedged.

Interest rate risks

Interest rate risks relate primarily to interest-bearing debt items, as 

cash is mainly placed on short-term, fixed-term deposit and in bonds 

with a maturity of 2.0 years at the end of 2006. The Group’s interest-

bearing debt, which is mainly denominated in Danish kroner, amounted 

to DKK 301 million at the end of 2006, with short-term borrowings 

making up 42% of this figure. About 66% of the interest-bearing debt 

is fixed-interest.

A cash pool agreement has been established for the parent company 

and most of the Group’s subsidiaries.

Credit risks 

Credit risks are generally managed by regular credit rating of major 

clients and business partners. No client accounted for more than 5% of 

revenue or 10% of trade receivables and contract work in progress at 

the end of 2006.

Risks relating to dealings with counterparties other than banks are min-

imised, to a great extent, by means of guarantees based on individual 

assessment of each counterparty.

Political credit risks on international projects are hedged through export 

credit insurance based on individual assessment.

Cash flow risks are managed through established, appropriate credit 

lines and committed facilities that match the need for financing planned 

operating activities and expected capital expenditure.



20

Management statement and Auditors’ report

Statement by the Executive and Supervisory Boards

The Executive and Supervisory Boards have today discussed and ap-

proved the annual report of MT Højgaard a/s for the financial year 

2006.

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and additional 

Danish disclosure requirements for annual reports. We consider the ac-

counting policies used to be appropriate. Accordingly, the annual report 

gives a true and fair view of the Group’s and the parent company’s 

financial position at 31 December 2006 and of the results of the Group’s 

and the parent company’s operations and cash flows for the financial 

year 1 January - 31 December 2006.

We recommend that the annual report be approved at the Annual Gen-

eral Meeting.

Søborg, 21 March 2007

Executive Board

Kristian May	 Jens Bak-Nyhus	 Allan H. Christensen 	 Peter Kofoed 	 	 	

President and CEO

Supervisory Board

Per Møller	 Jørgen Nicolajsen	 Irene Chabior	 Jette Grabow	 Stefan Hansen

Chairman	 Deputy Chairman	 Employee representative	 Employee representative	 Employee representative	

							     

Morten Iversen 	 Erik D. Jensen	 Poul Lind	 Bent Pedersen

MANAGEMENT STATEMENT AND AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Independent auditors’ report

To the shareholders of MT Højgaard a/s

We have audited the annual report of MT Højgaard a/s for the finan-

cial year 1 January - 31 December 2006, which comprises manage-

ment’s review, the statement by the Executive and Supervisory Boards, 

accounting policies, cash flow statement, income statement, balance 

sheet, statement of changes in equity and notes for the Group as well 

as for the parent company. The annual report has been prepared in ac-

cordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 

by the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements for annual 

reports.

Management’s responsibility for the annual report

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation 

of the annual report in accordance with International Financial Report-

ing Standards as adopted by the EU and additional Danish disclosure 

requirements for annual reports. This responsibility includes: designing, 

implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the prepara-

tion and fair presentation of an annual report that is free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and using ap-

propriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are 

reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility and basis of opinion

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the annual report based on 

our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Danish Standards 

on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical re-

quirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assur-

ance whether the annual report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 

the amounts and disclosures in the annual report. The procedures se-

lected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment 

of the risks of material misstatement of the annual report, whether 

due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors 

consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the annual report in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 

control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of ac-

counting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

made by Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the annual report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Our audit did not result in any qualification.

Opinion

In our opinion, the annual report gives a true and fair view of the 

Group’s and the parent company’s financial position at 31 December 

2006 and of the results of the Group’s and the parent company’s opera-

tions and cash flows for the financial year 1 January - 31 December 

2006 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

adopted by the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements for 

annual reports. 

Copenhagen, 21 March 2007

KPMG C.Jespersen

Statsautoriseret Revisionsinteressentskab

Finn L. Meyer	 Niels Erik Borgbo

State Authorised Public Accountant	 State Authorised Public Accountant
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                Jens Bak-Nyhus 	 	 Kristian May	 	 	 Peter Kofoed	 	 Allan H. Christensen

				    President and CEO

Executive Board
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Per Møller 

(Chairman)

Member of the Supervisory Board of

Atrium Partners A/S (CB)

RTX Telecom A/S (DCB)

Glunz & Jensen A/S (DCB)

Det Danske Klasselotteri A/S (CB)

Højgaard Holding a/s (CB)

BioMar Holding a/s (DCB)

Jørgen Nicolajsen 

(Deputy Chairman)

President, Monberg & Thorsen A/S

Member of the Supervisory Board of

Dyrup A/S (DCB)

Irene Chabior*

Education and Training Consultant

Jette Grabow*

Financial Manager

Stefan Hansen*

Specialist Worker

Morten Iversen

State Authorised Public Accountant (licence deposited)

Member of the Supervisory Board of

Højgaard Holding a/s

Erik D. Jensen

CEO, Royal Scandinavia A/S 

Member of the Supervisory Board of

Seven subsidiaries of Royal Scandinavia A/S (CB/DCB)

Artium Skandinavisk Design Center ApS

Ejnar og Meta Thorsens Fond

PBI-Holding, Ringsted A/S and various subsidiaries (CB)

PBInge A/S (CB)

CENS A/S (CB)

Poul Lind

CEO, PowerSense A/S

Member of the Supervisory Board of

RTX Telecom A/S (CB)

Monberg & Thorsen A/S

Bent Pedersen

Member of the Supervisory Board of

Eksport Kredit Fonden (CB)

Eksport Kredit Finansiering A/S (CB)

Axcel Management A/S (CB)

Axcel IndustriInvestor a.s. (DCB)

Højgaard Holding a/s (DCB)

BankInvest’s venture funds

DnB Nor Bank ASA, Norway (DCB)

DnB Nor ASA, Norway

*) Employee representative

(CB) Chairman of the Supervisory Board

(DCB) Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Supervisory Board
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Financial statements
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group’s and the parent company’s annual report has been prepared 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 

adopted by the EU and additional Danish disclosure requirements for 

annual reports, cf. the statutory order on the adoption of IFRS issued 

pursuant to the Danish Financial Statements Act. In addition, the annual 

report has been prepared in compliance with IFRS issued by the IASB.

The annual report is presented in Danish kroner.

The accounting policies are unchanged from those set out in the 2005 

annual report.

The amendments to IAS 19 ”Employee Benefits”, IAS 21 ”The Effects 

of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” and IAS 39 ”Financial Instru-

ments, Recognition and Measurement”, all of which became operative 

on 1 January 2006, have no effect on the MT Højgaard Group’s financial 

reporting.

Basis of preparation

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the parent company MT 

Højgaard a/s and subsidiaries in which the Group holds, directly or indi-

rectly, more than 50% of the voting rights or which it controls in some 

other way.

Other enterprises in which the Group holds between 20% and 50% of 

the voting rights and over which it has significant influence, but not 

control, are accounted for as associates. These enterprises are not con-

solidated; however, enterprises controlled jointly by MT Højgaard a/s 

and one or more other enterprises are recognised in the consolidated 

financial statements using proportionate consolidation. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis of 

the parent company’s and the individual enterprises’ audited financial 

statements determined in accordance with the accounting policies of 

the MT Højgaard Group.

On consolidation, identical items are aggregated and intragroup income 

and expenses, shareholdings, balances and dividends are eliminated. 

Unrealised gains and losses arising from intragroup transactions are 

also eliminated.

Newly acquired or newly formed enterprises are recognised in the con-

solidated financial statements from the date of acquisition or forma-

tion. Enterprises disposed of are recognised in the consolidated financial 

statements up to the date of disposal. Comparative figures are not re-

stated for newly acquired enterprises or enterprises disposed of. 

Gains and losses on disposal of subsidiaries and associates are reported 

by deducting from the proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of net 

assets including goodwill at the date of disposal and related selling 

expenses. 

Presentation of discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity the operations 

and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished, operationally and 

for financial reporting purposes, from the rest of the entity and that has 

either been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and expected to 

be disposed of within one year according to a formal plan.

Post-tax profit and value adjustments of discontinued operations and 

operations classified as held for sale are presented as a separate line 

item in the income statement with comparative figures. Revenue, ex-

penses and tax of discontinued operations are disclosed in the notes. 

Assets and related liabilities are reported as separate line items in the 

balance sheet. 

The cash flows attributable to the operating, investing and financing 

activities of discontinued operations are disclosed in a note.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of enterprises over which the parent company obtains con-

trol are accounted for applying the purchase method. The acquiree’s 

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are measured at 

fair value at the acquisition date. Identifiable intangible assets are rec-

ognised if they are separable or arise from a contractual right and the 

fair value can be measured reliably. The tax effect of the restatements 

performed is taken into account.

Any excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the assets 

acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed (goodwill) is 

recognised as goodwill under intangible assets. Any excess of the fair 

value over the cost of the acquisition (negative goodwill) is credited to 

the income statement at the acquisition date.

If there is any uncertainty at the acquisition date concerning the meas-

urement of identifiable assets acquired or liabilities or contingent liabili-

ties assumed, initial recognition is based on provisional fair values. If it 

is subsequently found that identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities had a different fair value at the acquisition date than initially 

Accounting policies
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assumed, goodwill is adjusted within twelve months of the acquisition 

date. 

Minority interests

Minority interests are recognised initially on the basis of the fair values 

of the acquiree’s assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the ac-

quisition date.

Subsidiaries’ items are fully consolidated in the consolidated financial 

statements. The minority interests’ proportionate share of profit for the 

year appears from the income statement. In the balance sheet minority 

interests are recognised as a separate component of equity, separate 

from equity attributable to equity holders of the parent.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a jointly controlled operation or a jointly controlled 

entity over which none of the joint venturers has control.  

Investments in jointly controlled operations are recognised in the par-

ent company and consolidated financial statements on a proportion-

ate basis in accordance with the contractual arrangement, whereby the 

proportionate share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses from the 

jointly controlled operations is recognised in the corresponding items in 

the financial statements.

Investments in jointly controlled entities are recognised in the consoli-

dated financial statements by proportionate consolidation. The parent 

company measures investments in jointly controlled entities at cost. In-

vestments are written down to the recoverable amount, if this is lower 

than the carrying amount.

Foreign currency translation

The individual business unit’s functional currency is determined as the 

primary currency in the market in which the business unit operates. The 

predominant functional currency for the Group is Danish kroner. 

Transactions denominated in all currencies other than the individual 

business unit’s functional currency are accounted for as transactions in 

foreign currencies that are translated into the functional currency using 

the exchange rates at the transaction date. Receivables and payables 

in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the 

balance sheet date.  Foreign exchange differences arising between the 

exchange rate at the transaction date or the balance sheet date and the 

date of settlement are recognised in the income statement as financial 

income and expenses.

On recognition of foreign subsidiaries and associates the income state-

ment items determined in the individual enterprises’ functional curren-

cies are translated into Danish kroner at average exchange rates that 

do not deviate significantly from the exchange rates at the transaction 

date, while the balance sheet items are translated at the exchange 

rates at the balance sheet date.  Foreign exchange differences arising 

on translation of the opening equity of foreign subsidiaries at the ex-

change rates at the balance sheet date and on translation of the income 

statement items from average exchange rates to the exchange rates 

at the balance sheet date are taken directly to a separate translation 

reserve under equity.

On acquisition or disposal of foreign entities, their assets and liabilities 

are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the acquisition date or 

the date of disposal.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward ex-

change contracts and similar instruments to hedge financial risks arising 

from operating activities. The present use of derivative financial instru-

ments does not qualify for hedge accounting. 

For derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge ac-

counting, changes in fair value are recognised in the income statement 

as financial income or financial expenses as they occur.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially in the balance 

sheet at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial in-

struments are stated at fair value. Gains and losses on remeasurement 

to fair value are recognised as other receivables and other payables, 

respectively.

Leases

Leases relating to fixed assets in terms of which the Group assumes 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership (finance leases) are 

recognised in the balance sheet as assets. The assets are recognised ini-

tially at cost, equivalent to the lower of their fair value and the present 

value of the future lease payments.

The present value is measured using the interest rate implicit in the 

lease or an approximation thereof as the discount rate. 
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The capitalised residual lease commitment on finance leases is recog-

nised as a liability.

All other leases are accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments 

under operating leases are recognised in the income statement over 

the lease term. Information on the residual lease commitment is dis-

closed in the notes under lease commitments.

Government grants

Government grants include grants for projects, investments, etc. 

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred or for the pur-

chase of assets are set up in the balance sheet as deferred income or 

deducted in arriving at the carrying amount of the assets and recog-

nised in the income statement in the same periods in which the ex-

penses are incurred or over the periods and in the proportions in which 

depreciation on the assets is charged.

Income statement

Revenue

Revenue comprises completed contract work and contract work in 

progress as well as services rendered.

Contract work in progress is recognised as revenue in step with comple-

tion so that revenue corresponds to the selling price of the work per-

formed during the year (the percentage-of-completion method).

Revenue relating to services is recognised in the income statement 

when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been trans-

ferred to the buyer and the income can be measured reliably and its 

payment is probable.  

Revenue is measured net of value added and similar sales-based taxes 

and trade discounts and rebates.

Production costs

Production costs comprise both direct and indirect costs incurred in gen-

erating the revenue for the year, and expected losses on contract work 

in progress.

Production costs include the cost of raw materials and consumables, 

wages and salaries, depreciation and impairment losses, etc. 

Distribution costs

Distribution costs comprise tendering, advertising and marketing costs 

as well as salaries, etc., relating to the sales and marketing depart-

ments. 

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses comprise expenses for administrative staff and 

management, including salaries, office expenses, depreciation, etc.

The Group’s share of profit of associates

The proportionate share of profit of associates is recognised in the con-

solidated income statement net of tax and after elimination of the pro-

portionate share of profits/losses resulting from intragroup transactions 

and after deduction of goodwill impairment losses.

Financial income and expenses

Financial income and expenses comprise interest income and expense, 

dividends from other equity investments, realised and unrealised gains 

and losses on securities, payables and transactions denominated in 

foreign currencies, as well as finance lease costs and income tax sur-

charges and refunds.

Dividends from investments in subsidiaries and associates are credited 

to the parent company’s income statement in the financial year in 

which they are declared; however, dividends are offset against the cost 

of the investment to the extent that distributed dividends exceed the 

accumulated earnings after the acquisition date.

Financial income and expenses also include realised and unrealised 

gains and losses on derivative financial instruments that do not qualify 

for hedge accounting.

Income tax

Income tax expense, which consists of current tax and changes in de-

ferred tax, is recognised in the income statement except to the extent 

that it relates to income and expenses recognised directly in equity, in 

which case it is recognised directly in equity. 

Current tax comprises both Danish and foreign income taxes as well as 

adjustments relating to prior year taxes.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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MT Højgaard a/s is taxed jointly with its Danish and foreign subsidiar-

ies (international joint taxation). Subsidiaries are included in the joint 

taxation from the date on which they are included in the consolidation 

of the consolidated financial statements, and up to the date on which 

they are no longer included in the consolidation. 

The parent company MT Højgaard a/s is the management company for 

the Danish joint taxation and consequently settles all income tax pay-

ments to the tax authorities. 

Balance sheet

Intangible assets

Goodwill is measured initially at cost as described in the section on 

business combinations.

Goodwill is not amortised. The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed, 

at least annually, and written down via the income statement to the 

recoverable amount if this is lower than the carrying amount. 

Other intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amorti-

sation and impairment losses. Depreciation is charged on a straight-line 

basis over the estimated useful life. Intangible assets with indefinite 

useful lives are not amortised, but tested for impairment annually.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost comprises purchase price and costs directly attributable to the 

acquisition until the date the asset is available for use. The cost of 

self-constructed assets comprises direct and indirect cost of materials, 

components, subsuppliers and labour. Interest expense and other bor-

rowing costs on loans to finance the production of assets and which 

relate to the production period are recognised directly in the income 

statement.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis 

over the expected useful life to the expected residual value. The use-

ful lives of major assets are determined on an individual basis, while 

the useful lives of other assets are determined for groups of uniform 

assets. 

	 Expected useful lives:	

	 Buildings		1  0-50 years

	 Plant and machinery	           	3-10 years

	 Fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment		3  -10 years

	 Leasehold improvements	  	3 -10 years

Land is not depreciated. Nor is depreciation charged if the residual 

value of an asset exceeds its carrying amount. The residual value is 

determined at the date of acquisition and reviewed annually. 

Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are re

cognised in the income statement as production costs or administrative 

expenses and are measured as the difference between the selling price 

less costs to sell and the carrying amount at the date of disposal.

Investments in associates in the consolidated financial 

statements

The Group measures investments in associates using the equity method. 

Accordingly, investments in associates are measured at the proportion-

ate share of the associates’ net assets, applying the Group’s accounting 

policies, plus or minus unrealised intragroup profits/losses, and plus 

goodwill. 

Associates with a negative carrying amount are recognised at nil. If 

the Group has a legal or constructive obligation to cover an associate’s 

negative balance, the negative balance is offset against the Group’s 

receivables from the associate. Any balance is recognised under provi-

sions.

Investments in the parent company’s financial statements

The parent company measures investments in subsidiaries and associ-

ates at cost. Investments are written down to the recoverable amount, 

if this is lower than the carrying amount.

Cost is reduced to the extent that distributed dividends exceed accu-

mulated earnings.

Subsidiaries and associates with a negative carrying amount are recog-

nised at nil. If the parent company has a legal or constructive obliga-

tion to cover a subsidiary’s or associate’s negative balance, the negative 
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balance is offset against the parent company’s receivables from the 

subsidiary or associate. Any balance is recognised under provisions.

Other investments

Other non-current receivables are measured at amortised cost less im-

pairment losses.

Other equity investments are measured at fair value at the balance 

sheet date.

Impairment of fixed assets

The carrying amounts of intangible assets, property, plant and equip-

ment and investments are reviewed, at least annually, to determine 

whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 

exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated; however, the recov-

erable amount of goodwill is always reviewed annually. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less ex-

pected costs to sell and its value in use, which is the discounted value of 

the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit. 

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement whenever 

the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 

recoverable amount. 

Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Impairment losses on 

other assets are reversed to the extent that the assumptions and esti-

mates that led to recognition of the impairment loss have changed. 

Inventories

Inventories are measured at cost in accordance with the FIFO method. 

Where the net realisable value is lower than the cost, inventories are 

written down to this lower value.

The cost of raw materials and consumables comprises purchase price 

plus expenses incurred in bringing them to their existing location and 

condition.

Properties and undeveloped sites that are not classified as held for con-

tinued future ownership or use are carried as properties held for resale 

and measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Receivables

Receivables are measured at amortised cost less impairment losses.

Contract work in progress

Contract work in progress is measured at the selling price of the work 

performed. The selling price is measured in proportion to the stage of 

completion at the balance sheet date and total expected income from 

each contract in progress.  The stage of completion is determined on the 

basis of the costs incurred and the total expected costs.

When it is probable that the total costs on a contract in progress will 

exceed total contract revenue, the total expected loss on the contract is 

recognised as an expense immediately. 

Where the selling price cannot be measured reliably, it is recognised at 

the lower of costs incurred and net realisable value.

The individual contract in progress is recognised in the balance sheet 

under receivables or current liabilities, depending on the net value of 

the selling price less progress billings and recognised losses.

Costs in connection with sales work and tendering to secure contracts 

are recognised as a cost in the income statement under distribution 

costs in the financial year in which they are incurred.

Prepayments and deferred income

Prepayments are recognised under receivables, and deferred income is 

recognised under current liabilities. Prepayments and deferred income 

include costs incurred or income received during the year in respect of 

subsequent financial years, apart from items relating to contract work 

in progress.

Securities

Listed securities recognised as current assets are measured at fair value 

at the balance sheet date.  Changes in fair value are recognised in the 

income statement as financial income or expenses in the period in 

which they occur. 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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Equity

Dividends

Proposed dividends are recognised as a liability at the date of adoption 

at the Annual General Meeting. The expected dividend payment for the 

year is disclosed as a separate item under equity.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve in the consolidated financial statements com-

prises foreign exchange differences after 1 January 2004 that have 

arisen from the translation of the financial statements of foreign enter-

prises from their functional currencies to Danish kroner.

On full or partial realisation of the net investment, the foreign exchange 

adjustments are recognised in the income statement.

Tax payable and deferred tax

Current tax payable and receivable is recognised in the balance sheet 

as tax calculated on the taxable income for the year, adjusted for tax 

paid on account, etc.

Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets are measured using the 

balance sheet liability method, providing for all temporary differences 

between the tax base of an asset or liability and its carrying amount 

in the balance sheet. The following temporary differences are not pro-

vided for: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes and office premises 

and other items – apart from business combinations – where temporary 

differences arise at the date of acquisition that affect neither profit/

loss for the year nor taxable income. The measurement is based on 

the planned use of the asset or settlement of the liability, and on the 

relevant tax rules.

Deferred tax is provided for retaxation of previously deducted losses 

of jointly taxed foreign subsidiaries in the event of the subsidiaries be-

ing disposed of or withdrawing from the international joint taxation 

scheme.

Deferred tax assets, including tax loss carryforwards, are recognised 

at the value at which it is expected that they can be utilised by set-

off against deferred tax liabilities or by elimination against tax on the 

future earnings of the subsidiary or the parent company and the other 

jointly taxed subsidiaries in the same country. Deferred tax assets are 

entered as a separate line item under investments.

Deferred tax is measured on the basis of the tax rules and the tax rates 

effective in the respective countries at the time the deferred tax is ex-

pected to crystallise as current tax. The effect of changes in deferred tax 

due to changed tax rates is recognised in the income statement, unless 

the items in question were previously taken to equity.

Pension obligations

The Group’s pension plans are insured (defined contribution). Contribu-

tions to defined contribution plans are recognised in the income state-

ment in the period to which they relate, and any costs payable are 

recognised in the balance sheet as other payables.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow 

of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation and when the amount can be measured reliably.

Financial liabilities

Bank loans, etc. are recognised at inception at the proceeds received 

net of transaction costs incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, fi-

nancial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, equivalent to the 

capitalised value using the effective interest rate. Accordingly, the dif-

ference between the proceeds and the nominal value is recognised in 

the income statement over the term of the loan.

Other liabilities, comprising trade payables, payables to subsidiaries 

and associates, and other payables, are measured at amortised cost.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The cash flow statement shows the Group’s cash flows for the year, 

broken down by operating, investing and financing activities, and the 

effects of these cash flows on the Group’s cash and cash equivalents.

The cash flow effect of acquisitions and disposals of enterprises is 

shown separately under cash flows from investing activities. Cash flows 

from acquisitions are recognised in the cash flow statement from the 

date of acquisition and cash flows from disposals are recognised up to 

the date of disposal.
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Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from operating activities are determined using the indirect 

method, whereby operating profit is adjusted for the effects of non-

cash operating items, changes in working capital, and net financing 

costs and income taxes paid. 

Cash flows for investing activities

Cash flows for investing activities comprise payments in connection 

with acquisition and disposal of enterprises and activities and purchase 

and sale of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and invest-

ments as well as purchase and sale of securities that are not recognised 

as cash and cash equivalents.

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash flows from financing activities comprise payments to and from 

shareholders, including payment of dividends and increases and de-

creases in non-current borrowings. 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and cash equivalents less cur-

rent portion of bank loans, etc. 

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information is provided by business segment and geographical seg-

ment as primary and secondary segments, respectively. The segment 

information conforms to the Group’s organisational and internal report-

ing structure. The segment information has been prepared in confor

mity with the Group’s accounting policies.

Segment income and expenses include the items that either are di-

rectly attributable to the individual segment or can be allocated to it on 

a reasonable basis.

Segment assets comprise the fixed and current assets that are em-

ployed directly in the segment’s operating activities.

Segment liabilities comprise the liabilities that result from the seg-

ment’s operating activities.

FINANCIAL RATIOS

Financial ratios have been prepared in conformity with the Danish Soci-

ety of Financial Analysts’ ’Recommendations & Financial Ratios 2005’. 

Financial ratios are defined on the back cover of the annual report.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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	 PARENT COMPANY	   GROUP

    

	 2005 	 2006	 Note	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Operating activities

	 (18.1)	 (171.0)	 	 Operating profit (loss)	 58.6	 137.9

	 92.5	 11.6	 1	 Non-cash operating items	 179.7	 169.8

	 74.4	 (159.4)	 	 Cash generated from operating activities before working capital changes	 238.3	 307.7

	 	 	 	 Working capital changes:

	 91.3	 80.6	 	 Inventories	 76.7	 86.5

	 (321.6)	 (414.6)	 	 Receivables excluding contract work in progress	 (595.6)	 (405.1)

	 (111.5)	 305.4	 	 Contract work in progress	 371.9	 (149.2)

	 467.5	 247.1	 	 Trade and other current payables	 280.4	 532.5

	 200.1	 59.1	 	 Cash generated from operations (operating activities)	 371.7	 372.4

	 	 	 	 	

	 12.9	 9.8	 	 Financial income	 20.8	 17.5

	 (18.9)	 (15.3)	 	 Financial expenses	 (30.9)	 (29.5)

	 194.1	 53.6	 	 Cash generated from operations (ordinary activities)	 361.6	 360.4

	 (21.1)	 (43.8)	 	 Income taxes paid, net	 (44.5)	 (19.7)

	 173.0	 9.8	 	 Cash flows from operating activities	 317.1	 340.7

	 	 	 	 Investing activities	 	 	

	 (53.6)	 (6.8)	 2	 Acquisition of enterprises and activities	 (6.8)	 (54.4)

	 -	 -	 2	 Disposal of enterprises and activities	 12.7	 -

	 (88.6)	 (106.9)	 	 Purchase of property, plant and equipment	 (287.5)	 (211.9)

	 11.5	 16.4	 	 Sale of property, plant and equipment	 68.5	 45.3

	 42.3	 139.5	 	 Dividends from subsidiaries and associates	 5.0	 -

	 52.4	 (29.6)	 	 Purchase/sale of securities	 (31.7)	 52.5

	 (36.0)	 12.6	 	 Cash flows for investing activities	 (239.8)	 (168.5)

	 	 	 	 Financing activities

	 	 	 	 Loan financing:	 	 	

	 -	 -	 	 Minority interests	 (4.6)	 (1.5)

	 -	 22.0	 	 Increase in non-current bank loans, etc.	 -	 -

	 (16.0)	 -	 	 Decrease in non-current bank loans, etc.	 (2.9)	 (45.4)

	 (16.0)	 22.0	 	 Cash flows from financing activities	 (7.5)	 (46.9)

	 121.0	 44.4	 	 Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	 69.8	 125.3

	 (12.1)	 108.9	 	 Cash and cash equivalents at 01-01	 147.7	 22.4

	 108.9	 153.3	 3	 Cash and cash equivalents at 31-12	 217.5	 147.7

	 	 	 	 �The figures in the cash flow statement cannot be derived from the published 	

accounting records alone.

Cash flow statement

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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	 parent company	   GROUP

Income statement

    

	 2005 	 2006	 Note	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 5,731.9	 7,792.0	 4	 Revenue	 11,082.5	 8,462.9

	 (5,587.0)	 (7,781.2)	 5-6	 Production costs	 (10,640.8)	 (7,977.0)

	 144.9	 10.8	 	 Gross profit	 441.7	 485.9

	 (91.0)	 (96.9)	 	 Distribution costs	 (129.0)	 (116.8)

	 (72.0)	 (84.9)	 5-7	 Administrative expenses	 (254.1)	 (231.2)

	 (18.1)	 (171.0)	 	 Operating profit (loss)	 58.6	 137.9

	 -	 -	 14	 Share of profit (loss) after tax of associates	 0.0	 (2.9)

	 45.2	 135.0	 8	 Financial income	 23.3	 19.4

	 (18.4)	 (63.6)	 9	 Financial expenses	 (30.9)	 (29.5)

	 8.7	 (99.6)	 	 Profit (loss) before tax	 51.0	 124.9

	 (23.7)	 31.1	 10	 Income tax expense	 (14.3)	 (25.0)

	 (15.0)	 (68.5)	 	 Profit (loss) for the year	 36.7	 99.9

	 	 	 	 Attributable to

	 (15.0)	 (68.5)	 	 Equity holders of MT Højgaard a/s	 28.2	 93.7

	 -	 -	 	 Minority interests	 8.5	 6.2

	 (15.0)	 (68.5)	 	 Total	 36.7	 99.9

	 	 	 	 Proposal for distribution of profit

	 (15.0)	 (68.5)	 	 Retained earnings

	 (15.0)	 (68.5)	 	 Total

	 	 	 	 Earnings per share

	 	 	 11	 Earnings per share (EPS), DKK	 2.6	 8.5
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Balance sheet

BALANCE SHEET

    

	 2005 	 2006	 Note	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Fixed assets

	 	 	 	 Intangible assets

	 24.0	 28.0	 	 Goodwill	 73.6	 69.2

	 24.0	 28.0	 12	 Total intangible assets	 73.6	 69.2

	 	 	 	 Property, plant and equipment

	 170.6	 185.0	 	 Land and buildings	 357.4	 322.8

	 171.5	 189.3	 	 Plant and machinery	 445.1	 419.0

	 23.3	 14.7	 	 Fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment	 78.3	 71.2

	 5.9	 6.2	 	 Property, plant and equipment under construction	 27.7	 15.1

	 371.3	 395.2	 13	 Total property, plant and equipment	 908.5	 828.1

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Investments

	 321.1	 332.0	 14	 Investments in subsidiaries	 -	 -

	 76.4	 72.2	 14	 Investments in associates	 0.7	 5.7

	 5.5	 16.2	 14	 Receivables from associates	 5.6	 5.5

	 0.3	 0.3	 14	 Other equity investments	 0.9	 0.8

	 176.3	 279.6	 19	 Deferred tax assets	 238.9	 153.3

	 579.6	 700.3	 	 Total investments	 246.1	 165.3

	 974.9	 1,123.5	 	 Total fixed assets	 1,228.2	 1,062.6

	 	 	 	 Current assets

	 	 	 	 Inventories

	 10.5	 11.9	 	 Raw materials and consumables	 54.4	 52.9

	 291.3	 209.3	 	 Properties for resale	 222.9	 302.3

	 301.8	 221.2	 15	 Total inventories	 277.3	 355.2

	 	 	 	 Receivables

	 1,070.6	 1,455.3	 	 Trade receivables	 2,192.1	 1,647.5

	 345.0	 447.9	 21	 Contract work in progress	 603.7	 471.4

	 101.5	 128.7	 	 Receivables from subsidiaries	 -	 -

	 10.3	 1.0	 	 Receivables from associates	 6.3	 5.9

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Income tax	 0.0	 1.0

	 36.7	 60.8	 	 Other receivables	 95.7	 57.4

	 54.8	 44.6	 	 Prepayments	 77.6	 60.8

	 1,618.9	 2,138.3	 16	 Total receivables	 2,975.4	 2,244.0

	 58.3	 87.9	 17	 Securities	 87.9	 58.3

	 108.9	 153.3	 	 Cash and cash equivalents	 263.8	 206.3

	 2,087.9	 2,600.7	 	 Total current assets	 3,604.4	 2,863.8

	 3,062.8	 3,724.2	 	 Total assets	 4,832.6	 3,926.4

	 PARENT COMPANY	 ASSETS	   GROUP
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	 2005 	 2006	 Note	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 	 Equity

	 220.0	 220.0	 	 Share capital	 220.0	 220.0

	 -	 -	 	 Translation reserve	 (2.8)	 (2.5)

	 628.1	 559.6	 	 Retained earnings	 807.2	 778.9

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Proposed dividends	 0.0	 0.0

	 848.1	 779.6	 	 Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent	 1,024.4	 996.4

	 -	 -	 	 Minority interests	 23.6	 19.9

	 848.1	 779.6	 	 Equity	 1,048.0	 1,016.3

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Non-current liabilities

	 103.7	 78.4	 18	 Bank loans, etc.	 174.3	 210.3

	 0.0	 0.0	 19	 Deferred tax liabilities	 24.1	 23.8

	 29.9	 38.6	 20	 Provisions	 62.3	 57.3

	 133.6	 117.0	 	 Total non-current liabilities	 260.7	 291.4

	 	 	 	 Current liabilities

	 14.8	 64.1	 18	 Current portion of non-current financial liabilities	 80.8	 34.0

	 0.0	 0.0	 18	 Bank loans, etc.	 46.3	 58.6

	 541.0	 970.0	 21	 Contract work in progress	 1,216.8	 688.2

	 86.2	 119.7	 	 Prepayments received from customers	 138.1	 102.3

	 743.4	 954.5	 	 Trade payables	 1,282.6	 1,053.1

	 215.8	 203.3	 	 Payables to subsidiaries	 -	 -

	 0.0	 8.0	 	 Payables to associates	 0.4	 4.1

	 10.7	 31.6	 	 Income tax 	 37.0	 8.7

	 413.9	 420.1	 	 Other payables	 659.8	 602.5

	 53.6	 56.0	 	 Deferred income	 59.4	 64.9

	 1.7	 0.3	 20	 Provisions	 2.7	 2.3

	 2,081.1	 2,827.6	 	 Total current liabilities	 3,529.9	 2,618.7

	 2,214.7	 2,944.6	 	 Total liabilities	 3,784.6	 2,910.1

	 3,062.8	 3,724.2	 	 Total equity and liabilities	 4,832.6	 3,926.4

	 	 	 	 Notes without reference

	 	 	 22	 Security

	 	 	 23	 Lease commitment

	 	 	 24	 Contingent liabilities	

	 	 	 25	 Related parties

	 	 	 26	 Joint ventures

	 	 	 27	 Financial instruments

	 	 	 28	 Accounting estimates and judgements

	 	 	 29	 New accounting standards

	 	 	 30	 Events after the balance sheet date

	 	 	 31	 Segment information

	 	 	 32	 Subsidiaries and associates

Balance sheet

	 parent company	equity  and liabilities	group
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Statement of changes in equity 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

    

	 	 	 	 	 Share	 Retained 	 Total 

	 Amounts in DKKm	 capital 	 earnings

	 2005	 	 	 		

	 	 	

	 Equity at 01-01	 220.0	 643.1	 863.1

	 Profit for the year	 	 (15.0)	 (15.0)

	 Total income and expense for the year	 0.0	 (15.0)	 (15.0)

	 Total changes in equity	 0.0	 (15.0)	 (15.0)

	 Equity at 31-12	 220.0	 628.1	 848.1

	 	 	 	 	

	 2006	 	 	 		

	

	 Equity at 01-01	 220.0	 628.1	 848.1

	 Profit for the year	 	 (68.5)	 (68.5)

	 Total income and expense for the year	 0.0	 (68.5)	 (68.5)

	 Total changes in equity	 0.0	 (68.5)	 (68.5)

	 Equity at 31-12	 220.0	 559.6	 779.5

	 	 	 	

	 At 31 December 2006, MT Højgaard a/s’s share capital amounted to DKK 220 million divided into shares of DKK 1,000 each.  No shares carry special rights.	 		

	 	 	 	 	

	 PARENT COMPANY
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Statement of changes in equity 

	 GROUP

    

	 	 Share	 Translation	 Retained	 Total equity	 Attributable	 Total 

	 	 capital	 reserve	 earnings	 attributable	 to minority

	 Amounts in DKKm	  	 	 	to MT Højgaard	 interests

	 2005

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Equity at 01-01	 220.0	 (3.3)	 685.2	 901.9	 15.0	 916.9

	 Profit for the year	 	 	 93.7	 93.7	 6.2	 99.9

	 Foreign exchange adjustments, foreign enterprises	 	 0.8	 	 0.8	 0.2	 1.0

	 Total income and expense for the year	 0.0	 0.8	 93.7	 94.5	 6.4	 100.9

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		

	 Dividends paid	 	 	 	 0.0	 (1.5)	 (1.5)

	 Total changes in equity	 0.0	 0.8	 93.7	 94.5	 4.9	 99.4

	 Equity at 31-12	 220.0	 (2.5)	 778.9	 996.4	 19.9	 1,016.3

	 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 		

	

	 Equity at 01-01	 220.0	 (2.5)	 778.9	 996.4	 19.9	 1,016.3

	 Profit for the year	 	 	 28.2	 28.2	 8.5	 36.7

	 Foreign exchange adjustments, foreign enterprises	 	 (0.3)	 	 (0.3)	 (0.2)	 (0.5)

	 Other adjustments	 	 	 0.1	 0.1	 	 (0.1)

	 Total income and expense for the year	 0.0	 (0.3)	 28.3	 28.0	 8.3	 36.3

	 Dividends paid	 	 	 	 0.0	 (4.6)	 (4.6)

	 Total changes in equity	 0.0	 (0.3)	 28.3	 28.0	 3.7	 31.7

	 Equity at 31-12	 220.0	 (2.8) 	 807.2	 1,024.4	 23.6	 1,048.0
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	 2005 	 2006	 	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 1	 Non-cash operating items

	 69.8	 68.4	 	 Depreciation and impairment losses, property, plant and equipment	 157.2	 145.8

	 22.7	 (56.8)	 	 Other adjustments	 22.5	 24.0

	 92.5	 11.6	 	 Total non-cash operating items	 179.7	 169.8

	 	 	 2	 Acquisition and disposal of enterprises and activities	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	 Acquisition of activities

	 7.9	 2.7	 	 Property, plant and equipment	 2.7	 7.9

	 14.3	 0.1	 	 Inventories	 0.1	 14.3

	 7.4	 0.0	 	 Receivables	 0.0	 7.4

	 29.6	 2.8	 	 Identifiable net assets acquired	 2.8	 29.6

	 24.0	 4.0	 	 Goodwill	 4.0	 24.8

	 53.6	 6.8	 	 Cash purchase price, net	 6.8	 54.4

	

	 	 	 	 Carrying amount of assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed 

	 	 	 	 before the acquisition date:	 	 	

	

	 7.9	 2.7	 	 Property, plant and equipment	 2.7	 7.9

	 14.3	 0.1	 	 Inventories	 0.1	 14.3

	 7.4	 0.0	 	 Receivables	 0.0	 7.4

	 29.6	 2.8	 	 Total carrying amount before acquisition	 2.8	 29.6

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 The acquired activities feature with DKK 2.1 million in consolidated profit for 2006.

	 	 	 	 Consolidated revenue and profit for the year (unaudited), measured as if the acquired 

	 	 	 	 activities were taken over at 1 January 2006, amounted to DKK 11,082 million and 

	 	 	 	 DKK 37 million, respectively. 	 	

	 	 	 	 Disposal of activities

	 -	 -	 	 Property, plant and equipment	 14.2	 -

	 -	 -	 	 Inventories	 1.2	 -

	 -	 -	 	 Non-current liabilities	 (2.7)	 -

	 -	 -	 	 Net assets	 12.7	 -

	 -	 -	 	 Accounting profit/loss	 0.0	 -

	 .	 -	 	 Cash selling price, net	 12.7	 -

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 For further details of the activities acquired and disposed of, reference is made to 

	 	 	 	 the separate section on this in the management’s review on page 6.

Notes

	 PARENT COMPANY	   GROUP
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	 PARENT COMPANY	   GROUP

    

	 2005 	 2006	 	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 3	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 	 	 	 Cash and cash equivalents at 31-12 can be broken down as follows:	 	 	

	 9.3	 58.6	 	 Free cash flow	 78.7	 117.3

	 99.6	 94.7	 	 Share of cash and cash equivalents in joint ventures	 185.1	 89.0

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Current portion of bank loans, etc.	 (46.3)	 (58.6)

	 108.9	 153.3	 	 Total cash and cash equivalents	 217.5	 147.7

	 	 	 	 Share of cash and cash equivalents in joint ventures is available exclusively to the 

	 	 	 	 joint ventures.	 	

	 	 	 4	 Revenue	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Revenue can be broken down as follows:

	 	 	 	 Selling price of the production for the year on completed contract work and 

	 5,480.7	 7,459.4	 	 contract work in progress	 10,190.0	 7,693.2

	 251.2	 332.6	 	 Rental activities and similar services	 892.5	 769.7

	 5,731.9	 7,792.0	 	 Total	 11,082.5	 8,462.9

	

	 	 	 5	 Depreciation and impairment losses	 	

	 69.8	 68.4	 	 Property, plant and equipment	 157.2	 145.8

	 69.8	 68.4	 	 Total depreciation and impairment losses	 157.2	 145.8

	

	 	 	 	 Depreciation and impairment losses are included in the income statement as follows:	 	 	

	 63.1	 63.2	 	 Production costs	 143.4	 131.4

	 6.7	 5.2	 	 Administrative expenses	 13.8	 14.4

	 69.8	 68.4	 	 Total depreciation and impairment losses	 157.2	 145.8

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 6	 Staff costs

	 	 	 	 The total amount paid in wages and salaries, etc., can be broken down as follows:	 	 	

	 1,101.7	 1,323.6	 	 Wages and salaries, etc.	 2,367.6	 2,016.1

	 74.1	 95.0	 	 Pension contributions (defined contribution)	 169.7	 135.9

	 36.6	 53.5	 	 Other social security costs	 88.9	 71.6

	 1,212.4	 1,472.1	 	 Total	 2,626.2	 2,223.6

	

	 2,843	 3,257	 	 Average number of employees	 5,889	 5,260

	 3,127	 3,542	 	 Number of employees, year end	 6,245	 5,592

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Total remuneration to the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board:	 	 	

	 2.0	 1.8	 	 Supervisory Board	 1.8	 2.0

	 9.8	 10.7	 	 Executive Board	 10.7	 9.8

	 11.8	 12.5	 	 Total	 12.5	 11.8

Notes

NOTES
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	 parent company	   GROUP

    

	 2005 	 2006	 	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 7	 Fees paid to auditor appointed at the Annual General Meeting	 	

	 	 	 	 Audit fees for the year under review:

	 1.4	 1.5	 	 KPMG	 4.0	 3.9

	 	 	 	 Non-audit fees:	 	

	 1.8	 2.1	 	 KPMG	 2.8	 2.5

	 	 	 8	 Financial income

	 12.3	 13.8	 	 Interest income	 19.8	 15.7

	 0.0	 1.7	 	 Capital gains on securities	 1.8	 0.0

	 2.6	 0.0	 	 Foreign exchange gains	 1.6	 3.7

	 20.3	 38.4	 	 Dividends from subsidiaries	 -	 -

	 10.0	 81.1	 	 Dividends from associates	 -	 -

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Value adjustments of other investments	 0.1	 0.0

	 45.2	 135.0	 	 Total financial income	 23.3	 19.4

	 -	 1.1	 	 Of which interest received from subsidiaries	 -	 -

	 	 	 9	 Financial expenses	 	

	 17.7	 14.4	 	 Interest expense	 23.1	 23.6

	 1.3	 0.9	 	 Capital losses on securities	 0.9	 1.3

	 0.0	 3.7	 	 Foreign exchange losses	 6.9	 1.5

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Losses on derivative financial instruments	 0.0	 3.1

	 (0.6)	 44.6	 	 Impairment loss relating to investments in subsidiaries and associates	 -	 -

	 18.4	 63.6	 	 Total financial expenses	 30.9	 29.5

	 2.5	 -	 	 Of which interest paid to subsidiaries	 -	 -

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 10	 Income tax expense

	 (41.0)	 (72.2)	 	 Current tax	 (97.8)	 (23.6)

	 17.3	 103.3	 	 Changes in deferred tax	 83.5	 (1.4)

	 (23.7)	 31.1	 	 Total income tax expense	 (14.3)	 (25.0)

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Income tax expense can be broken down as follows:	 	 	

	 (2.4)	 27.9	 	 Income tax expense before tax measured at Danish tax rate (28%)	 (14.3)	 (35.0)

	 (10.6)	 -	 	 Reduction of Danish corporate income tax rate from 30% to 28%	 -	 (8.7)

	 7.8	 (2.4)	 	 Deviations in foreign enterprises’ tax rates	 (1.0)	 11.8

	 11.9	 33.4	 	 Non-taxable income	 0.5	 0.2

	 (3.7)	 (13.4)	 	 Non-deductible expenses	 (1.5)	 (0.8)

	 (26.7)	 (14.4)	 	 Other, including prior year adjustments	 2.0	 7.5

	 (23.7)	 31.1	 	 Income tax expense	 (14.3)	 (25.0)

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 272	 31	 	 Effective tax rate (%)	 28	 20

Notes
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	 PARENT COMPANY	   GROUP

    

	 2005 	 2006	 	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 11	 Earnings per share	 	 	

	 -	 -	 	 Earnings per share (EPS), DKK	 2.6	 8.5

	 	 	 	 Earnings per share (EPS) in 2006 can be calculated as MT Højgaard’s share of 

	 	 	 	 consolidated profit of DKK 28.2 million (2005: DKK 93.7 million), divided by 11 million 

	 	 	 	 shares (2005: 11 million shares).	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	 The share capital of MT Højgaard a/s is divided into shares of DKK 1,000 each; 

	 	 	 	 however, calculation of earnings per share is based on a share denomination of 	

	 	 	 	 nominally DKK 20 as in the two listed owner companies Højgaard Holding a/s and 

	 	 	 	 Monberg & Thorsen A/S. 

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 12	 Intangible assets	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	 Goodwill

	 0.0	 24.0	 	 Cost at 01-01	 69.2	 44.4

	 24.0	 4.0	 	 Additions	 4.4	 24.8

	 24.0	 28.0	 	 Cost at 31-12	 73.6	 69.2

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Impairment losses at 01-01/31-12	 0.0	 0.0

	 24.0	 28.0	 	 Carrying amount at 31-12	 73.6	 69.2

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Goodwill

	 	 	 	 The carrying amounts of goodwill attributable to business area Civil Works 

	 	 	 	 (DKK 4.0 million) and Construction (DKK 24.0 million) in MT Højgaard a/s, BMS A/S 

	 	 	 	 (DKK 9.8 million), Enemærke & Petersen a/s (DKK 31.8 million) and Lindpro a/s 

	 	 	 	 (DKK 4.0 million) were tested for impairment at 31 December 2006. The recoverable 

	 	 	 	 amount has been determined as the value in use, which is calculated as the present 

	 	 	 	 value of the expected future net cash flows from the cash-generating units. In 

	 	 	 	 connection with the test at 31 December 2006 the net cash flows were determined 

	 	 	 	 on the basis of the approved budget for 2007 and estimates for the years 2008-2011. 

	 	 	 	 The growth in the terminal period was fixed at 2% (2005: 2%). A discount factor of 

	 	 	 	 11-12% (2005:11-12%) before tax was used for calculating the present value.	 	 	

	

	 	 	 	 The impairment test did not give rise to any write-downs of goodwill to recoverable 

	 	 	 	 amount.	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	

Notes

NOTES
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	 	 Amounts in DKKm

	 13	 Property, plant and equipment

	 	 	 Land and	 Plant and	 Fixtures and 	 Property, plant 	 Total

	 	 		 buildings 	 machinery 	 fittings, tools	 and equipment

	 	 		  	 	 and equipment	 under construction

 	 	 Cost at 01-01	 213.2	 537.3	 58.1	 5.9	 814.5

	 	 Addition on acquisition of activities	 0.0	 0.0	 2.7	 0.0	 2.7

	 	 Additions	 19.5	 78.0	 3.3	 6.2	 107.0

	 	 Disposals	 0.0	 (36.1)	 (16.6)	 (5.9)	 (58.6)

	 	 Cost at 31-12	 232.7	 579.2	 47.5	 6.2	 865.6

	 	 Depreciation and impairment losses at 01-01	 42.6	 365.8	 34.8	 0.0	 443.2

	 	 Depreciation, disposals	 0.0	 (34.0)	 (7.2)	 0.0	 (41.2)

	 	 Depreciation	 5.1	 58.1	 5.2	 0.0	 68.4

	 	 Depreciation and impairment losses at 31-12	 47.7	 389.9	 32.8	 0.0	 470.4

	 	 Carrying amount at 31-12	 185.0	 189.3	 14.7	 6.2	 395.2

	

	 	Mortgaged properties:	 	 	 	

	 	 Carrying amount	 116.1	 	 	 	 116.1

	 	 Year-end balance, loans	 49.5	 	 	 	 49.5

	 	 Danish properties subject to public land assessment:	 	 	 	 	 		

	 	 Carrying amount	 182.7	 	 	 	 182.7

	 	 Public land assessment value	 169.8	 	 	 	 169.8	

	 	 Fixed assets held under finance leases:	 	 	 	 	 		

	 	 Carrying amount	 	 55.7	 6.1	 	 61.8

	 PARENT COMPANY 2006

Notes
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	 	 Amounts in DKKm

	 13	 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

	 	 	 Land and	 Plant and	 Fixtures and 	 Property, plant 	 Total

	 	 	 buildings 	 machinery 	 fittings, tools	 and equipment

	 	 	  	 	 and equipment	 under construction

	 	 Cost at 01-01	 209.7	 502.0	 58.8	 0.0	 770.5

	 	 Addition on acquisition of activities	 3.9	 4.0	 0.0	 0.0	 7.9

	 	 Reclassifications, etc.	 0.0	 1.2	 (1.2)	 0.0	 0.0

	 	 Additions	 2.5	 70.8	 1.5	 5.9	 80.7

	 	 Disposals	 (2.9)	 (40.7)	 (1.0)	 0.0	 (44.6)

	 	 Cost at 31-12	 213.2	 537.3	 58.1	 5.9	 814.5

	 	 		 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 Depreciation and impairment losses at 01-01 	 37.9	 339.6	 29.7	 0.0	 407.2

	 	 Reclassifications, etc.	 0.0	 1.2	 (1.2)	 0.0	 0.0

	 	 Depreciation, disposals	 (0.4)	 (33.0)	 (0.4)	 0.0	 (33.8)

	 	 Depreciation	 5.1	 58.0	 6.7	 0.0	 69.8

	 	 Depreciation and impairment losses at 31-12	 42.6	 365.8	 34.8	 0.0	 443.2

	 	 Carrying amount at 31-12	 170.6	 171.5	 23.3	 5.9	 371.3

	 	 Mortgaged properties:	 	 	 	 	 		

	 	 Carrying amount	 109.2	 	 	 	 109.2

	 	 Year-end balance, loans	 52.2	 	 	 	 52.2

	 	 		 	 	 	 	 		

	 	 Danish properties subject to public land assessment:	 	 	 	 	

	 	 Carrying amount	 168.5	 	 	 	 168.5

	 	 Public land assessment value	 151.2	 	 	 	 151.2

	 	

	 	 Fixed assets held under finance leases:	

	 	 	Carrying amount	 	 26.3	 6.5	 	 32.8

	parent  company 2005

Notes

NOTES
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	 	 Amounts in DKKm

	 13	 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

	 	 	 Land and	 Plant and	 Fixtures and 	 Property, plant 	 Total

	 	 	 buildings 	 machinery 	 fittings, tools	 and equipment

	 	 	  	 	 and equipment	 under construction

	 	 Cost at 01-01	 	 441.5	 1,105.3	 157.7	 15.1	 1,719.6

	 	 Addition on acquisition of activities	 	 0.0	 0.0	 2.7	 0.0	 2.7

	 	 Foreign exchange adjustments 	 	 0.0	 0.4	 0.1	 0.0	 0.5

	 	 Additions	 	 57.5	 155.3	 43.7	 31.1	 287.6

	 	 Disposals	 	 (44.2)	 (68.5)	 (27.5)	 (18.5)	 (158.7)

	 	 Cost at 31-12	 	 454.8	 1,192.5	 176.7	 27.7	 1,851.7

	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		

	 	 Depreciation and impairment losses at 01-01	 	 118.7	 686.3	 86.5	 0.0	 891.5

	 	 Foreign exchange adjustments 	 	 0.0	 0.1	 0.1	 0.0	 0.2

	 	 Depreciation, disposals	 	 (31.6)	 (58.5)	 (15.6)	 0.0	 (105.7)

	 	 Depreciation	 	 10.3	 119.5	 27.4	 0.0	 157.2

	 	 Depreciation and impairment losses at 31-12	 	 97.4	 747.4	 98.4	 0.0	 943.2

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 Carrying amount at 31-12	 	 357.4	 445.1	 78.3	 27.7	 908.5

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		

	 	 Mortgaged properties:	 	 	

	 	 Carrying amount	 	 194.8	 	 	 	 194.8

	 	 Year-end balance, loans	 	 95.2	 	 	 	 95.2

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 Danish properties subject to public land assessment:	 	 	 	 	 	 		

	 	 Carrying amount	 	 335.3	 	 	 	 335.3

	 	 Public land assessment value	 	 313.4	 	 	 	 313.4

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 Fixed assets held under finance leases:	 	 	 	 	 	 		

	 	 Carrying amount	 	 	 105.2	 15.5	 	 120.7

	 GROUP 2006

Notes
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	 	 Amounts in DKKm

	 13	 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

	 	 	 Land and	 Plant and	 Fixtures and 	 Property, plant 	 Total

	 	 	 buildings 	 machinery 	 fittings, tools	 and equipment

	 	 	  	 	 and equipment	 under construction

 

	 	 Cost at 01-01	 	 433.0	 1,008.5	 130.8	 0.0	 1,572.3

	 	 Addition on acquisition of activities	 	 3.9	 4.0	 0.0	 0.0	 7.9

	 	 Foreign exchange adjustments	 	 0.0	 0.2	 (0.1)	 0.9	 1.0

	 	 Additions	 	 14.2	 156.2	 37.5	 14.4	 222.3

	 	 Disposals	 	 (9.6)	 (63.6)	 (10.5)	 (0.2)	 (83.9)

	 	 Cost at 31-12	 	 441.5	 1,105.3	 157.7	 15.1	 1,719.6

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 		

	 	 Depreciation and impairment losses at 01-01	 	 109.1	 622.5	 76.5	 0.0	 808.1

	 	 Foreign exchange adjustments	 	 0.0	 0.1	 0.0	 0.0	 0.1

	 	 Impairment losses	 	 2.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 2.0

	 	 Depreciation, disposals	 	 (1.5)	 (47.2)	 (13.9)	 0.0	 (62.6)

	 	 Depreciation	 	 9.1	 110.9	 23.9	 0.0	 143.9

	 	 Depreciation and impairment losses at 31-12	 	 118.7	 686.3	 86.5	 0.0	 891.5

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 Carrying amount at 31-12	 	 322.8	 419.0	 71.2	 15.1	 828.1

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 Mortgaged properties:	 	 	 	 	 	 		

	 	 Carrying amount	 	 201.3	 	 	 	 201.3

	 	 Year-end balance, loans	 	 104.0	 	 	 	 104.0

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 Danish properties subject to public land assessment:	 	 	 	 	 	 		

	 	 Carrying amount	 	 304.5	 	 	 	 304.5

	 	 Public land assessment value	 	 309.1	 	 	 	 309.1

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 Fixed assets held under finance leases:	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 Carrying amount	 	 	 88.2	 15.9	 	 104.1

Notes

NOTES

	group  2005
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Notes

	 Parent company

    

	 	Amounts in DKKm

	 14         Investments	 	 	 	 	 	

	                 2006	 Investments in	 Investments in	 Other	 Receivables	 Deferred tax	 Total

	 	 subsidiaries	 associates	 investments	 from associates	 assets	 	

	 	Cost at 01-01	 508.1	 80.8	 0.2

	 	Additions	 6.0	 0.4	 0.0	

	 	Disposals	 (54.1)	 (9.0)	 0.0

	 	Cost at 31-12	 460.0	 72.2	 0.2

	 	Adjustments at 01-01	 (187.0)	 (4.4)	 0.1

	 	Impairment losses	 (10.9)	 0.0	 0.0

	 	Reversal of impairment losses	 35.0	 0.0	 0.0

	 	Disposals	 34.9	 4.4	 0.0

	 	Adjustments at 31-12	 (128.0)	 0.0	 0.1

	 	Carrying amount at 31-12	 332.0	 72.2	 0.3	 16.2	 279.6	 700.3

	                 2005	 Investments in	 Investments in	 Other	 Receivables	 Deferred tax	 Total

	 	 subsidiaries	 associates	 investments	 from associates	 assets	 	

	 	 Cost at 01-01	 517.4	 80.2	 0.2

	 	 Additions	 2.7	 0.6	 0.0

	 	 Disposals	 (12.0)	 0.0	 0.0

	 	 Cost at 31-12	 508.1	 80.8	 0.2

	 	 Adjustments at 01-01	 (199.0)	 (1.0)	 0.1

	 	 Impairment losses	 0.0	 (3.4)	 0.0

	 	 Reversal of impairment losses	 12.0	 0.0	 0.0

	 	 Adjustments at 31-12	 (187.0)	 (4.4)	 0.1

	 	 Carrying amount at 31-12	 321.1	 76.4	 0.3	 5.5	 176.3	 579.6

	 	 A list of the consolidated enterprises is given on page 64.

	 	 �In 2006, investments in subsidiaries were written down by DKK 10.9 million to the recoverable amount. 	

In addition, impairment losses of DKK 35.0 million were reversed in respect of prior years. The impairment charge 	

for the year and impairment losses reversed have been recognised as financial expenses, cf. note 9.

	 	 �Impairment losses relate to MHF 20061002 a/s (formerly Marius Hansen Facader a/s), which, at the end of 2006, 	

was not engaged in any activities following the sale of the company’s activities in October 2006. Against this 	

background, the carrying amount of the investment was written down to the estimated recoverable amount on	

liquidation of the company.

	 	 �Reversal of impairment losses during the year relates to MT Højgaard Grønland ApS. The company reported a profit 	

in 2006, and expects to continue reporting profits in the years ahead. This has given rise to partial reversal of 	

impairment losses charged in prior years, based on the estimated recoverable amount.
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	 	Amounts in DKKm

	 14         Investments (continued)	 	 	 	 	 	

	                 2006	 	 Investments in	 Other	 Receivables	 Deferred tax	 Total

	 	 	 associates	 investments	 from associates	 assets	 	

	 	 Cost at 01-01	 	 10.7	 2.5

	 	 Disposals	 	 (9.0)	 0.0

	 	 Cost at 31-12	 	 1.7	 2.5

	 	 Adjustments at 01-01	 	 (5.0)	 (1.7)

	 	 Share of profit (loss) for the year after tax	 	 0.0	 -

	 	 Dividends paid	 	 (5.0)	 0.0

	 	 Other adjustments	 	 9.0	 0.1

	 	 Adjustments at 31-12	 	 (1.0)	 (1.6)

	 	 Carrying amount at 31-12	 	 0.7	 0.9	 5.6	 238.9	 246.1

	                 2005	 	 Investments in	 Other	 Receivables	 Deferred tax	 Total

	 	 	 associates	 investments	 from associates	 assets	 	

	 	 Cost at 01-01	 	 10.1	 2.5

	 	 Additions	 	 0.6	 0.0

	 	 Cost at 31-12	 	 10.7	 2.5

	 	 Adjustments at 01-01	 	 (2.0)	 (1.8)

	 	 Share of profit (loss) for the year after tax	 	 (2.9)	 -

	 	 Other adjustments	 	 (0.1)	 0.1

	 	 Adjustments at 31-12	 	 (5.0)	 (1.7)

	 	 Carrying amount at 31-12	 	 5.7	 0.8	 5.5	 153.3	 165.3

	 	Associates (the figures represent 100% ownership interest)

	 	 2006	 	 	 Revenue	 Profit (loss)	 Total	 Total

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 for the year	 assets	

 

	 	 EA/S Matr. Nr. 33 eø Brøndbyvester (50%)	 	 	 0.0	 (0.1)	 0.0	 0.0

	 	 ApS KBIL 38 NR. 2286 (50%)	 	 	 0.0	 0.1	 0.5	 0.2

	 	 OPP Vildbjerg Skole A/S (50%)	 	 	 0.0	 0.0	 125.6	 124.7

	 	 Group total	 	 	 0.0	 0.0	 126.1	 124.9

	 	 2005

	 	 EA/S Matr. Nr. 33 eø Brøndbyvester (50%)	 	 	 14.0	 (8.9)	 14.3	 5.1

	 	 ApS KBIL 38 NR. 2286 (50%)	 	 	 0.0	 0.9	 1.6	 0.5

	 	 OPP Vildbjerg Skole A/S (50%)	 	 	 0.0	 0.0	 12.2	 11.0

	 	 Group total	 	 	 14.0	 (8.0)	 28.1	 16.6

	 	 The associates do not have any contingent liabilities.

	 	 There are no intragroup profits or losses from trading with associates.

Notes

NOTES

	 GROUP
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	 parent company	   GROUP

Notes

    

	 2005 	 2006	 Note	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 15	 Inventories

	 	 	 	 Raw materials and consumables

	 11.3	 10.5	 	 Cost at 01-01	 52.9	 32.7

	 (0.8)	 1.4	 	 Additions and disposals, net	 1.5	 20.2

	 10.5	 11.9	 	 Cost at 31-12	 54.4	 52.9

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Adjustments at 01-01	 0.0	 (0.5)

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Reversal of impairment losses	 0.0	 0.5

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Adjustments at 31-12	 0.0	 0.0

	 10.5	 11.9	 	 Carrying amount at 31-12	 54.4	 52.9

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Value of inventories recognised at net realisable value	 0.3	 22.7

	 	 	 	 Properties for resale

	 393.4	 298.1	 	 Cost at 01-01	 294.5	 385.1

	 21.7	 26.4	 	 Additions	 29.0	 27.9

	 (117.0)	 (109.5)	 	 Disposals	 (109.5)	 (118.5)

	 298.1	 215.0	 	 Cost at 31-12	 214.0	 294.5

	 (8.4)	 (6.8)	 	 Adjustments at 01-01	 7.8	 6.2

	 1.6	 1.6	 	 Reversal of impairment losses	 1.1	 1.6

	 (6.8)	 (5.7)	 	 Adjustments at 31-12	 8.9	 7.8

	 291.3	 209.3	 	 Carrying amount at 31-12	 222.9	 302.3

	 7.5	 3.2	 	 Value of properties recognised at net realisable value	 8.9	 13.2

	 	 	 	 Mortgaged properties:

	 43.8	 0.0	 	 Carrying amount	 5.7	 49.5

	 35.0	 0.0	 	 Year-end balance, loans	 2.0	 37.3

	 	 	 	 �Properties for resale, consisting primarily of undeveloped sites, are held with a view 	

to project development activities.

	 	 	 16	 Receivables

	 7.6	 4.4	 	 Receivables falling due more than one year after the balance sheet date	 6.7	 8.2

	 	 	 	 Receivables falling due more than one year after the balance sheet date relate to rent 	

	 	 	 	 deposits.

	 8.0	 0.0	 	 Impairment losses included in receivables recognised in the income statement	  2.1	 2.5

	

	 	 	 	 The fair value of receivables is deemed to correspond to the carrying amount.
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	 PARENT COMPANY	   GROUP

    

	 2005 	 2006	 Note	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 17	 Securities

	 48.9	 87.9	 	 Bonds	 87.9	 48.9

	 9.4	 -	 	 Mortgages	 -	 9.4

	 58.3	 87.9	 	 Total carrying amount	 87.9	 58.3

	 48.9	 88.0	 	 Nominal holding	 88.0	 48.9

	 0.0	 38.0	 	 Bonds maturing more than one year after the balance sheet date	 38.0	 0.0

	 0.0	 2.0	 	 Maturity of bond portfolio (years)	 2.0	 0.0

	 4.0	 4.1	 	 Effective interest rate on bond portfolio (%)	 4.1	 4.0

	 0.0	 1.7	 	 Price sensitivity of bond portfolio in case of a one percentage point interest rate change 	 1.7	 0.0

	 -	 21.0	 	 Bonds lodged as security (market value)	 21.0	 -

	 	 	 	 �The parent company and the Group measure the bond portfolio at fair value in 	

accordance with IAS 39, as the portfolio functions as a cash reserve, in accordance 	

with the Group’s financial policy. The bond portfolio consists of listed Danish bonds 	

that are monitored on a regular basis and reported at fair value.

Notes

NOTES
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	 parent company	   GROUP

    

	 2005 	 2006	 Note	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 18	 Interest-bearing liabilities

	 	 	 	 Total interest-bearing liabilities can be broken down by commitment type as follows:

	 88.0	 84.4	 	 Bank loans, etc.	 184.0	 204.7

	 30.5	 58.1	 	 Lease commitments (assets held under finance leases)	 117.4	 98.2

	 118.5	 142.5	 	 Total	 301.4	 302.9

	 	 	 	 Total interest-bearing liabilities can be broken down by currency as follows:

	 118.5	 142.5	 	 DKK	 286.1	 290.5

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 EUR	 2.7	 0.9

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Others	 12.6	 11.5

	 118.5	 142.5	 	 Total	 301.4	 302.9

	 	 	 	 Total interest-bearing liabilities can be broken down by fixed-rate and floating-rate debt 

	 	 	 	 as follows:

	 112.5	 140.0	 	 Fixed-rate debt	 198.7	 186.7

	 6.0	 2.5	 	 Floating-rate debt	 102.7	 116.2

	 118.5	 142.5	 	 Total	 301.4	 302.9

	 	 	 	 Total interest-bearing liabilities can be broken down by effective interest rate as follows:

	 51.2	 75.6	 	 Less than 5%	 226.9	 212.8

	 67.3	 66.9	 	 Between 5% and 7%	 74.5	 90.0

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 More than 7%	 0.0	 0.1

	 118.5	 142.5	 	 Total	 301.4	 302.9

	 5.3	 5.5	 	 Weighted average effective interest rate (%)	 4.6	 4.3

	 10.2	 9.2	 	 Weighted average remaining term (years)	 7.8	 7.7

	 	 	 	 Interest-bearing liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet as follows:

	 103.7	 78.4	 	 Non-current liabilities	 174.3	 210.3

	 14.8	 64.1	 	 Current liabilities	 127.1	 92.6

	 118.5	 142.5	 	 Total	 301.4	 302.9

	 	 	 	 The maturity profile can be broken down as follows:

	 14.8	 64.1	 	 Less than one year	 127.1	 92.7

	 23.0	 11.3	 	 Between one and two years	 16.0	 38.8

	 12.1	 33.9	 	 Between two and five years	 80.4	 46.4

	 68.6	 33.2	 	 More than five years	 77.9	 125.0

	 118.5	 142.5	 	 Total	 301.4	 302.9

	 	 	 	 �A restatement of interest-bearing liabilities to fair value will not have any material effect 	

on the balance sheet total at the balance sheet date.

Notes
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	 PARENT COMPANY	   GROUP

    

	 2005 	 2006	 Note	 DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 19	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

	 (159.0)	 (176.3)	 	 Deferred tax (net) at 01-01	 (129.5)	 (131.0)

	 -	 -	 	 Disposal on disposal of activities	 (0.9)	 -

	 (17.3)	 (103.3)	 	 Changes via income statement	 83.5	 1.4

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Other adjustments	 (0.9)	 0.1

	 (176.3)	 (279.6)	 	 Deferred tax (net) at 31-12	 (214.8)	 (129.5)

	 	 	 	 Deferred tax can be broken down as follows:

	 	 	 	 Deferred tax assets

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Intangible assets	 0.0	 1.2

	 67.2	 125.1	 	 Property, plant and equipment	 129.0	 71.6

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Investments	 0.0	 0.0

	 0.0	 66.5	 	 Current assets	 67.8	 1.7

	 6.9	 10.4	 	 Non-current liabilities	 12.7	 9.6

	 11.4	 8.0	 	 Current liabilities	 10.9	 16.4

	 115.0	 73.0	 	 Tax loss carryforwards	 79.9	 119.2

	 (15.0)	 0.0	 	 Non-capitalised tax losses	 0.0	 (15.0)

	 185.5	 283.0	 	 Deferred tax assets at 31-12 before set-off	 300.3	 204.7

	 (9.2)	 (3.4)	 	 Set-off within legal entities and jurisdictions (countries)	 (61.4)	 (51.4)

	 176.3	 279.6	 	 Deferred tax assets at 31-12	 238.9	 153.3

	 	 	 	 Deferred tax liabilities

	 0.0	 3.4	 	 Intangible assets	 4.5	 0.1

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Property, plant and equipment	 23.3	 23.5

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Investments	 0.0	 0.0

	 5.7	 0.0	 	 Current assets	 42.9	 38.8

	 3.5	 0.0	 	 Non-current liabilities	 0.0	 3.5

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Current liabilities	 14.8	 9.3

	 9.2	 3.4	 	 Deferred tax liabilities at 31-12 before set-off	 85.5	 75.2

	 (9.2)	 (3.4)	 	 Set-off within legal entities and jurisdictions (countries)	 (61.4)	 (51.4)

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Deferred tax liabilities at 31-12	 24.1	 23.8

	 (176.3)	 (279.6)	 	 Deferred tax (net) at 31-12	 (214.8)	 (129.5)

	 	 	 	 �Deferred tax has been calculated using the current Danish tax rate of 28%. 

	 	 	 	 �The tax loss carryforwards are not subject to any time limits and are expected to be 	

utilised by set-off against future earnings. 

Notes

NOTES
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	 parent company	   GROUP

    

	 2005 	 2006	 Note	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 20	 Provisions

	 28.6	 31.6	 	 Carrying amount at 01-01	 59.6	 39.3

	 4.2	 7.6	 	 Provided in the year	 9.6	 24.6

	 (1.2)	 (0.3)	 	 Utilised in the year	 (1.6)	 (2.6)

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Reversal of unutilised prior year provisions	 (0.7)	 (1.7)

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Other adjustments	 (1.9)	 0.0

	 31.6	 38.9	 	 Total at 31-12	 65.0	 59.6

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Provisions are recognised in the balance sheet as follows:	 	 	

	 29.9	 38.6	 	 Non-current liabilities, provisions	 62.3	 57.3

	 1.7	 0.3	 	 Current liabilities, provisions	 2.7	 2.3

	 31.6	 38.9	 	 Total	 65.0	 59.6

	 	 	 	 Expected maturity dates:	 	 	

	 1.7	 0.3	 	 Less than one year	 2.7	 2.3

	 5.9	 7.7	 	 Between one and two years	 7.7	 6.7

	 17.8	 23.2	 	 Between two and five years	 28.1	 25.1

	 6.2	 7.7	 	 More than five years	 26.5	 25.5

	 31.6	 38.9	 	 Total	 65.0	 59.6

	 	 	 	 �Provisions relate primarily to provisions for 1-year and 5-year guarantee works in 	

respect of completed contracts.

	 	 	 21	 Contract work in progress

	 4,497.0	 5,714.1	 	 Progress billings	 7,076.0	 5,205.2

	 (4,301.0)	 (5,192.0)	 	 Contract work in progress at selling price	 (6,462.9)	 (4,988.4)

	 196.0	 522.1	 	 Contract work in progress (net)	 613.1	 216.8

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Work in progress is recognised in the balance sheet as follows:

	 541.0	 970.0	 	 Current liabilities	 1,216.8	 688.2

	 (345.0)	 (447.9)	 	 Receivables	 (603.7)	 (471.4)

	 196.0	 522.1	 	 Contract work in progress (net)	 613.1	 216.8

	 	 	 	 �Prepayments received from customers are recognised separately in the balance 	

sheet under current liabilities.

Notes
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	 PARENT COMPANY	   GROUP

    

	 2005 	 2006	 Note	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 22	 Security

	 	 	 	 �Normal security in the form of bank guarantees, guarantee insurances and bond 	

deposits has been provided for contracts and supplies.

	 	 	 	 The guarantees provided relate to:

	 11.2	 16.9	 	 Bid bonds	 21.8	 11.2

	 1,016.5	 1,272.3	 	 Contracts and supplies in progress	 1,717.2	 1,361.6

	 986.1	 1,057.3	 	 Completed contracts and supplies	 1,230.1	 1,203.2

	 2,013.8	 2,346.5	 	 Total	 2,969.1	 2,576.0

	 	 	 	 �Guarantees in respect of completed contracts and supplies relate to normal 	

one-year and five-year guarantee works.

	 	 	 	 �Similar security has been provided for prepayments received, etc., recognised 	

in the balance sheet as liabilities.	 	 	

	 	 	 	 �In addition, land, buildings and properties have been lodged as security for bank 	

loans, etc., see notes 13 and 15.

	 	 	

	 	 	 23	 Lease commitments

	 	 	 	 Finance leases

	 	 	 	 Total future minimum lease payments:

	 12.3	 28.3	 	 Due within one year	 42.8	 27.9

	 19.8	 33.7	 	 Due between two and five years	 77.5	 63.0

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Due after more than five years	 15.7	 21.2

	 32.1	 62.0	 	 Total	 136.0	 112.1

	 	 	 	 Carrying amount (present value):

	 11.2	 0.0	 	 Due within one year	 12.8	 24.5

	 19.3	 26.2	 	 Due between two and five years	 62.5	 55.7

	 0.0	 31.9	 	 Due after more than five years	 42.1	 19.8

	 30.5	 58.1	 	 Total	 117.4	 100.0

	 1.6	 3.9	 	 Financial expenses	 18.6	 12.1

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 �Financial expenses, calculated as the difference between the total future lease 	

payments and the carrying amount (present value) of finance leases, are recognised 	

in the income statement over the lease term.

	 	 	 	 Operating leases

	 	 	 	 Total future minimum lease payments:	 	 	

	 25.4	 35.6	 	 Due within one year	 55.6	 36.7	

	 79.0	 103.1	 	 Due between two and five years	 150.2	 106.6

	 126.3	 70.2	 	 Due after more than five years	 75.1	 128.5

	 230.7	 208.9	 	 Total	 280.9	 271.8

Notes

NOTES
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	 2005 	 2006	 Note	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 26.0	 18.5	 23	 Lease payments relating to operating leases recognised in the income statement	 42.4	 40.7

	 	 	 	 �The Group’s finance and operating leases relate primarily to vehicles, operating 	

equipment and mobile cranes.

	 	 	 24	 Contingent liabilities	 	 	

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 Other contingent liabilities	 0.0	 6.0

	 	 	 	 Indemnities

	 	 	 	 �In accordance with normal practice, the parent company has issued indemnities in 	

respect of a few subsidiaries and contracts won by subsidiaries.

	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Litigation

	 	 	 	 �The MT Højgaard Group is involved in various legal and arbitration proceedings. 	

In management’s opinion the outcome of these proceedings is not expected to have 	

any adverse impact on the Group’s financial position.

	 	

	 	 	 25	 Related parties

	 	 	 	 Control

	 	 	 	 �The Group has a controlling related party relationship with the principal shareholders	

in the parent company MT Højgaard a/s. The parent company is owned by Højgaard 	

Holding a/s (54%) and Monberg & Thorsen A/S (46%), both of which are listed 	

on the Copenhagen Stock Exchange. 

	 	 	 	 Significant influence

	 	 	 	 �Related parties with significant influence comprise the members of the company’s 	

Supervisory Board and Executive Board.

	 	 	 	 �The parent company’s related parties also include subsidiaries and associates in 	

which MT Højgaard a/s has control or significant influence. A list of the consolidated 	

enterprises is given on page 64.

	 	 	 	 Intragroup transactions

	 	 	 	 �Apart from intragroup transactions that have been eliminated in the consolidated financial 	

statements, and normal management remuneration, no transactions have been effected 	

during the year with major shareholders, members of the Supervisory Board or Executive 	

Board or other related parties. Management remuneration is disclosed in note 6.

	 	 	 	 �Transactions between MT Højgaard a/s and the other consolidated enterprises are 	

based on arm’s length terms. 

	 	 	

	 	 	 	 �Intragroup transactions between the parent company and the other consolidated 	

enterprises can be broken down as follows:

	 222.9	 299.0	 	 Purchases of goods and services from subsidiaries	 	

	 47.1	 53.6	 	 Sales of goods and services to subsidiaries	 	

	 52.9	 62.0	 	 Purchases of goods and services from associates	 	

	 15.3	 112.2	 	 Sales of goods and services to associates	 	

	 	 	 	 �Transactions between  consolidated enterprises have been eliminated in the consolidated 	

financial statements.

Notes
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	 PARENT COMPANY	   GROUP

    

	 2005 	 2006	 Note	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 25	 Related parties (continued)

	 	 	 	 �The parent company’s balances with subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled 	

entities at 31 December are disclosed in the balance sheet and relate primarily to 	

ordinary business-related balances concerning purchases and sales of goods and services. 	

The balances are non-interest bearing and are entered into on the same terms as apply 	

to the parent company’s other customers and suppliers.

	 	 	 	 �The parent company’s interest income and interest expense relating to balances with 	

subsidiaries are disclosed in notes 8 and 9. 	 	

	 	 	 	 �The parent company’s dividends from subsidiaries and associates are disclosed in note 8.	 	

	 	 	 26	 Joint ventures

	 	 	

	 	 	 	 ��The MT Højgaard Group participates in two forms of joint ventures: jointly controlled 	

operations and jointly controlled entities.            

	 	 	 	 �Investments in jointly controlled operations are recognised in the parent company and 	

consolidated financial statements on a proportionate basis in accordance with the 	

contractual arrangement, whereby the proportionate share of assets, liabilities, income 	

and expenses from the jointly controlled operations is recognised in the corresponding 	

items in the financial statements.

	 	 	 	 �Investments in jointly controlled entities are accounted for in the consolidated financial 	

statements applying proportionate consolidation. The parent company measures 	

investments in jointly controlled entities at cost and recognises them as associates. 

	 	 	 	 Jointly controlled entities

	 	 	 	 �The Group’s share of profit for the year and balance sheet items for jointly controlled 	

entities is recognised in the financial statements with the following amounts:	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Income statement

	 	 	 	 Revenue	 617.7	 540.0

	 	 	 	 Profit for the year	 108.7	 48.9

	 	 	 	 Balance sheet

	 	 	 	 Fixed assets	 265.1	 268.1

	 	 	 	 Current assets	 156.1	 150.9

	 	 	 	 Total assets	 421.6	 419.0

	 	 	 	 Non-current liabilities	 97.6	 96.4

	 	 	 	 Current liabilities	 156.3	 183.2

	 	 	 	 Total liabilities	 253.9	 279.6

	 	 	 	 Net assets	 167.7	 139.4

Notes

NOTES
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	 2005 	 2006	 Note	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 26	 Joint ventures (continued)	

	 	 	 	 The Group participates in the following joint ventures: 	

	 	 	 	 	 Ownership

	 	 	 	 Joint ventures	  interest	 Other joint venturers

	 	 	 	 Jointly controlled operations	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Amerikakaj	 *	 50.00%	 TK Bygge-Holding A/S

	 	 	 	 Aircon JV	 *	 50.00%	 Hoffmann A/S

	 	 	 	 EL – FTTH Nord **	 *	 50.00%	 Lindpro a/s

	 	 	 	 GC/MTH J.V.	 *	 83.34%	 Greenland Resources A/S	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Joint Venture Pihl/Højgaard	 *	 50.00%	 E. Pihl & Søn A/S	 	 	

	 	 	 	 JV ElSyd **	 *	 50.00%	 Lindpro a/s	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Kalvebod Konsortiet 	 *	 50.00%	 NCC Construction Danmark A/S	 	 	

	 	 	 	 LOKO JV	 *	 66.00%	 M.J. Eriksson Aktieselskab	 	 	

	 	 	 	 M3-Konsortiet	 *	 60.00%	 M.J. Eriksson Aktieselskab	 	 	

	 	 	 	 M10-Syd-Konsortiet	 *	 60.00%	 M.J. Eriksson Aktieselskab	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Monnet Konsortiet	 *	 50.00%	 Novo Nordisk Engineering A/S	 	 	

	 	 	 	 MP-Konsortiet	 *	 50.00%	 E. Pihl & Søn A/S	 	 	

	 	 	 	 MT Højgaard - Bravida JV/CTR	 *	 50.00%	 Bravida Danmark A/S	 	 	

	 	 	 	 KFT-JV	 *	 50.00%	 Hochtief Construction AG	 	 	

	 	 	 	 MT Højgaard - Pihl	 *	 50.00%	 E. Pihl & Søn A/S	 	 	

	 	 	 	 MT Pihl Intel konsortiet	 *	 50.00%	 E. Pihl & Søn A/S	 	 	

	 	 	 	 RHM-Konsortiet	 *	 66.66%	 NCC Construction Danmark A/S	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Vejcon Fyn	 *	 30.00%	 Per Aarsleff A/S	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Ove Arkil  A/S	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Jorton A/S	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Vivaldis JV **	 *	 66.00%	 Promecon a/s	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Nuna Konsortiet 	 *	 40.00%	 Atcon Grønland A/S	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Arssarnerit A/S	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Jointly controlled entities

	 	 	 	 BMS A/S	 	 50.00%	 Aalborg Autokraner A/S

	 	 	 	 B.O.T. Management A/S	 	 66.66%	 E. Pihl & Søn A/S

	 	 	 	 Frederiksberg Centerbyg A/S	 	 66.66%	 NCC Danmark A/S

	 	 	 	 Greenland Contractors I/S	 *	 66.66%	 Greenland Resources A/S

	 	 	 	 Precast Cellular Structures Ltd.	 	 50.00%	 Tarmac Precast Concrete Limited

	 	 	 *)	 ��With reference to Section 5(1) of the Danish Financial Statements Act, these Danish 	

joint ventures have omitted preparing 	annual reports as they are recognised in the 	

consolidated financial statements.	 	

	 	 	 **)	 Intragroup joint ventures.

Notes
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	 PARENT COMPANY	   GROUP

    

	 2005 	 2006	 Note	 Amounts in DKKm	 2006 	 2005

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 27	 Financial instruments

	 	 	 	 �For a general description of financial risks, including foreign currency, interest rate and 	

credit risks as well as the Group’s policy in these areas, reference is made to ’Risk factors’ 	

in the management’s review on pages 18-19.

	 	 	 	 Derivative financial instruments

	 	 	 	 �The Group primarily uses forward exchange contracts to hedge contractual and budgeted 	

cash flows.  Changes in the value of derivative financial instruments are recognised in 	

the income statement under financial income and expenses as they arise, as they do not 	

qualify for hedge accounting.

	 	 	 	 �The open foreign exchange contracts at 31 December 2006 have a remaining term of 	

up to 0.1 year.

	

	 	 	 	 Open forward exchange contracts at 31 December	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 Fair value (DKK):

	 0.0	 0.0	 	 GBP	 32.8	 85.2

	

	 	 	 28	 Accounting estimates and judgements

	 	 	 	 Estimation uncertainty 

	 	 	 	 �Determining the carrying amounts of some assets and liabilities requires estimation of 	

the effects of future events on the carrying amounts of those assets and liabilities at the	

balance sheet date. Estimates that are material for the financial reporting relate primarily	

to measurement of the selling price of contract work in progress.  

	 	 	 	 �The estimates applied are based on assumptions which are sound, in management’s 	

opinion, but which by the nature are uncertain and unpredictable. The assumptions may 	

be incomplete or inaccurate, and unforeseen events or circumstances may occur.  	

Moreover, the company is subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause the actual 	

results to differ from these estimates. Special risks for the MT Højgaard Group are 	

described in the management’s review under the section on ’Risk factors’ on pages 18-19.

	 	 	 	 Basis for management’s judgements

	 	 	 	 �As part of the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management makes 	

judgements, in addition to estimates, that may have a material effect on the amounts 	

recognised in the financial statements.  

	 	 	 	 �The judgements that have the greatest impact on the amounts recognised in the 	

financial statements relate to contract work in progress.

	 	 	 	 �In management’s opinion, no judgements have been made in connection with the 	

accounting policies in the financial reporting for 2006 with comparative figures for 2005, 	

apart from the accounting estimates referred to above, that have a material effect on 	

the financial reporting.

Notes

NOTES
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Notes

	

    

	 	 	 Note

	 	 	 29	 New accounting standards

	 	 	 	 �The IASB  and the EU have adopted the following interpretations that are not compulsory for MT Højgaard in connection 

with the preparation of the annual report for 2006:

	 	 	 	 No effect on the financial statements

	 	 	 *	 IFRIC 7 ”�	Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies”

	 	 	 *	 IFRIC 8 ”Scope of IFRS 2”

	 	 	 *	 IFRIC 9 ”Reassessment of Embedded Derivaties”

	 	 	 *	 IFRIC 10 ”Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment” (yet to be adopted by the EU)

	 	 	 *	 IFRIC 11 ”Group and Treasury Share Transactions” (yet to be adopted by the EU)

	 	 	 *	 IFRIC 12 ”Service Concession Arrangements” (yet to be adopted by the EU)

	 	 	 	 �None of the interpretations listed above is expected to have any effect on the financial reporting of the MT Højgaard 

Group in or after 2007.

	 	 	 	 Effect on the financial statements

	 	 	 *	 �IFRS 7 	”Financial Instruments: Disclosures”.  The implementation will not have any effect on the recognition and measure-	

ment of financial instruments in the MT Højgaard Group, but merely on the disclosures in the financial statements.

	 	 	 *	 �IFRS 8 	”Operating Segments” (yet to be adopted by the EU). The implementation will only affect the disclosures in the 	

financial statements and not the business segmentation of the MT Højgaard Group. The existing segmentation thus 	

complies with the new segmentation requirements in IFRS 8.

	 	 	 	 �The new accounting standards and interpretations are expected to be implemented from the mandatory effective 	

date, apart from IFRS 8, which is expected to be implemented in 2007.

	 	 	 30	 Events after the balance sheet date

	 	 	 	 �So far as management is aware, no events have occurred between 31 December 2006 and the date of signing of the 

annual report which will have a material effect on the MT Højgaard Group’s financial position at 31 December 2006 	

other than the effects that are recognised and referred to in the annual report.

	 	 	 31	 Segment information

	 	 	 	 Primary segment – business segments

	 	 	 	 �MT Højgaard’s primary format for reporting segment information, which follows the overall internal business 	

organisation of the activities, comprises:

	 	 	 	 – Contracting business

	 	 	 	 – Other activities (subsidiaries)

	 	 	 	 – Corporate functions, etc.

	 	 	 	 The Contracting business is organised into five business areas and five business units.	

	 	 	 	 �Other activities comprise MT Højgaard’s subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities with separately profiled expertise 	

within areas such as electrical installations (Lindpro), steel structures (Promecon) and crane and lift hire (BMS).

	 	 	 	 �Corporate functions, etc., comprises the joint staff functions in MT Højgaard and other non-allocated corporate items. 	

	 	 	 	 Secondary segment – geographical segments

	 	 	 	 The Group’s secondary segment format comprises two geographical areas:

	 	 	 	 – Denmark 

	 	 	 	 – Rest of world

	 	 	 	 �The MT Højgaard Group operates primarily in Denmark. The international activities are predominantly operated within 	

the EU.  Revenue is allocated between the two geographical areas on the basis of the customer’s geographical location, 

while the assets are allocated on the basis of the geographical location of the assets.

	 	 	 	 Trading between segments is based on arm’s length terms.
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Segment information for 2006

NOTES

    

	 	 	 	 Contracting	 Other activities –	 Corporate	 MT Højgaard

	 Amounts in DKKm	 	 business	 subsidiaries	 functions, etc.	 Group

	 	 Income statement

	 	 Gross revenue	 	 9,013.3	 3,312.4	 -	 12,325.7

	 	 Intragroup revenue	 	 (1,243.2)	 -	 -	 (1,243.2)

	 	 Revenue	 	 7,770.1	 3,312.4	 -	 11,082.5

	 	 Gross profit (loss)	 	 (132.4)	 444.3	 129.8	 441.7

	 	 Depreciation and impairment losses	 	 66.8	 76.4	 14.0	 157.2

	 	 Operating profit (loss)	 	 (132.4)	 243.1	 (52.1)	 58.6

	 	 Share of profit (loss) after tax of associates	 	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0	 0.0

	 	 Profit before tax (loss)	 	 (134.0)	 241.4	 (56.4)	 51.0

	 	 Profit (loss) for the year	 	 (115.7)	 205.1	 (52.7)	 36.7

	 	 Balance sheet	

	 	 Fixed assets	 	 395.3	 508.9	 324.0	 1,228.2

	 	 Current assets	 	 2,431.3	 1,138.1	 35.0	 3,604.4

	 	 Total segment assets	 	 2,826.6	 1,647.0	 359.0	 4,832.6

	 	 Fixed asset investments	 100.4	 173.2	 16.7	 290.3

	 	 Investments in associates	 0.0	 0.0	 0.4	 0.4

	 	 Non-current liabilities	 5.4	 201.9	 53.4	 260.7

	 	 Current liabilities	 2,462.5	 1,522.9	 (461.5)	 3,523.9

	 	 Total segment liabilities	 2,467.9	 1,724.8	 (408.1)	 3,784.9

	 	 Interest-bearing assets	 14.8	 241.9	 97.0	 353.7

	 	 Interest-bearing liabilities	 0.3	 169.6	 131.5	 301.4

	 	 Interest-bearing net balance (+/-)	 14.5	 72.3	 (34.5)	 52.3

	 	 Cash flows	 	 	 	 		

	 	 Cash flows from operating activities	 30.2	 288.6	 (1.7)	 317.1

	 	 Cash flows for investing activities	 (100.4)	 (132.1)	 (7.3)	 (239.8)

	 	 Cash flows from financing activities	 0.0	 (151.4)	 143.9	 (7.5)

	 	 Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	 (70.2)	 5.1	 134.9	 69.8

	 	 Financial ratios (%)

	 	 Gross margin	 (1.7)	 13.4	 	 4.0

	 	 Operating margin	 (1.7)	 7.3	 	 0.5

	 	 Other information

	 	 Order book, year end	 8,194.5	 2,557.3	 -	 10,751.8

	 	 Average number of employees	 3,223	 2,525	 131	 5,889

	 	 Number of employees, year end	 3,485	 2,626	 134	 6,245

	 	 Secondary segment – geographical segments	 Denmark	 Rest of world	 	 MT Højgaard Group

	 	 Income statement

	 	 Revenue	 9,239.8	 1,842.7	 	 11,082.5

	 	 Balance sheet	 	 	 	 		

	 	 Fixed assets	 1,097.3	 130.9	 	 1,228.2

	 	 Current assets	 3,192.7	 411.7	 	 3,604.4

	 	 Total segment assets	 4,290.0	 542.6	 	 4,832.6

	 	 Fixed asset investments	 229.0	 61.3	 	 290.3

	 PRIMARY SEGMENT – BUSINESS SEGMENTS
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	 PRIMARY SEGMENT – BUSINESS SEGMENTS

    

	 	 	 	 Contracting	 Other activities –	 Corporate	 MT Højgaard

	 Amounts in DKKm	 	 business	 subsidiaries	 functions, etc.	 Group

	 Income statement

	 Gross revenue	 6,509.0	 2,758.2	 -	 9,267.2

	 Intragroup revenue	 (804.3)	 -	 -	 (804.3)

	 Revenue	 5,704.7	 2,758.2	 	 8,462.9

	 Gross profit	 77.6	 334.9	 73.4	 485.9

	 Depreciation and impairment losses	 65.2	 71.0	 9.6	 145.8

	 Operating profit (loss)	 77.6	 128.1	 (67.8)	 137.9

	 Share of profit (loss) after tax of associates	 (2.9)	 0.0	 0.0	 (2.9)

	 Profit (loss) before tax	 68.9	 126.1	 (70.1)	 124.9

	 Profit (loss) for the year	 40.0	 124.2	 (64.3)	 99.9

	 Balance sheet

	 Fixed assets	 366.5	 446.5	 249.6	 1,062.6

	 Current assets	 1,832.9	 948.2	 82.7	 2,863.8

	 Total segment assets	 2,199.4	 1,394.7	 332.3	 3,926.4

	 Fixed asset investments	 97.3	 113.6	 19.0	 229.9

	 Investments in associates	 0.0	 0.0	 0.6	 0.6

	 Non-current liabilities	 2.1	 191.4	 97.9	 291.4

	 Current liabilities	 1,623.7	 1,345.2	 (350.2)	 2,618.7

	 Total segment liabilities	 1,625.8	 1,536.6	 (252.3)	 2,910.1

	 Interest-bearing assets	 85.0	 249.0	 (69.4)	 264.6

	 Interest-bearing liabilities	 2.1	 184.3	 116.5	 302.9

	 Interest-bearing net balance (+/-)	 82.9	 64.7	 (185.9)	 (38.3)

	 Cash flows

	 Cash flows from operating activities	 142.4	 179.2	 19.1	 340.7

	 Cash flows for investing activities	 (102.2)	 (63.2)	 (3.1)	 (168.5)

	 Cash flows from financing activities	 2.1	 (71.7)	 22.7	 (46.9)

	 Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	 42.3	 44.3	 38.7	 125.3

	 Financial ratios (%)

	 Gross margin	 1.4	 12.1	 	 5.7

	 Operating margin	 1.4	 4.6	 	 1.6

	 Other information

	 Order book, year end	 6,078.4	 2,273.6	 -	 8,352.0

	 Average number of employees	 2,764	 2,371	 125	 5,260

	 Number of employees, year end	 3,057	 2,393	 142	 5,592

	 Secondary segment – geographical segments	 Denmark	 Rest of world	 	  MT Højgaard Group

	 Income statement

	 Revenue	 7,133.8	 1,329.1	 	 8,462.9

	 Balance sheet

	 Fixed assets	 959.9	 102.7	 	 1,062.6

	 Current assets	 2,537.6	 326.2	 	 2,863.8

	 Total segment assets	 3,497.5	 428.9	 	 3,926.4

	 Fixed asset investments	 157.1	 72.8	 	 229.9
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Subsidiaries and associates

	 32 	 Subsidiaries and associates	

    

	 	 Companies	 	 Registered office	 	 Ownership 	 	 Share capital

	 	 	 	 	 	 interest %	 	 (’000)

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 MT Højgaard a/s	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 ApS KBIL 38 NR. 2286	 (A)	 Søborg	 DK	 50.00	 DKK	 125

	 	 BMS A/S	 (J)	 Rødovre	 DK	 50.00	 DKK	 25,000

	 	   TP Kranar AB	 (J)	 Sweden	 SE	 100.00	 SEK	 100

	 	 B.O.T. Management A/S	 (J)	 Lyngby	 DK	 66.66	 DKK	 501

	 	 Composite Limited 	 	 UK	 GB	 100.00	 GBP	 500

	 	     Precast Cellular Structures Ltd.	 (J)	 UK	 GB	 50.00	 GBP	 100

	 	 Danbond-Danish Structural Bonding Company A/S	 	 Søborg	 DK	 100.00	 DKK	 500

	 	 Enemærke & Petersen a/s	 	 Ringsted	 DK	 100.00	 DKK	 5,000

	 	    Ringsted Entreprenørforretning ApS	 	 Ringsted	 DK	 100.00	 DKK	 200

	 	 Frederiksberg Centerbyg A/S	 (J)	 Hellerup	 DK	 66.66	 DKK	 500

	 	 Greenland Contractors I/S	 (J)	 Copenhagen	 DK	 66.66	 DKK	 -

	 	 Langeliniehuset Aarhus ApS	 	 Søborg	 DK	 100.00	 DKK	 201

	 	 Lindpro a/s	 	 Glostrup	 DK	 100.00	 DKK	 25,000

	 	    Arssarnerit A/S	 	 Greenland	 DK	 100.00	 DKK	 2,000

	 	 LN Entreprise A/S	 	 Søborg	 DK	 100.00	 DKK	 15,216

	 	 MHF 20061002 A/S 	 	 Søborg	 DK	 100.00	 DKK	 1,101

	 	 MT (UK) Ltd.	 	 UK	 GB	 100.00	 GBP	 25

	 	 MT-Treschakt AB	 	 Sweden	 SE	 100.00	 SEK	 850

	 	 MT Atlantic Inc.	 	 USA	 US	 100.00	 USD	 10

	 	 MT Højgaard Føroyar P/F	 	 Faroe Islands	 DK	 100.00	 DKK	 2,700

	 	 MT Hojgaard (GIB) Ltd.	 	 Gibraltar	 GB	 100.00	 GBP	 2

	 	 MT Højgaard Grønland ApS	 	 Greenland	 DK	 100.00	 DKK	 200

	 	 OPP Vildbjerg Skole A/S	 (A)	 Hellerup	 DK	 50.00	 DKK	 500

	 	 Promecon a/s	 	 Fredericia	 DK	 100.00	 DKK	 5,000

	 	 Scandi Byg a/s	 	 Løgstør	 DK	 100.00	 DKK	 3,000

	 	 Sociedade de Empreitadas e Trabalhos Hidráulicos, S.A., (Seth)	 	 Portugal	 PT	 75.00	 EUR	 4,000

	 	 	 	

	 	 (A) associates.

	 	 (J) jointly controlled entities. These are consolidated on a proportionate basis in the consolidated financial statements.

NOTES

	 SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
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Definitions of financial ratios

DEFINITIONS 
OF FINANCIAL 

RATIOS

[Inderside af flap]

Tekst er endnu ikke udarbejdet. [Inderside af omslag]

Tekst er endnu ikke udarbejdet.

Limet ryg...

Gross margin	 =
	 Gross profit

	 	 	 Revenue

Operating margin (EBIT margin)	 =
	 Earnings before interest and tax

	 	 	 Revenue

Pre-tax margin	 =
	 Earnings before tax

	 	 	 Revenue

Return on invested capital	
=
	 EBIT

incl. goodwill (ROIC)	 	 Average invested capital incl. goodwill 

Return on equity (ROE)	 =
	 Profit after tax

	 	 	 Average equity incl. minorities

Equity ratio	 =
	 Equity incl. minorities, year end

	 	 	 Liabilities, year end

Earnings per share (EPS)*	 =
	 Profit for the year attributable to parent

	 	 	 Average number of shares outstanding

	 	 �	    Invested capital represents the capital invested 	

	 	  in operating activities, i.e. the assets that 

Invested capital	 =	    generate income. Invested capital is measured as 	

	 	 	    �the sum of equity, minority interests and net inte-

rest-bearing debt. 

*�In MT Højgaard the result of the measurement of earnings per share (EPS) is identical 	

to diluted earnings per share (EPS-D).

Denmark’s leading building
and construction company

We create space for people’s activities. We set our stamp all over 

Denmark, building bridges and harbours, roads and railways, commer-

cial and industrial buildings, housing and institutions. 

We were founded at the beginning of the previous century by four 

enterprising entrepreneurs. Even back then, we were ahead of the field, 

both in what we built and where we built it. 

Today, we are still developing some of the industry’s most efficient 

construction techniques and methods. We are developing new working 

processes, forms of collaboration and better ways of creating value – 	

for our customers and the many people that move in, above and below 

the structures that we build. Because we have a wealth of experience 

and boast almost every single skill in the industry, we can undertake 

any building and civil works project. That is why we are able to say: 	

We know how. It is our ambition to do such a good job that we are 

recognised as Denmark’s leading building and construction company. 	

To be known for listening, adding value and creating individual solu-

tions, so that we are consulted from the very start of a project in 

complete confidence that the final result will come up to everyone’s 

expectations. 

You can read more about our organisation and competencies on mth.dk.

Vision

Denmark’s leading building and construction company

Mission

We create space for people’s activities and achieve building and 	

construction visions by systematising and combining knowledge and 

craftsmanship.

Values 

• Customer-minded

• Trustworthy

• Innovative

• Value-adding

• Sound financial base

• Good employer
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	 	 	 Revenue
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=
	 EBIT

incl. goodwill (ROIC)	 	 Average invested capital incl. goodwill 

Return on equity (ROE)	 =
	 Profit after tax

	 	 	 Average equity incl. minorities

Equity ratio	 =
	 Equity incl. minorities, year end

	 	 	 Liabilities, year end

Earnings per share (EPS)*	 =
	 Profit for the year attributable to parent

	 	 	 Average number of shares outstanding

	 	 �	    Invested capital represents the capital invested 	

	 	  in operating activities, i.e. the assets that 

Invested capital	 =	    generate income. Invested capital is measured as 	

	 	 	    �the sum of equity, minority interests and net inte-

rest-bearing debt. 

*�In MT Højgaard the result of the measurement of earnings per share (EPS) is identical 	

to diluted earnings per share (EPS-D).

Denmark’s leading building
and construction company

We create space for people’s activities. We set our stamp all over 

Denmark, building bridges and harbours, roads and railways, commer-

cial and industrial buildings, housing and institutions. 

We were founded at the beginning of the previous century by four 

enterprising entrepreneurs. Even back then, we were ahead of the field, 

both in what we built and where we built it. 

Today, we are still developing some of the industry’s most efficient 

construction techniques and methods. We are developing new working 

processes, forms of collaboration and better ways of creating value – 	

for our customers and the many people that move in, above and below 

the structures that we build. Because we have a wealth of experience 

and boast almost every single skill in the industry, we can undertake 

any building and civil works project. That is why we are able to say: 	

We know how. It is our ambition to do such a good job that we are 

recognised as Denmark’s leading building and construction company. 	

To be known for listening, adding value and creating individual solu-

tions, so that we are consulted from the very start of a project in 

complete confidence that the final result will come up to everyone’s 

expectations. 

You can read more about our organisation and competencies on mth.dk.

Vision

Denmark’s leading building and construction company

Mission

We create space for people’s activities and achieve building and 	

construction visions by systematising and combining knowledge and 

craftsmanship.

Values 

• Customer-minded

• Trustworthy

• Innovative

• Value-adding

• Sound financial base

• Good employer
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Summary

Result as projected in the interim report for the  

third quarter of 2006

•	� Profit before tax was an unsatisfactory profit of DKK 51 million 

compared with DKK 125 million in 2005.

•	� Revenue for 2006 was DKK 11,083 million, up from DKK 8,463 

million in 2005. The level of activity increased in both the 

Contracting business and the subsidiaries. 

•	� The result primarily reflected a negative development on  

a few large residential and refurbishment projects in Greater 

Copenhagen. The main reasons were the historically high 

level of activity in the industry, which is adversely affecting 

planning potential and the access to resources, and more 

onerous and more costly contracting with trade contractors 

than foreseen.

•	� The subsidiaries are still developing favourably, delivering 

operating profit of DKK 243 million in 2006.

•	� Income tax expense was a net charge of DKK 14 million, 

giving an effective tax rate of 28% compared with 20% in 

2005. 

•	� Equity including minority interests stood at DKK 1,048 million 

at the end of 2006, equivalent to an equity ratio of 22%  

compared with 26% in 2005.

•	� Return on invested capital increased was 5.6% in 2006  

compared with 12.8% in 2005.

•	� Cash inflow from operating activities was DKK 317 million 

compared with DKK 341 million in 2005.

Outlook for 2007

•	 �The order book stood at DKK 10,752 million at the end of 

2006, equivalent to approx. 12 months’ production.

•	� Market conditions are expected to be stable in 2007, when 

revenue is expected to amount to approx. DKK 11 billion. 

International revenue for 2007 is expected to increase to just 

over 20% of total revenue, compared with 17% in 2006.

•	� Pre-tax profit in the region of DKK 225 million is anticipated 

for 2007.

Ownership

MT Højgaard is owned by the two listed companies  

Højgaard Holding a/s (54%) and Monberg & Thorsen A/S (46%).

Højgaard Holding a/s

Klampenborgvej 221, 2nd floor

2800 Kgs. Lyngby

Denmark

Tel. +45 4520 1500

Fax +45 4520 1501

hojgaard@hojgaard.dk

www.hojgaard.dk

Monberg & Thorsen A/S

Oslo Plads 14 – PO Box 2685

2100 Copenhagen Ø

Denmark

Tel. +45 3546 8000

Fax +45 3546 8080

monthor@monthor.dk

www.monthor.dk 

This document is a translation of the Danish Annual Report.  

In the event of discrepancies between the English translation  

and the Danish text, the latter shall prevail.

Design and production

Rumfang

ANNUAL REPORT 06

MT Højgaard a/s 

Knud Højgaards Vej 9 

2860 Søborg

Denmark 

Reg. No. 1256 2233 

Tel +45 3954 4000 

Fax +45 3954 4900 

mail@mth.dk 

www.mthojgaard.com
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